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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
12 31
9,418 8,080 6,933 4,993 3,769
14,660 15,148 16,080 15,628 15,780
24,078 23,228 23,012 20,622 19,549
@ 27,842 27,338 27,553 24,708 23,461
4,656 6,623 4,473 5,703 4,877
5,376 5,283 3,370 4,088 4,046
5,256 5,145 3,321 4,083 4,008
1 @
( ) 4.46 4.35 2.78 3.42 3.35
( ) 4.46 4.35 2.78 3.42 3.35
1,180 1,182 1,194 1,194 1,197
1,180 1,182 1,194 1,194 1,198
12 31
(©) 8,898 5,311 5,314 8,627 4,011
71,169 58,464 60,212 51,502 42,484
@ 4,528 2,348 3,273 1,125 1,561
(O] 11,042 13,605 12,923 10,553 5,034
1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229
®) 41,523 29,927 30,822 28,877 25,515
@ (A.1D) (€.2)
@ 1 (C.6)
©) (E.3)
) (E.3) (D.5)
®) (.2)
SAP SE SAP SE SAP European Company Societas Europaea
SE SAP SE

SAP SE
Systemanalyse und Programmentwicklung GbR 1972-1976)  SAP Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der
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Datenverarbeitung GmbH 1976-1988 SAP Aktiengesellschaft Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der
Datenverarbeitung 1988-2005 SAP AG 2005-2014
69190 16 +49-6227-7-
47474
1972
SAP SE D
2) 3) 4)
5) 6)
SAP 100,000
SAP SE
ADR NYSE DAX TecDAX
STOXX50
2021 12 31 DAX
15
1) IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Applications Market Shares, 2020: Next-Generation Applications Shaping the Market,
Doc #US47983821, 2021 9
2) IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Resource Management Applications Market Shares, 2020: Digital Makes Strides, Doc
#US47984121, 2021 9
3) IDC, Worldwide Supply Chain Management Applications Market Shares, 2020: Disruption Managed, Doc #US46435921,
2021 12
4) IDC, Worldwide Procurement Applications Software Market Shares, 2020: Digital Became New Normal, Doc
#US47984421, 2021 8
5) IDC, Worldwide Travel and Expense Management Software Market Shares, 2020: Travel Down But New Opportunities
Emerge, Doc #US47980421, 2021 7
6) IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Resource Planning Software Market Shares, 2020: The Advance of Modular and
Intelligent ERP Systems, Doc #US46441121, 2021 6
SAP SE SAP 2021 12 31 SAP 290

(6.9)

SAP SE SAP 2021 12 31 SAP 290
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2021 SAP
SAP SE
2021
2021 o 12 31
( @
) (
)
SAP Deutschland SE
& Co. KG 100% 4,921,867 1,912,583 @)
@)
AP hwei Al
SAP (Schweiz) AG 100% 1,092,657 264,263 ®
AP K)Limi
SAP (UK)Limited 100% 1,235,416 45,239 ®
SAP Espafia —
Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y
Productos en la 100% 510,602 341,508 @
Informatica,
S.A.
AP F AL
SAP France S 100% 1,099,071 1,794,013 ®
SAP ltalia Sistemi
Applicazioni
Prodotti in Data 100% 615,004 265,312 ®
Processing
S.p-A.
SAP Nederland
B.V. 100% 708,927 443,701 @)
@
Ari Inc.
riba, Inc 100% 1,318,872 5,276,448 Q)
Concur
Iﬁzhnologles, 100% 1,621,912 7,878,818 ™
SAP America, Inc.
100% 6,215,786 19,337,747 ™
SAP Industries,
Inc. 100% 588,508 1,122,929 ™
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SAP National
Security Services,
Inc. 100% 858,772 651,935 )
altrics, LLC
Qualtri 100% 898,901 8,228,091 ®
SAP Canad Inc.
anaca, inc 100% 1,036,257 700,086 ®
SAP
100% 1,251,106 458,761 ®
SAP Australia Pty
Ltd. 100% 740,871 67,725 @)
SAP (China) Co.,
Ltd. 100% 1,106,711 -213,060 ™)
®)
SAP India Private
Limited 100% 633,680 359,149 )
™)
(O IFRS
® SAP SE
3 HGB 264 (3) 264b
(O 2 403 2021 12 31 2021 9 30
SAP SE
(5) SAPSE
EMEA
APJ
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2019 12 31
EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ

5,947 4,586 5,113 15,646 6,278 4,589 5,525 16,392 6,501 4,426 5,361 16,288

8,229 5,491 5,924 19,644 8,175 5,934 5,733 19,842 8,250 6,018 5,971 20,239

15,347 6,326 10,571 32,244 13,705 6,094 9,781 29,580 12,710 5,793 9,131 27,634

11,136 11,598 5,481 28,215 10,348 10,485 5,000 25,834 10,205 10,368 5,209 25,781

3,374 2,306 1,199 6,879 3,285 2,161 1,243 6,689 3,161 2,123 1,246 6,530
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2,609 1,353 824 4,786 2,291 1,107 696 4,094 2,220 984 654 3,859

SAP @2 3 ) 46,641 31,660 29,113 107,415 44,082 30,369 27,979 102,430 43,048 29,712 27,571 100,330
462 407 45 914 609 97 75 781 338 1,638 137 2,113
SAP ( ) 45,359 30,651 28,354 104,364 43,340 30,306 27,830 101,476 42,697 29,368 27,092 99,157
2021 12 31 (full-time equivalent FTE) 107,415
2020 102,430 ) 2020 4,985 914
2021 104,364 2020 101,476
FTE
6
2021 149,000 2020
132,000
2020
1,037 1 2021 128 0.1
(B.1) (B.2)
2024 5
SAP SE Works Council WoC
SAP SE WoC
SAP SE SAP SE
SAP Deutschland SE & Co. KG SAP Germany hybris GmbH Concur
(Germany) GmbH Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH

SAP SE SAP Germany hybris GmbH

Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH

SAP SE
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SYNTEC 2019 12 31
SAP France SAP France Holding
SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France
Concur (France) SAS SAP Espafia —

Sistemas, Aplicaciones y Productos en la Informatica, S.A. SAP Belgium NV/SA. SAP Israel SAP
Nederland B.V. SAP Italia Sistemi Applicazioni Prodotti inDataProcessing S.p.A. SAP China Beijing
SAP B4R, spol. s r.o. SAP Services s.r.o. Ariba Czech s.r.o.

Concur Czech (s.r.o.) SAP Brasil Ltda SAP Korea Ltd. SAP North West Africa Ltd.
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KPI
2021
KP1 2021 @ 2021
(@) 94 95.9
96
238
@ 244.1
242
@ 81 84.1
83
5 10 10
84%  86% 83%
90
110
110
(1) 2021 2021 1 2021 4 7 10 2021
2021 10
@ IFRS
2022
KP1 2021 2022
0.2 115.5
) 118.5 ®
240.8 250
. 255 @
78
(¢H)
82.3 82.5 D@
50.5 45
10 1 15
83% 84%  86%
110 70
(€)) IFRS
@
2025
KPI 2025
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ECB @ 2021

ECB

ECB 2021

EMEA 2021

2021

1 ECB
2021
APJ ECB 3

IT
2021

International Data Corporation IDC ©) CovID-19
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IDC
(©)
IDC COVID-19
(©)
IDC
(©)
IDC ESG
IDC 40 Co2
30 €02 20 €02

@

(©) 8/2021 2022 1 13

https://www.ech.europa.eu/pub/pdf/ecbu/eb202108.en.pdf
(@  IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Transformation 2022 Predictions, Doc #US47115521, 2021 10

®) IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Future of Digital Innovation 2022 Predictions, Doc #US47148621, 2021 10

NPS

KPI 2021

37/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
17 94.2 19 95.9
94 96
4 240.8 5 244.1
238 242
IFRS 30 46.6 IFRS 1 82.3
1 84.1
81 83 IFRS
10 2021
5 10 83 2020
3 2021 84 86
18.5 110 2021 190 110
2023 €02
2030
2022 2022 2025
2021 IFRS
2021
IFRS IFRS IFRS
IFRS
IFRS IFRS
2021 IFRS
2021 4 13 2021 2021
RISE with SAP
COVID-19 2021
92 95
234 238 75
IFRS 78 82 2021
IFRS 27.5 28.5 2020 26.8 IFRS 24.5 25.5 2020
26.5 2021 4 IFRS 26.0 27.0
IFRS 22.5 23.5
IFRS
2021 7 93 95
236 240

IFRS 79.5 82.5 IFRS
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21.5 23.0 IFRS 20.0 21.5
2021 10 21
COVID-19
94 96
16 19 238 242
2 4
75 81
83 2
2021 IFRS 21.0 22.0 IFRS 20.0 21.0
2021 IFRS
2021 10
2021
2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
2020 1 3
80.9 91 92 93 94 95.9
( IFRS
) 95 95 95 96
232.3 233 234 236 238 2441
(C IFRS 238 238 240 242
)
82.9 78 78 79.5 81 84.1
( IFRS
) 82 82 82.5 83
72% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75%
(IFRS) 26.8% 27.5%  28.5% 26.0%  27.0% 21.5%  23.0% 21.0%  22.0% 21.5%
( IFRS) 26.5% 24.5%  25.5% 22.5%  23.5% 20.0%  21.5% 20.0%  21.0% 20.0%
CovVID-19
2021
12
90.1 94.5 2020 71.5
26 2020 14
2021 IFRS 2020 80.9 95.9
94 96

19
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2020 232.3 2021
75 2020 72
IFRS
2021 IFRS
273.4
2021 IFRS
190.6
2021
2021
2021
0.6
IFRS
IFRS 34
70 IFRS
2021 IFRS
FTE 4,984 4,071
84.1 81
21.5 IFRS 20.0
22.0 IFRS 2021 10
IFRS
IFRS IFRS
APJ 3

IFRS

80
laaS
0.8

2021

83
IFRS
20.0

EMEA

(A-D
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BT « B = i e
27,553 27,338 27,842
i 24,708
¥ 584 12%
._
1%
I TEEHE 20185 HE 201955 EE 20205EE H2 1 HEEE
2021 27,842 2020 27,338 2 504
2021 86 2020 85 2021
2020 4,110 8 3,764 14
2020 15
s ik R T £ 2
L : HH—n
2z ¢ [ -
(A.1)
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6%
—

FZUFBLUGY 7 =T

HLLT

23,012
20,622

12%

5%

01 THEHE

2021

2018615 20196EHE

2020

277 FiRds
WAL 2

67— SN e

24,078

1%

202000

23,228 4

B a—u SR

9418

201 THEME

2021

2021
3,248

2020 11,506

1 7%
T R 20195 20204 1F 2021 1
2020 8,080 17 1,337
SAP Concur SAP Fieldglass
2021
2020 7,155
2020 3,642
2021

SAP Enterprise Support

2021
3 488

14,660
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2021
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L 0 FRwriE e 4k
Hifif : B =2-—n
Y hreT o=k g #FUF
20,829
18,480 19,586
15975
4,993
10,381 11,547 11,506 11,412
20180 20194 202048 2021 1
2020 19,586 20,829
2021 75
3,764 2020 4,110 8 345
2020 SAP Digital Interconnect
(0.1) CoVID-19 2020
2020 3,408 3
3,294 2021
87 2020 83 12 2020
33 231 471 2020 702
SAP Digital Interconnect
HulgE L ol (MEOFTER~—2)
B : §H2—n
4,285
I
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2021 EMEA 12,589 2020 12,067
2020 44 8 4,343
EMEA 34 2020 33
I RBLUYZ PO =TINE (EMEA)
Hify : §Ha—u
e N S o~ s ol LA i
10,211 10,364
8,759 3339 o )
4 2.115 2.60R
LAl
T.730 7.898 8,096 7.756
201 THEE 201541y 200 SHE 1 20205 K
EMEA 10,931
87 2020 86
27 3,308 2020 2,608 2021
2 7,624 2020
2021 39
1 10,969 2020 11,106
2020 9,110
81 2020
5 2,099
FSUFBLUY I FU=2TWE (BETAVD)
Wi : gH2-—1
Yrbhox2TELSYTR—F adFoF
8,172 0,239
7,666 7,973
5,345 5,032 5,227 4,800
20174 2018EEHE 201 GEEHE O
9,348
9,239 85 2020
10 4,894 2020
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2020 4,015
EMEA
7.624
202141
2020 10,364
EMEA
7,756
2020 41
8,870
82
455
20214E
2020
83 2021
4,439
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4,455 2020 4,800
APJ
2021 APJ 15 2020 15 APJ
3 4,285 2020 4,165
1,301 1,305 APJ
30 2020 31 APJ 4 APJ
IS FREXUY T =TI (AP])
Hifif : §H2—n
YT huaFTELUSRE— a PP OF
3,629 3,625 3,798
3.124 3,310
2,705 2,699 2.757 2,502 2,582
201 THEHE 20 BEEHE 20194 HE N20AE HE 2021 FE8E
APJ 3,798 2020 3,625
89 2020 87 2021 APJ
18 1,217 2020 1,033 2021
2020 2,592 2,582
2021 2 504 27,842
2020 27,338
2021 12 2,471 23,186 2020 20,715
Qualtrics RSU
FTE 4,984 107,415
30 4,656 2020 6,623
7.5 16.7 2020 24.2
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HifE : B0 =T/ Hil4E B Hegd
6,623
5,703
4877
50
-22%
201 THEHE 201 RIE 2019 SO204E HE 2001 SEHE
HaEF e
Hifif = o=tz 2 b RINERE o
231 s
208
16,2 g.pp 16.7
T ooaTHEEE 2018HEHE 0194 20MEME 20214
2021 5,030 2020 4,707 2020
2020 66.6 0.4 67.0
86.9
2020 86.7 11
3 14,660 2020 15,148
4 1,925
2020 2,008
2021 8 3,764 2020 4,110
8 2,916 2020 3,178
22.5 2020

22.7
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COVID-19
R&D
9
2021 2020 4,454 17 5,190
2021 18.6 2020 16.3
3 5
2021 7,505 2020 7,106 6
2021 1.0
27.0 2020 26.0
2021 2020 1,356 79 2,431
Qualtrics
3.8 8.7 2020 5.0
2021 2020 ()
1 -4 1 -4
IFRS  IFRS IFRS IFRS  IFRS  IFRS
IFRS
IFRS 3
2,831 2,831 67 2,809 2,722 0 2,722 4 4 6
- SaaS/Paasl
5,669 5,669 8 5,755 4,517 5 4,522 25 25 27
8,500 8,500 154 8,653 7,239 5 7,244 17 17 19
~ laas? 918 918 21 939 841 0 841 9 9 12
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International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook Update January 2022, Rising Caseloads, a

Disrupted Recovery, and Higher Inflation

(https://www.imf.org/-/media/Files/Publications/WE0/2022/Update/January/English/text.ashx) 6
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IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Transformation 2022 Predictions, Doc #US47115521, 2021 10

IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Cloud 2022 Predictions, Doc #US47241821, 2021 10

IDC FutureScape: Worldwide IT Industry 2022 Predictions, Doc #US48312921, 2021 10

IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Future of Digital Innovation 2022 Predictions, Doc #US47148621, 2021 10
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1 2020 2021
IFRS
FSU 1,000 FSU
100
125
150
(100 +125 + 150%) / 3 125
FsU 125 x 1,000 1,250
50 0
65
100
(O +65 +100%) /3 55
FsU 55 x 1,000 550
MSU
MSU TSR
TSR 100 TSR
TSR
75 P-75 150
25 P-25
MSU
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2021
2021 5 ST12020 LTI12016 2017
2022 2 23 ST12021
STI 2021
KP1 100 ( )
1 8,843 140.0
1 0.8 140.0
1 212 140.0
179
5 +10 100.0
84 91.7
145 Kt CO2 128.0
1 IFRS
2020 STI 2021 50
140 ST12021 133.3
LT12020 — 2021 — FSU 100
2021 LT12020 2021 FSU 100 2020
10 2025
KP1 100
(2021 2023 )
1 34.1
1 86.3
1 24.1
1 IFRS
2021 2 IFRS 2021
SEC 2021
STI 2017 2020 STI
STI
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
133.3 0 82.4 93.0 88.2

87/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooood
2018 2021 LTI
2017 2021 5 2017
2021 2 1 3 1
LTI
LT12020 LT12016
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
1 1 1 1
2021 12 31 131.8 54.7 96.9 55.9 49.6
2020 12 31 NA 45.5 100.9 48.0 49.9
1
2021
2020 AktG 162
100
STl
STI LTI
20
STl LTI
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NPS 10
Qualtrics 1PO Microsoft Teams
2
COVID-19 2020 2020
2020
4 18
Intelligent Spend software-as-a-service
platform-as-a-service
27 2020 106
164 55
2020 15
3
(Christian Klein)
CEO
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) ) CH O
1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 18.7 1,100.0 98.4
1 18.6 0 220.0 17.9 0 220.0 18.6 0.3 17.9 1.6
1,118.6 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,117.9 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,118.6 19.1 1,117.9 100.0
1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 18.7 0
STI 2020 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 0 0 0
STI 2021 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 2,532.7 43.1 0
LTI 2016 - 2018 1,118.4 19.1 0
LTI 2020 — 2020 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
7,400.0 0 17,326.7 8,500.0 1,100.0 18,426.7 4,751.1 80.9 0 0
8,518.6 1,100.0 18,646.7 9,617.9 2,200.0 19,746.7 5,869.7 100.0 1,117.9 100.0
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(Sabine Bendiek)
(2021 1 1 )
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) ) « ) « )
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 17.3 0
1 53.7 0 70.0 53.7 1.3 0
1,400.0 1,400.0 1,400.0 1,400.0 34.5 0
2,153.7 2,100.0 2,170.0 0 0 0 2,153.7 53.1 0 0
STI 2021 1,425.8 0 1,996.1 1,900.5 46.9 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 3,374.3 0 8,998.1 0 0
4,800.1 0 10,994.3 0 0 0 1,900.5 46.9 0 0
6,953.8 2,100.0 13,164.3 0 0 0 4,054.2 100.0 0 0
3.48
2021 1.4 STI 0.3 LTI
1.2 2022
LTI
(Adaire Fox-Martin)
(2021 1 31 )
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) (G « ) « )
66.7 66.7 66.7 800.0 800.0 800.0 66.7 6.6 800.0 49.4
1 1.7 0 7.0 28.3 0 80.0 1.7 0.2 28.3 1.7
68.4 66.7 73.7 828.3 800.0 880.0 68.4 6.8 828.3 51.2
800.0 800.0 800.0 800.0 79.6 0
STI 2020 1,200.0 0 1,680.0 0 0 0
STI 2021 102.8 0 143.9 137.0 13.6 0
LTI 2016 - 2017 0 791.0 48.8
LTI 2016 — 2018 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2020 4,000.0 0 10,666.7 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 339.7 0 905.9 0 0
442.5 0 1,049.9 6,000.0 800.0 13,146.7 937.0 93.2 791.0 48.8
510.9 66.7 1,123.6 6,828.3 1,600.0 14,026.7 1,005.4 100.0 1,619.3 100.0
(Luka Mucic)
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
(IS (GIED) « D (GID)
737.5 737.5 737.5 700.0 700.0 700.0 737.5 17.1 700.0 36.9
1 17.2 0 74.0 15.7 0 70.0 17.2 0.4 15.7 0.8
754.7 737.5 811.5 715.7 700.0 770.0 754.7 17.5 715.7 37.8
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 16.3 0
STI 2020 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 0 0
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STI 2021 1,144.0 0 1,601.6 1,525.0 35.4 0
LTI 2016 - 2017 0 1,179.0 62.2
LTI 2016 - 2018 1,327.7 30.8 0
LTI 2020 - 2020 2,374.3 0 6,331.5 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,770.4 0 7,387.7 0 0
3,914.4 0 8,989.3 4,200.1 700.0 8,607.6 3,552.7 82.5 1,179.0 62.2
4,669.1 737.5 9,800.8 4,915.8 1,400.0 9,377.6 4,307.4 100.0 1,894.7 100.0
4.2 4.8
2021 4 1
(Jirgen Miuller)
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
C ) (GIED) « D (GIED)
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 24.0 700.0 97.4
1 21.8 0 70.0 18.7 0 70.0 21.8 0.7 18.7 2.6
721.8 700.0 770.0 718.7 700.0 770.0 721.8 24.7 718.7 100.0
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 24.0 0
STI 2020 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 0 0
STI 2021 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 1,500.6 51.3 0
LTI 2020 - 2020 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
3,300.1 0 7,374.2 4,000.1 700.0 8,074.2 2,200.6 75.3 0 0
4,021.9 700.0 8,144.2 4,718.8 1,400.0 8,844.2 2,922.4 100.0 718.7 100.0
(Scott Russell)
(021 2 1 )
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
C ) (GID) « D (GID)
733.3 733.3 733.3 733.3 32.8 0
1 12.6 0 183.0 12.6 0.6 0
( )2 85.0 0 878.7 85.0 3.8 0
830.9 733.3 1,795.0 0 0 0 830.9 37.2 0 0
STI 2021 1,052.3 0 1,473.2 1,402.8 62.8 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,607.9 0 6,954.5 0 0
3,660.2 0 8,421.7 0 0 0 1,402.8 62.8 0 0
4,491.1 733.3  10,222.7 0 0 0 2,233.7 100.0 0 0
(Thomas Saueressig)
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) (G « ) « )
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 24.0 700.0 97.5
1 19.0 0 70.0 17.6 0 70.0 19.0 0.7 17.6 2.5
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719.0 700.0 770.0 717.6 700.0 770.0 719.0 24.6 717.6 100.0
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 24.0 0
STI 2020 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 0 0
STI 2021 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 1,500.6 51.4 0
LTI 2020 - 2020 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
3,300.1 0 7,374.3 4,000.1 700.0 8,074.3 2,200.6 75.4 0 0
4,019.1 700.0 8,144.3 4,717.7 1,400.0 8,844.3 2,919.6 100.0 717.6 100.0
(Julia White)
(2021 3 1 )
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) C ) « ) C )
625.0 625.0 625.0 625.0 15.1 0
1 20.6 0 156.0 20.6 0.5 0
( ) 3 141.6 0 669.9 141.6 3.4
1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0 36.2 0
2,287.2 2,125.0 2,950.9 0 0 0 2,287.2 55.1 0 0
STI 2021 1,396.2 0 1,954.7 1,861.2 44.9 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,768.7 0 7,383.2 0 0
4,164.9 0 9,337.9 0 0 0 1,861.2 4.9 0 0
6,452.1 2,125.0 12,288.8 0 0 0 4,148.4 100.0 0 0
5.46
2021 1.5 STI 0.4 LTI
1.0 2022
2023 STI LTI
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
) ) « ) « )
5,362.5 5,362.5 5,362.5 4,000.0 4,000.0 4,000.0 5,362.5 19.5  4,000.0 65.9
1 165.2 0 850.0 98.2 0 510.0 165.2 0.6 98.2 1.6
( ) 226.6 0 1,548.6 0 0 0 226.6 0.8 0 0
2,900.0 2,900.0 2,900.0 0 0 0 2,900.0 10.6 0 0
8,654.3 8,262.5 10,661.1 4,098.2 4,000.0 4,510.0 8,654.3 31.5 4,098.2 67.5
0 0 0 4,000.0 4,000.0 4,000.0 4,000.0 14.6 0 0
STI 2020 0 0 0 6,477.4 0 9,068.3 0 0 0 0
STI 2021 9,272.7 0 12,981.7 0 0 0 12,360.4 45.0 0 0
LTI 2016 - 2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,970.0 32.5
LTI 2016 - 2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,446.1 8.9 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2020 0 0 0 16,222.9 0 43,261.1 0 0 0 0
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LTI 2020 - 2021 21,709.7 0 57,892.5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
30,982.3 0 70,874.2 26,700.3 4,000.0 56,329.4 18,806.5 68.5 1,970.0 32.5
39,636.6  8,262.5 81,535.3 30,798.5  8,000.0 60,839.4 27,460.8 100.0  6,068.2 100.0
1
2
3
LT12020
LT12016
(8-3)
2021 1 1 2021 12 31
&/
W/
®
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 17,230 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
- FSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 17,230 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
— MSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 17,230 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
- RSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
- MSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
- RSU 2 29
(CEO) LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 4,678 0 0 4,678 4,678 4,678
- PSU 11 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 0 0 15,628 15,628 15,628
— PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 3,119 0 0 3,119 3,119 3,119
- RSU 11 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 10,419 0 0 10,419 10,419 10,419
- RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 13,431 0 0 13,431 0 13,431
- PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 8,954 0 0 8,954 0 8,954
- RSU 2 21
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 10,570 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
- FSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 10,570 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
- MSU 3 22
(2021 1 1
) LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 10,570 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
- RSU 3 22
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LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 12,531 -12,531 F 0 0 0
— FSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 12,531 -12,531 F 0 0 0
— MSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 12,531 -12,531 F 0 0 0
- RSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 10,788 0 -10,788 F 0 0 0
- FSU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 10,788 0 -10,788 F 0 0 0
- MSU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 10,788 0 -10,788 F 0 0 0
- RSU 2 29

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 2,382 0 -2,382 F 0 0 0
- PSU 7 25

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 15,628 0 -15,628 F 0 0 0
(2021 1 - PSU 2 20

31 )

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 1,588 0 -1,588 F 0 0 0
— RSU 7 25

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 10,419 0 -10,419 F 0 0 0
- RSU 2 20

LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 15,944 0 -15,944 F 0 0 0
- PSU 2 21

LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 10,630 0 -10,630 F 0 0 0
- RSU 2 21

LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 11,123 0 -11,123 A 0 0 0
- PSU 4 13

LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 7,416 0 -7,416 E 0 0 0
- RSU 4 13

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 8,679 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
- FSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 8,679 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
- MSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 8,679 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
- RSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
- FSU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
- MSU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
— RSU 2 29

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 0 0 15,628 15,628 15,628
- PSU 2 20

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 10,419 0 0 10,419 10,419 10,419
- RSU 2 20

LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 15,944 0 0 15,944 0 15,944
- PSU 2 21

LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 10,630 0 0 10,630 0 10,630
- RSU 2 21

LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 16,571 0 -16,571 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 22

LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 11,048 0 -11,048 E 0 0 0
- RSU 2 22
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LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 8,170 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
— FSU 3 22
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 8,170 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
(2021 2 1 — MSU 3 22
) LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 8,170 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
- RSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- FSU 3 22
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
— Msu 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- RSU 3 22
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- FsU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- MsU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 14,311 0 0 14,311 14,311 14,311
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 9,541 0 0 9,541 9,541 9,541
- RSU 2 20
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
— FSU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
— MsU 3 22
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 6,811 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- RSU 3 22
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
— MsU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 2,392 0 0 2,392 2,392 2,392
- PSU 1 1
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 1,594 0 0 1,594 1,594 1,594
- RSU 1 1
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 8,674 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
- FsU 3 22
LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 0 8,674 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
(021 3 1 - MsU 3 2
) LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 0 8,674 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
- RSU 3 22
370,696 238,428  -172,706 436,418 387,459 436,418
( )
( )
LTI 2020 — 2021 - FsU 2021 106.405 100.28 2023 12 2024 2025 5
3 22 12 31
LTI 2020 — 2021 - MsU 2021 106.405 115.19 2024 2 2024 2025 5
3 2 12 31
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LTI 2020 - 2021 — RSU 2021 106.405 100.28 NA 2024 2025 5
3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2020 - FSU 2020 123.593 110.65 2022 12 2023 2024 5
2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2020 — MSU 2020 123.593 122.22 2023 2 2023 2024 5
2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2020 - RSU 2020 123.593 110.65 NA 2023 2024 5
2 29 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2019 - PSU 2019 92.886 93.71 2023 2 2022 2023 5
2 20 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2019 - RSU 2019 92.886 88.54 NA 2022 2023 5
2 20 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2018 - PSU 2018 85.236 80.84 2022 2 2021 2022 5
2 21 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2018 - RSU 2018 85.236 79.01 NA 2021 2022 5
2 21 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2017 - PSU 2017 85.965 88.88 2021 2 2020 2021 5
2 22 12 31

LTI 2016 - 2017 - RSU 2017 85.965 83.60 NA 2020 2021 5
2 22 12 31
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62
100
62
60 SAP SE
1 62
4 14
180
(DBO) C )
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
251.1 172.7 878.3 768.1 751.7 435.1 126.6 333.0
(CEO)L
1 156.3 0 133.1 0 162.2 0 —29.1 0
021 1 1 )
151.9 143.1 540.3 565.9 720.1 581.3 -179.8 -15.4
1
(021 1 31 )
1 173.4 181.4 1,184.9 1,148.5 1,120.9 950.4 64.0 198.1
1 139.8 145.4 373.0 282.8 456.9 301.5 -83.9 _18.7
170.1 182.9 324.9 208.3 307.9 163.7 17.0 44.6
1
1,042.6 825.5  3,434.5 2,973.6  3,510.7  2,432.0 85.2 541.6
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(DBO) C )
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
12 & 12 31 12 12 31 12 31 12 31
102.1 99.9  2,545.8  2,783.6  1,603.9  1,731.8 851.9  1,051.9
(2014 6 30 )
0 0 161.2 175.4 180.9 178.1 -19.7 -2.7
(2013 6 30 )
0 866.6 0 0 0 0 0 0
(2020 4 30 )"
0 0 900.2 97.8  1,100.0  1,081.1 ~199.8 1133
(2019 3 31 )
342.3 342.3  8,150.5  8,906.8  5,481.8  5,625.9  2,668.8  3,280.9
(2016 12 31 )
0 0 500.0 545.9 653.1 640.1 ~144.1 —94.2
(2020 5 31 )
1
12
50 3
GCGC
2021
)
(CEO) 2025 4 30 0.24 2,012.1
2023 12 31 -0.01 2,027.5
(021 1 1 )
2026 3 31 0.42 2,115.7
2024 12 31 0.20 1,452.5
(021 2 1 ) 2024 1 31 0.01 1,116.6
2005 10 31 0.34 1,440.9
(021 3 1 ) 2024 2 29 0.01 2,073.8
13,139.1
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SAP SE
GCGC G.13 2
150
SAP SE
SAP SE 8
6
SAP SE
SAP SE
SAP SE
SAP SE
12
2021
STI 2021 LTI 2016 -
) 2018 )
0 446.0 100.0 446.0
(2019 4 5 )

737.2 52.7 662.8 47.3 1,400.0

(2021 1 31
687.4 40.8 996.0 59.2 1,683.4

(2020 4 30
590.4 32.7 1,214.0 67.3 1,804.4

(2019 3 31
0 2,008.0 100.0 2,008.0

(2019 11 15
0 1,328.0 100.0 1,328.0

(2020 4 30
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761.7 40.5 1,118.0 59.5 1,879.7
(2020 5 31 )
2021
2021 1 31
2021 6 30
ST12021 2022
LTI12016 LT12020 2018
2021 LTI
300,000 50,000
2021 LTI
2021 2021 12 31
11
©)/
w7/
®
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 15,893 0 15,893 0 15,893
~ PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 722 0 722 0 722
~ RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 5,354 0 5,354 0 5,354
— PSU 2 21
(2019 4 5 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 3,569 0 3,569 0 3,569
) — RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 9,979 9,979 A 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 2
LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 6,653 6,658 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 2
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
~ FsU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
~ usU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
— RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,375 0 20,375 0 20,375
~ PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 5,213 0 5,213 0 5,213
(2020 4 30 —RSU 2 20
) LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 15,944 0 15,944 0 15,944
— PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 7,974 0 7,974 0 7,974
— RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 16,571 16,571 A 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 2
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 11,048 _11,048 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 2
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LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,335 0 20,335 0 20,335
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 6,594 0 6,594 0 6,594
— RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 17,959 0 17,959 0 17,959
- PSU 2 21
(2019 3 31 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 9,719 0 9,719 0 9,719
) - RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 18,665 -18,665 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 22
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 12,444 -12,444 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 22
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 46,880 0 46,880 0 46,880
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 7,348 0 7,348 0 7,348
- RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 24,113 0 24,113 0 24,113
- PSU 2 21
(2019 11 15 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 16,075 0 16,075 0 16,075
) - RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 38,435 -38,435 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 22
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 25,623 25,623 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 22
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
— MSu 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
— RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 3,826 0 3,826 0 3,826
- PSU 1 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 2,781 0 2,781 0 2,781
- PSU 7 25
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 0 15,628 0 15,628
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 2,552 0 2,552 0 2,552
(2020 4 30 - RSU 11 20
) LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 1,853 0 1,853 0 1,853
— RSU 7 25
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 10,419 0 10,419 0 10,419
- RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 15,944 0 15,944 0 15,944
- PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 10,630 0 10,630 0 10,630
— RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 11,123 -11,123 A 0 0 0
- PSU 4 13
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 7,416 —7,416 E 0 0 0
- RSU 4 13
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
— MSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
— RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 13,165 0 13,165 0 13,165
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 8,776 0 8,776 0 8,776
(2020 5 31 - RSU 2 20
) LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 13,431 0 13,431 0 13,431
- PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 8,954 0 8,954 0 8,954
— RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 13,959 -13,959 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 22
LTI 2016 — 2017 2017 9,306 9,306 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 22
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LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 13,501 -13,501 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 2
(2017 4 30
) LTI 2016 - 2017 2017 968 -968 E 0 0 0
- RSU 2 2
568,358 -195,601 372,667 0 372,667
2021
SAP SE
D&O
D&O AktG 93 (2) SAP SE
SAP
AktG 162
AKtG 162
2016 2017 2018 2020 2019 2021 2020
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
) ) ) ) )
(CE0) NA NA 7 1,118 —40 5,870 425
(2018 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 4,054 NA
(021 1 1 )
4 107 -36 1,894 —46 4,307 127
NA NA NA 719 -56 2,922 307
(2019 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 2,234 NA
(021 2 1 )
NA NA NA 718 162 2,920 307
(2019 11 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 4,148 NA
(021 3 1 )
-96 1 0 100 2 102 2
(2014 6 30 )
NA NA NA 9 309 10 1
(2011 7 8 )
26 62 -59 710 -70 446 -37
(2019 4 5 )
NA 48 -8 1,619 -2 2,405 49
(2021 1 31 )
-9 31 57 4,875 38 1,683 -65
(2020 4 30 )
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57 86 62 3,689 -59 1,804 -51
(2019 3 31 )
-55 48 -10 2,733 -79 2,008 =27
(2019 11 15 )
NA 62 10 16,251 747 1,328 -92
(2020 4 30 )
-2 -3 -82 342 -53 342 0
(2016 12 31 )
21 3 61 9,360 230 1,880 -80
(2020 5 31 )
SAP ( IFRS) 6 5 12 27,343 -1 27,842 2
SAP SE ( ) 8 4 7 14,669 -4 15,370 5
SAP 2 6 15 8,287 1 8,230 -1
( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) 10 -32 -31 2,485 87 2,692 8
SAP 6 -8 21 128 -12 145 13
16
165,000
275,000 220,000
16,500
11,000 27,500
22,000
1 12 1
2021
2021 2020
)
)
(@) (@)
275.0 79.6 70.6 20.4 345.6 275.0 80.6 66.0 19.4 341.0
(Prof. Dr. h.c. mult.
Hasso Plattner)( )
165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Lars Lamadé)
(2022 1 1 )
68.8 83.4 13.8 16.7 82.5 165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0
(Pekka Ala-Pietild)
(2021 5 12 )
82.5 96.7 2.8 3.3 85.3 NA NA NA NA NA
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
(2021 7 8 )
82.5 83.8 16.0 16.2 98.5 165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5
(Panagiotis Bissiritsas)
(2021 7 7 )
165.0 78.3 45.8 21.7 210.8 165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0

(Aicha Evans)
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NA NA NA NA NA 165.0 90.5 17.4 9.5 182.4
(Diane Greene)
(2020 12 9 )
165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)
220.0 85.1 38.5 14.9 258.5 220.0 88.9 27.5 11.1 247.5
(Margret Klein-Magar)
(2021 12 31
)
165.0 86.9 24.8 13.1 189.8 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Monika Kovachka-
Dimitrova)
68.8 85.8 11.5 14.3 80.2 NA NA NA NA NA
(Peter Lengler)
(2021 8 10 )
165.0 86.1 26.6 13.9 191.6 165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0
(Bernard Liautaud)
165.0 86.1 26.6 13.9 191.6 13.8 100.0 NA NA 13.8
(Or. Qi Lu)
(2020 12 21 )
165.0 73.9 58.2 26.1 223.2 165.0 71.4 66.0 28.6 231.0
(Gerhard Oswald)
165.0 79.3 43.1 20.7 208.1 165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0
(Christine Regitz)
165.0 71.2 66.9 28.8 231.9 165.0 76.9 49.5 23.1 214.5
(Or. Friederike Rotsch)
165.0 80.7 39.4 19.3 204.4 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Heike Steck)
41.3 100.0 NA NA 41.3 NA NA NA NA NA
(Helmut Stengele)
(2021 10 29 )
110.0 87.3 16.0 12.7 126.0 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Christa Vergien-Knopf)
(2021 8 9 )
110.0 79.2 28.9 20.8 138.9 NA NA NA NA NA
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
(2021 5 12 )
165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5 165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5
(Or. Gunnar Wiedenfels)
165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5 165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5
(James Wright)
137.5 88.3 18.3 11.7 155.8 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Ralf Zeiger)
(2021 10 28 )
3,176.3 679.7 3,856.0 3,148.8 605.9 3,754.7
2021 1,698,000 2020 1,625,800
2021
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2003 5
D&O
2016 2017 2018 2020 2019 2021 2020
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
) ) ) ) )
0 0 -10 341 4 346 1
(G
0 0 0 187 0 198 6
(022 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA NA 85 NA
(2021 7 8 )
NA 108 2 198 0 211 6
(2017 7 1 )
0 0 0 187 0 187 0
-2 -2 2 248 0 259 4
(2021 12 31 )
NA NA NA 187 50 190 1
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 80 NA
(2021 8 10 )
0 0 -6 198 6 192 -3
NA NA NA 14 NA 192 1,288
(2020 12 21 )
NA NA NA 231 6 223 -3
(2019 1 1 )
0 0 4 198 1 208 5
NA NA 62 215 3 232 8
(2018 5 17 )
NA NA NA 187 50 204 9
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA NA NA 41 NA
(2021 10 29 )
NA NA NA NA NA 139 NA
(2021 5 12 )
NA NA NA 204 50 204 0
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA 204 50 204 0
(2019 5 15 )
0 4 -11 198 8 83 -58
(2021 5 12 )
0 0 0 204 0 99 52
(021 7 7 )
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NA NA NA 187 50 126 -33
(2019 5 15 2021 8 9
)
NA NA NA 187 50 156 -17
(2019 5 15 2021 10
28 )
SAP ( IFRS) 6 5 12 27,343 -1 27,842 2
SAP SE ( ) 8 4 7 14,669 -4 15,370 5
SAP 2 6 15 8,287 1 8,230 41
( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) 10 32 31 2,485 87 2,692 8
SAP 6 -8 21 128 -12 145 13
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€Y}
11 Q) 5 3 @
SAP SE
SAP
CEO
CEO
SAP SE
4 1 COVID-19

2021

11

108/382



EDINETOOOO

DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodd
RISE with SAP SAP
2020 10
2021
2021
SAP Business Technology Platform
Signavio
2021 1 25
BP1
BPI
2021 1 15
25 2
2021 2 24
RISE with SAP 2021 1
2021 4 7
2021 SAP SE
Q)

5 5 15 13 20 18 90
(Prof. Dr. h.c. Hasso
Plattner)

3 3 6 6 9 9 100
(Pekka Ala-Pietild)
(2021 5 12 )

2 1 1 1 3 2 67
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
(2021 7 8 )

3 3 13 13 16 16 100
(Panagiotis Bissiritsas)
(021 7 7 )

5 5 15 14 20 19 95
(Aicha Evans)

5 5 8 8 13 13 100
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)

5 5 20 20 25 25 100
(Margret Klein-Magar)

5 5 10 10 15 15 100

(Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova)
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5 5 13 13 18 18 100
(Lars Lamadé)

1 1 5 5 6 6 100
(Peter Lengler)
(2021 8 10 )

5 5 11 11 16 16 100
(Bernard Liautaud)

5 5 8 7 13 12 92
(Or. Qi Lu)

5 5 23 23 28 28 100
(Gerhard Oswald)

5 5 12 12 17 17 100
(Christine Regitz)

5 5 29 29 34 34 100
(Dr. Friederike Rotsch)

5 5 16 16 21 21 100
(Heike Steck)

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
(Helmut Stengele)
(2021 10 29 )N

5 5 9 9 14 14 100
(Christa Vergien-Knopf)
(2021 8 9 )

2 2 13 13 15 15 100
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
(2021 5 12 )

5 5 22 22 27 27 100
(Gunnar Wiedenfels)

5 5 26 26 31 31 100
(James Wright)

3 3 7 7 10 10 100
(Ralf Zeiger)
(2021 10 28 )

2021 10 29 2021 12 31
2021 2021
2021 4 15
2021 5
10
12 10 2021 7 29
2021 10
2021 10 28
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2021 7 1
ESG
8
2022 1 1 2021 12
OEC
FCPA
2021 1
25 2021 2 4 7 10
3 U.S. DOJ
2021 7
U.S. DOJ
U.S. SEC
2022
2020 5 4
2021 4 U.S. D0J BIS
OFAC 2017 9 U.S. DOJ
OFAC U.S. SEC
Dediq SAP Fioneer

2021 3
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SAP Fioneer
2
2021 12 2014
2021
2
2021 2 24 2020
2021
STl 2020 COVID-
19 2021
ST12021 KPI
2020 LTI 2020 2021 KPI1
2021
COVID-19
3
ST12021 LTI12020 2021
53 @ @
2020 SAP SE KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesel Ischaft KPMG 2020

2020

2020 SAP SE
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2021 5 12 SAP SE
2021

2023 SAP SE BDO
AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft 2022
SAP SE

2020

2021 APJ EMEA
2021 2

2021 4 15 2021 1

AllianceBerstein

GCGC

2021 5 2

Sapphire Ventures Fund VI

2021 7 29

IFRS

Qualtrics Clarabridge
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2021 8

10
2021 10 28

10

Qualtrics

SAP SE

11

2021 11

11 1
10

2022 12

12

2022 1 1

@

€Y)

®

2021 11

2021 12

11 (@
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XM

2021

Qualtrics

Qualtrics

2022

2022 2

2018 5 17

2022 11 1
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2021 5 12 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
KPMG 2021 KPMG 2002
KPMG
KPMG
2
2021 2020
6 0 3 0
(827 ) © ) (413 ) () )
13 0 10 0
(1,791 ) © ) (1,378 ) © )
19 0 14 0
(2,617 ) © ) (1,929 ) © )
KPMG KPMG 2021
2021 2020 2019
KPMG AG KPMG KPMG AG KPMG KPMG AG KPMG
( ) ( ) ( )
3 8 12 3 9 12 3 7 10
(413 (1,102 ) (1,653 (413 (1,240 ) (1,653 (413 (964 ) (1,378
) ) )
) ) )
2 7 0 2 1
(276 (689 ) (964 © ) (138 ) (276 © ) (138 ) (138
) ) ) )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
© ) (© ) ( © ) © ) ( © ) © ) (0
) ) )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
© ) © ) ( © ) © ) ( © ) © ) (0
) ) )
6 13 19 3 10 14 3 8 10
(827 @,791 ) (2,617 (413 (1,378 ) (1,929 (413 (1,102 ) (1,378
) ) )
) ) )
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SAP SE KPMG

Qualtrics KPMG

KPMG

116/382



131

32

KPMG AG
40 321
12 1 2
1 137.76
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I SAP
12 31
2021 2020 2019

9,418 1,297,424 8,080 1,113,101 6,933 955,090
3,248 447,444 3,642 501,722 4,533 624,466
11,412 1,572,117 11,506 1,585,067 11,547 1,590,715
14,660 2,019,562 15,148 2,086,788 16,080 2,215,181
24,078 3,316,985 23,228 3,199,889 23,012 3,170,133
3,764 518,529 4,110 566,194 4,541 625,568
(A1) 27,842 3,835,514 27,338 3,766,083 27,553 3,795,701

(€.2)
-3,105 -427,745 -2,699 -371,814 -2,534 -349,084
-1,925 -265,188 -2,008 -276,622 -2,159 -297,424
-5,030 -692,933 -4,707 -648,436 -4,692 -646,370
-2,916 -401,708 -3,178 -437,801 -3,662 -504,477
7,946 -1,094,641 7,886 -1,086,375 8,355 -1,150,085
19,897 2,741,011 19,453 2,679,845 19,199 2,644,854
-5,190 -714,974 ~4,454 -613,583 -4,292 -591,266
7,505 -1,033,889 ~7,106 -978,923 -7,693  -1,059,788
-2,431 -334,895 -1,356 -186,803 -1,629 -224,411
-157 -21,628 3 413 -1,130 -155,669

(8-6)
/ 43 5,924 84 11,572 18 2,480
-23,186 _ -3,194,103 -20,715  -2,853,698  -23,081 _ -3,179,639
4,656 641,411 6,623 912,384 4,473 616,200
/ 17 2,342 -179 -24,,659 74 -10,194

.3
3,123 430,224 1,473 202,920 787 108,417
-949 -130,734 -697 -96,019 -589 -81,141
(C.4) 2,174 299,490 776 106,902 198 27,276
(C.2) 6,847 943,243 7,220 994,627 4,59% 633,145
(C.5) -1,471 -202,645 -1,938 -266,979 -1,226 -168,894
5,376 740,598 5,283 727,786 3,370 464,251
5,256 724,067 5,145 708,775 3,321 457,501
121 16,669 138 19,011 50 6,888

1

4.46 614.00 4.35 599.00 2.78 383.00

( ) (C.6)

1

4.46 614.00 4.35 599.00 2.78 383.00

( ) (.6)
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2021 2020 2019
5,376 740,598 5,283 727,786 3,370 464,251
43 5,924 39 5,373 -57 -7,852
-9 -1,240 -9 -1,240 5 689
34 4,684 30 4,133 -52 -7,164
34 4,684 30 4,133 -52 -7,164
2,825 389,172 -2,793 -384,764 537 73,977
30 4,133 0 0 0 0
2,855 393,305 -2,793 -384,764 537 73,977
-9 -1,240 1 138 0 0
(.2 2,846 392,065 -2,792 -384,626 537 73,977
-39 -5,373 20 2,755 -24 -3,306
4 551 -6 -827 22 3,031
(F.1 -35 -4,822 14 1,929 -2 -276
9 1,240 -4 -551 0 0
(E-2) -26 -3,582 10 1,378 -1 -138
2,819 388,345 -2,782 -383,248 536 73,839
2,853 393,029 -2,752 -379,116 483 66,538
8,230 1,133,765 2,531 348,671 3,854 530,927
8,058 1,110,070 2,393 329,660 3,804 524,039
172 23,695 138 19,011 50 6,888

119/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

OooooOodd
FSAP
12 31
2021 2020
(E.3) 8,898 1,225,788 5,311 731,643

(0.6),(E.3) 2,758 379,942 1,635 225,238
(A.2) 6,352 875,052 6,593 908,252

(A.3),(6.1) 1,633 224,962 1,321 181,981

403 55,517 210 28,930

20,044 2,761,261 15,069 2,075,905

(0.2) 31,090 4,282,958 27,538 3,793,635
(0.3) 3,966 546,356 3,784 521,284

(0.4),(D.8) 4,977 685,632 5,041 694,448

(0.6),(E.3) 6,275 864,444 3,512 483,813
(A.2) 147 20,251 137 18,873

(A.3),(6.1) 2,628 362,033 1,926 265,326

263 36,231 271 37,333

(C.5) 1,779 245,075 1,188 163,659
51,125 7,042,980 43,395 5,978,095

71,169 9,804,241 58,464 8,054,001

1,580 217,661 1,367 188,318

304 41,879 414 57,033

(E.3),(D.5) 4,528 623,777 2,348 323,460

(8.3),(8B.5),

(6.2) 5,203 716,765 4,643 639,620

(A.4),(B.4),

(B.5), (B.6) 89 12,261 73 10,056
(A.1) 4,431 610,415 3,996 550,489

16,136 2,222,895 12,842 1,769,114
122 16,807 98 13,500
827 113,928 667 91,886

(E.3),(D.5) 11,042 1,521,146 13,605 1,874,225

(B.3),(B.5),

(6.2 860 118,474 770 106,075

(A.4),(8.4),

(B.5), (B.6) 355 48,905 362 49,869
(C.5) 291 40,088 158 21,766
(A.1) 13 1,791 36 4,959

13,510 1,861,138 15,696 2,162,281

29,646 4,084,033 28,537 3,931,257

1,229 169,307 1,229 169,307

1,918 264,224 545 75,079

37,022 5,100,151 32,026 4,411,902

1,757 242,044 -1,012 -139,413

-3,072 -423,199 -3,072 -423,199

38,853 5,352,389 29,716 4,093,676

(E.2) 2,670 367,819 211 29,067
(E.2) 41,523 5,720,208 29,927 4,122,744
71,169 9,804,241 58,464 8,054,001
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SAP
12 31
(E.-2) (E.-2) (E.-2) (E.-2)
2019/1/1 1,229 543 27,336 1,234 -1,580 28,761 45 28,807
al 3,321 3,321 50 3,370
-52 536 483 483
3,268 536 3,804 50 3,854
2 2 2
-1,790 -1,790 -19 -1,810
-29 -29 -29
-2 -2 0 -2
T2019/12/31 1,229 545 28,783 1,770 -1,580 30,746 76 30,822
al 5,145 5,145 138 5,283
30 -2,782 -2,752 -2,752
5,175 -2,782 2,393 138 2,531
1 1 1
-1,864 -1,864 -2 -1,866
-1,492 -1,492 -1,492
-64 -64 -64
-4 -4 0 -5
T2020/12/31 1,229 545 32,026 -1,012 -3,072 19,716 211 29,927
al 5,256 5,256 121 5,376
34 2,768 2,802 51 2,853
5,290 2,768 8,058 172 8,230
1,373 1,373 311 1,684
-2,182 -2,182 -88 -2,271
1,933 1,933 2,050 3,983
-44 -44 14 -30
$2021/12/31 1,229 1,918 37,022 1,757 -3,072 38,853 2,670 41,523
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SAP )
12 31
(E.2) (E.2) (E-2) (E.2)
2019/1/1 169,307 74,804 3,765,807 169,996 -217,661 3,962,115 6,199 3,968,452
al 457,501 457,501 6,888 464,251
-7,164 73,839 66,538 66,538
450,200 73,839 524,039 6,888 530,927
276 276 276
-246,590 -246,590 -2,617 -249,346
-3,995 -3,995 -3,995
-276 -276 0 -276
$2019/12/31 169,307 75,079 3,965,146 243,835 -217,661 4,235,569 10,470 4,246,039
al 708,775 708,775 19,011 727,786
4,133 -383,248 -379,116 -379,116
712,908 -383,248 329,660 19,011 348,671
138 138 138
-256,785 -256,785 -276 -257,060
-205,538 -205,538 -205,538
-8,817 -8,817 -8,817
-551 -551 0 -689
F2020/12/31 169,307 75,079 4,411,902 -139,413 -423,199 2,716,076 29,067 4,122,744
al 724,067 724,067 16,669 740,598
4,684 381,320 386,004 7,026 393,029
728,750 381,320 1,110,070 23,695 1,133,765
189,144 189,144 42,843 231,988
-300,592 -300,592 -12,123 -312,853
266,290 266,290 282,408 548,698
-6,061 -6,061 1,929 -4,133
J:2021/12/31 169,307 264,224 5,100,151 242,044 -423,199 5,352,389 367,819 5,720,208
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2021 2020 2019

al 5,376 740,598 5,283 727,786 3,370 464,251
(0.2)-(0.4) 1,775 244,524 1,831 252,239 1,872 257,887
(8.3) 2,794 384,901 1,084 149,332 1,835 252,790
al (c.5) 1,471 202,645 1,938 266,979 1,226 168,894
al .9 2,174 -299,490 -776 -106,902 -198 -27,276
-11 -1,515 68 9,368 14 1,929
39 5,373 -198 -27,276 -54 -7,439
414 57,033 821 113,101 -1,469 -202,369
-706 -97,259 -651 -89,682 -583 -80,314
475 65,436 293 40,364 328 45,185
100 13,776 128 17,633 984 135,556
-1,120 -154,291 -1,310 -180,466 -1,257 -173,164
-202 -27,828 -244 -33,613 -341 -46,976
56 7,715 122 16,807 97 13,363
-284,199 -164,485 -320,843

( -2,063 -1,194 -2,329
6,223 857,280 7,194 991,045 3,496 481,609
©.1) -1,142 -157,322 -662 -91,197 -6,215 -856,178
-72 -9,919 203 27,965 61 8,403
-800 -110,208 -816 -112,412 -817 -112,550
91 12,536 88 12,123 71 9,781
-4,368 -601,736 -2,535 -349,222 -900 -123,984
3,229 444,827 735 101,254 778 107,177
-3,063 -421,959 -2,986 -411,351 -7,021 -967,213
(E.2) -2,182 -300,592 -1,864 -256,785 -1,790 -246,590
-54 -7,439 -2 -276 -17 2,342
(E.2) 0 0 -1,492 -205,538 0 0
2,828 389,585 95 13,087 0 0
(E.3) 1,680 231,437 2,132 293,704 3,622 498,967
(E.3) -1,952 -268,908 -2,430 -334,757 -1,309 -180,328
-374 -51,522 -378 -52,073 -403 -55,517
(E.2) -2 -276 -59 -8,128 0 0
-56 7,715 -3,997 -550,627 102 14,052
484 66,676 -214 29,481 110 15,154
3,587 494,145 -4 551 -3,313 -456,399

E

(E.3) 5,311 731,643 5,314 732,057 8,627 1,188,456
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8,898

1,225,788

5,311

731,643

5,314 732,057
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SAP SE
SAP SE

EU

SAP
( IFRS)
2021 12 31
2021 12 31 EU
IFRS
2022 2 23
T
@ IFRS
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@

(IN.1)
(IN.2) COVID-19
A.1)
(A.2)
(A.3)
A.4)
(B-3)
B-49
(8.5)
(8-6)
.1
(.5)
0.1
®-2)
®-3)
o0-49
®.5)
®.-6)
(E.2)
(E.3)
(F.1)
(F-2)
€.-3)
(€.5)
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(FX)
/
2021 2020 2021 2020 2019
usD 1.1326 1.2271 1.1835 1.1413 1.1196
JPY 130.38 126.49 129.86 121.78 122.06
GBP 0.8403 0.8990 0.8600 0.8892 0.8773
CHF 1.0331 1.0802 1.0814 1.0703 1.1127
CAD 1.4393 1.5633 1.4835 1.5294 1.4857
AUD 1.5615 1.5896 1.5747 1.6554 1.6106
A3
®-3)
A.3
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A.D
(A.2)
(A9, (6.3)
(8-3)
(.5
0.1
(0-2)

®-3)
(0-6)

@
1ASB SAP IFRS 1AS
IAS 37 SAP
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(IN.2) COVID-19
&) covID-19
COVID-19
COVID-19
2022
COVID-19
SAP Concur A.l
2020 2021
COVID-19 SAP

129/382



A.1)

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

(SaasS

SaaS

PaaS

(1aas)
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EMEA
APJ
2021 2020 2019
4,343 4,015 3,948
EMEA 8,246 8,052 8,158
EMEA 12,589 12,067 12,105
8,870 9,110 9,085
2,009 1,996 2,109
10,969 11,106 11,194
1,301 1,305 1,180
APJ 2,984 2,859 3,074
APJ 4,285 4,165 4,254
+ISAP 27,842 27,338 27,553
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
EMEA 3,308 2,608 2,115 10,931 10,364 10,211
4,894 4,439 3,945 9,348 9,239 9,172
APJ 1,217 1,033 872 3,798 3,625 3,629
+ISAP 9,418 8,080 6,933 24,078 23,228 23,012
€D
2021 12 31 399 2020 12 31 334
1
12
2021 12 31
2021
F2021 1 1 © 4.0
8.8
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-9.0
@ 0.6
F2021 12 31 4.4
) 2
@
36 2020 12 31 :35
(-2
@
(F-D
/
/
2021 2020
5,887 1 5,888 6,199 33 6,232
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465 146 611 395 103 498
- 6,352 147 6,499 6,593 137 6,730
2021 12 31 360 2020 12 31 :295

(F-D
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@
IFRS 15
6 8
2021 2020
667 2,158 2,826 491 1,536 2,028
126 175 301 91 151 242
793 2,333 3,127 583 1,687 2,270
- 1,633 2,628 4,261 1,321 1,926 3,247
e
49 89 73 44 88 70
2021 2020
523 450
171 129
@A.9
@

IFRS 15
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(©-9)
EMEA APJ

2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2019 12 31

EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ
5,947 4,58 5,113 15,646 6,278 4,589 5,525 16,392 6,501 4,426 5,361 16,288
8,220 5491 5,924 19,644 8,175 5,3 5,733 19,842 8,250 6,08 5071 20,239
15,347 6,326 10,571 32,244 13,705 6,094 9,781 29,580 12,710 5,793 9,131 27,634
11,136 11,508 5,481 28,215 10,348 10,485 5,000 25,834 10,205 10,368 5,209 25,781
3,374 2,306 1,199 6,879 3,285 2,161 1,243 6,689 3,161 2,123 1,246 6,530
2,609 1,353 824 4,786 2,291 1,107 696 4,094 2,220 984 654 3,859

SAP
@ a1 46,641 31,660 29,113 107,415 44,082 30,369 27,979 102,430 43,048 29,172 27,511 100,330
462 407 45 914 609 97 75 781 338 1,638 137 2,113
SAP

45,359 30,651 28,354 104,354 43,340 30,306 27,830 101,476 42,697 20,368 27,092 99,157

2021 2020 2019

10,635 10,413 10,031

1,589 1,439 1,477

2,794 1,084 1,835

408 419 369

25 -7 1,111

101 72 47

15,552 13,420 14,870
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(8.3)
@
(
)
LT12016 )
LTI 2020
NASDAQ-100 TSR NASDAQ-100
TRS TSR
LTI
2016
LTI 2020 NASDAQ-100
LTI 2020 SAP
Qualtrics 0%
Qualtrics PSU
Qualtrics
SAP
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2021 2020 2019
59 40 56
70 55 82
266 175 246
513 296 429
655 360 562
1,230 157 461
2,794 1,084 1,835
1,147 893 1,664
1,647 191 171
a)
SAP 2020 LTI 2020
LTI 2020 LTI 2020 SAP
LTI 2020 SAP
LTI 2020
LTI 2020 4
4 20 SAP SAP
FSU 3 MSU 3
RSU 3 4
RSU FSU MSU
FSU SAP
3 IFRS KP1 3
KPI FSU
KP1 100%
204
W 1
=
bl
B
. T £, =g 100%:  110% ) 13
B i
MSU 3 NASDAQ-
100 TSR SAP TSR SAP TSR 100%
SAP TSR
100%
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e .
SAP
3
4
1
3
2016 LTI 2016
LTI 2016 ( IFRS
LTI 4
XETRA
60%
20 SAP XETRA
LTI
PSU
RSU
SAP
) SAP
50 PSU
RSU PSU
Move SAP Grow SAP COVID-19

re Mg chil] TSoi—fied

B4
SAP
200%
)
SAP
2016-2019
LTI
80 120
PSU 40% RSU
(
(SAP
150
3
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2020 2021 6 Grow SAP
Move SAP SAP
2021 3 COVID-19
- 1 3
- 3 KP1
2021 PSU 2 KP1
( IFRS ) IFRS 2021
IFRS KP1 PSU
0 200 KPI1 2021 130.9%(2020 100.4 2019 118.7 )
Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics Rights
2019 Qualtrics Qualtrics
(RSA) (RSV) PSU SAP
Qualtrics Rights 2021 Qualtrics 1IPO
Qualtrics Rights Qualtrics RSU B.3 Qualtrics
2021
LT12016 LTI 2020 RSU
(2018-2019 (2020-2021 (2018-2021
) )
2021 12 31
64.16 118.73 122.88
(€]
124.90 124.90 124.90
() -0.72 -0.12 NA -0.72 -0.32
) 21 30 32 NA
() 1.52 NA 1.52
2021 12 31
() 0.7 2.8 1.1
(
2020
LTI12016 LTI 2020 RSU Qualtrics
(2017-2019 (2020 (2017-2020 Rights
) )
2020 12 31
72.94 94.75 105.52 33.66
(¢H) (¢H)
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107.22 107.22 107.22 107.22
() -0.75 -0.11 NA -0.77 -0.32 -0.77 -0.37
() 34 42 30 NA NA
() 1.54 NA 1.54 1.54

2020 12 31
(@) 1.2 3.2 1.0 1.5

(

146/382



EDINETOOOO

DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

(2020

18

30 )

SAP  NASDAQ-100

LT12016 2021 12 31 593.37
) 1.00 (2020 1.14 ) 17
26 31 35 36 2020 27
LTI 2020 2021 12 31  NASDAQ-100 19,217.94
15,072.29 NASDAQ-100 36 38 2020 36
31 34 2020 31 SAP  NASDAQ-100 TRS
LT12016 LT12020 RSU Qualtrics
2017-2019 2020-2021 2017-2020  Rights
2019 12 31 1,110 0 16,128 16,007
0 202 9,238 0
KPI 211 NA -5 NA
-129 0 7,204 7,791
-3 -30 -1,164 -699
2020 12 31 767 172 16,993 7,518
0 238 12,204 0
KPI -150 NA 153 NA
-92 0 -8,092 -1,780
NA NA -1,309 5,451
-57 -70 -1,165 -243
2021 12 31 469 340 18,783 44
2020 12 31 49 6 1,027 193
2021 12 31 28 15 1,260 1
2020 12 31 32 3 0 0
2021 12 31 38 4 0 0
2020 124.03 NA 109.75 113.34
2021 106.68 NA 107.69 105.10
2019 44 NA 1,087 461
2020 -9 6 760 132
2021 11 9 1,139 11
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2021 2020
839 462 1,302 863 454 1,317
I 5,203 860 6,063 4,643 770 5,413
T
16 54 21 19 59 24
b)
2021 2020 2019
Own 200 191 171
Qualtrics 1,426 0 0
211 0 0
1,647 191 171
Own SAP Own
Own SAP Own
40%
20
2021 2020 2019
Own 5.7 5.5 5.2
Own SAP
Own
Qualtrics
Qualtrics Qualtrics
Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics
RSU
Qualtrics PSU Qualtrics RSU
Qualtrics RSU 1 25%
12 PSU 4

100%
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2021 2 28 1PO Qualtrics 540
Qualtrics Rights 130 SAP RSU 1,280 Qualtrics RSU
Qualtrics Rights SAP RSU
Qualtrics RSU 30 Qualtrics 1PO
Qualtrics 2021 9
Clarabridge Qualtrics
2021 Clarabridge Qualtrics Clarabridge
Qualtrics Clarabridge
Qualtrics
Qualtrics
Qualtrics 43.88
Qualtrics (€Y
2020 12 31 0 NA
12,872 30.04
80,856 44.27
—7,467 33.43
-2,241 41.29
2021 12 31 84,018 43.13
1 Qualtrics RUS Clarabridge Qualtrics
2021 12 31 Qualtrics 3
Qualtrics 2022 300
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(®-9
@
@
«c )

2021 2020 2019

346 326 314

62 93 55

408 419 369

DBO
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
1,194 1,127 667 616 216 189 2,077 1,932
1,183 1,112 578 506 91 73 1,852 1,691
11 15 89 110 125 116 225 241
« )
S 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
¥ 3% 4% 27% 31% 35% 32% 65% 66%
DBO 1,125 2020 1,054
DBO 524 2020 479
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
1.2 0.9 0.8 0.5 0.4 0.3 3.1 3.0 3.7
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2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
50
1,134 1,066 968 626 573 495 203 185 154 1,964 1,824 1,617
50
1,260 1,195 1,090 714 663 576 223 204 159 2,196 2,062 1,825
2021 2020
597 1,254 485 1,207
182 0 149 0
202 0 151 0
39 1,254 7 1,207
2022 2021 12 31
11 2020 12 31 12
2021 12 31 2,289 2020 : 1,969
77 (2020 77 ) 5 62 (2020 64 )
@
2021 2020
3,717 398 4,115 3,147 316 3,464
T 5,203 860 6,063 4,643 770 5,413
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b
% 71 46 68 68 41 64
Jubilee
(8.6)
@
2021 1 2023
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2021 2020 2019
-25 7 -1,111
-132 -4 -19
-157 3 -1,130
2021 2020 2019
=127 0 -20
-5 1 -118
-13 -3 -154
-12 1 -467
3 3 -299
-2 2 -71
-157 3 -1,130
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€.
2021 CODM
5
Emarsys
SAP
Concur
( )
SAP
2021 Qualtrics Qualtrics 2021 10 Qualtrics
International Inc. Clarabridge Qualtrics D.1
Qualtrics
Qualtrics

Qualtrics International Inc.
Emarsys SAP

Emarsys Emarsys

Signavio GmbH
SAP Signavio
Signavio GmbH
D.1
2021
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IFRS IFRS

IFRS

c.2)

®-2)
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2021 2020 2019

( ) (o) (€3]
8,509 8,661 7,541 7,685 6,632
3,244 3,236 3,637 3,765 4,523
11,410 11,576 11,502 11,707 11,542
14,654 14,812 15,139 15,473 16,065
23,163 23,473 22,680 23,157 22,696
339 343 285 289 355
23,502 23,816 22,965 23,446 23,051
-2,685 -2,737 -2,315 -2,371 -2,147
-1,716 -1,733 -1,757 -1,790 -1,910
-4,401 -4,470 -4,071 -4,161 -4,057
-406 -412 -393 -399 -421
-4,808 -4,882 -4,464 -4,560 -4,478
18,694 18,934 18,500 18,887 18,573
-9,127 -9,216 -8,779 -8,953 -8,800
9,567 9,718 9,722 9,934 9,773

1 2021 2020 2020 2019
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Qualtrics
2021 2020 2019
( ) ) (€))
757 780 518 529 371
757 780 518 529 371
172 177 162 166 137
929 957 681 696 508
-65 -66 -43 -43 -33
0 0 0 0 0
-65 -66 -43 -43 -33
-125 -128 -110 -112 -78
-190 -194 -152 -155 -110
739 763 528 541 398
-696 -719 -533 -545 -407
a4 44 -4 -5 -9
1 2021 2020 2020 2019
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2021 2020 2019
( o) &)
0 0 0 1 0
0 0 0 0 0
0 0 4 4 5
0 0 4 4 5
0 0 5 5 5
3,234 3,282 3,374 3,428 3,674
3,234 3,283 3,374 3,432 3,679
-78 -80 -74 -76 -62
-18 -19 -32 -33 -54
-97 -99 -106 -109 -116
-2,035 -2,062 -2,209 -2,254 -2,579
-2,131 -2,161 -2,315 -2,363 -2,695
1,102 1,122 1,063 1,070 983
-375 -379 -418 -427 -466
728 743 645 642 517
1 2021 2020 2020 2019
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EMEA APJ
( 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
)
&
10,902 10,900 10,437 8,862 9,116 8,907 3,737 3,799 3,621 23,502 23,816 22,965
Qualtrics 153 157 97 690 711 528 86 89 55 929 957 681
1,458 1,455 1,479 1,370 1,414 1,491 406 414 408 3,234 3,283 3,379
12,513 12,512 12,013 10,922 11,242 10,927 4,230 4,302 4,084 27,665 28,055 27,024
EMEA APJ
( 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
)
&
10,437 10,549 10,306 8,907 9,200 9,066 3,621 3,698 3,679 22,965 23,446 23,051
Qualtrics 97 99 68 528 540 403 55 56 37 681 696 508
1,479 1,491 1,568 1,491 1,527 1,621 408 415 490 3,379 3,432 3,679
12,013 12,139 11,942 10,927 11,267 11,089 4,084 4,169 4,207 27,024 27,574 27,238
SAP A.1)
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2021 2020 2019
( ) (&) @
& 23,502 23,816 22,965 23,446 23,051
3,234 3,283 3,379 3,432 3,679
Qualtrics 929 957 681 696 508
27,665 28,055 27,024 27,574 27,238
177 177 319 322 396
0 -390 0 -554 0
0 0 -5 -5 -81
al 27,842 27,842 27,338 27,338 27,553
& 9,567 9,718 9,722 9,934 9,773
728 743 645 642 517
Qualtrics 44 44 -4 -5 -9
10,339 10,505 10,363 10,571 10,281
177 177 319 322 396
-2,286 -2,274 -2,395 -2,390 -2,469
0 -178 0 -216 0
0 0 -5 -5 -81
-623 -623 -577 -577 -689
-2,794 -2,794 -1,084 -1,084 -1,835
al -157 -157 3 3 -1,130
al 4,656 4,656 6,623 6,623 4,473
al 17 17 -179 -179 =74
al 2,174 2,174 776 776 198
Al 6,847 6,847 7,220 7,220 4,596
1 2021 2020 2020 2019
c.3 / C )
2021 2020 2019
( ) 49 -154 -51
316 601 358
111 -134 194
-382 -487 -396
-70 -34 -176
/ « ) -33 -25 -23
aul / ( ) 17 -179 -74
(C.9 )
2021 2020 2019
3,123 1,473 787
3,067 1,360 596
-949 -697 -589
-654 -342 -151
-160 -179 -207
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-50 -76 -155
2,174 776 198

(€.5)

IFRS

SAP

SAP
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2021 2020 2019
608 895 625
1,360 1,001 1,153
1,968 1,896 1,778
/
109 -38 -3
-606 80 -549
/ -497 42 -522
al 1,471 1,938 1,226
2021 2020 2019
/
1,707 1,653 1,818
261 243 -40
1,968 1,896 1,778
/
-526 47 -710
29 -5 158
/ -497 42 -552
al 1,471 1,938 1,226
2021 2020 2019
2,040 2,481 2,012
4,807 4,739 2,584
al 6,847 7,220 4,596
26.4% (2020 : 26.3% 2019 : 26.4%)
2021 15.00% (2020 : 15.00% 2019 : 15.00%) 5.5% (2020 : 5.5%
2019 :5.5%) 10.6% (2020 : 10.5% 2019 :10.6%)
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2021 2020 2019
al 6,847 7,220 4,596
26.4% 2020 26.3% 2019
26.4% 1,808 1,901 1,212
-126 -166 -171
420 254 116
-630 -282 -131
204 105 138
-75 -100 -89
9 128 80
-34 41 48
-105 57 23
af 1,471 1,938 1,226
% 21.5 26.8 26.7
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2021 2020
759 455
19 19

14 11

58 115
196 194
278 197
1,097 1,155
781 631
146 123
77 57
134 108
3,559 3,065
903 854
525 529
169 239
206 178
29 21

1 0

50 87

7 4

181 123
2,071 2,035
1,488 1,030

405

2020

400

472 2020 452
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2021 2020 2019
430 570 688
26 25 63
309 338 373
765 933 1,124
602 587 538
28 26 28
20 17 17
48 43 45
183 2020 179 2019 187 us
240.4 2020 1 183.7
1,283 2020
1,221 677 2020 648
2021 10 135
2021 12 OECD 750 15%
2021 12 22 EC EU

2023
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(C.6) 1
2021 2020 2019
5,256 5,145 3,321
1,229 1,229 1,229
-49 -46 -35
1,180 1,182 1,194
1,180 1,182 1,194
SAP 4.46 4.35 2.78
SAP 4.46 4.35 2.78
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2021
2021 Signavio GmbH

Inc. Clarabridge
Signavio

2021 1 GSAP

949

Signavio

Signavio
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2021 3 5

Clarabridge,
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Signavio
Signavio
255
73
328
108
108
220
729
949
Signavio Signavio
12 31
Signavio
SAP SAP
Signavio SAP
SAP S/4HANA  RISE w
Signavio
Signavio
D.2
Clarabridge
2021 10 1
Clarabridge Clarabridge
Reorganization and Merger
910 115
Qualtrics Clarabridge
Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics
Clarabridge
Clarabridge
218
79
297
103
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2021
Signavio SAP
ith SAP
Signavio
Qualtrics
Agreement and Plan of
Qualtrics A 1,125
Qualtrics 37.33
1,298 1,116
91
Clarabridge
Clarabridge
B.3
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103
194
922
1,116
2021 12 31
Clarabridge Qualtrics SAP
D.2
2021 2021 Signavio Clarabridge
2021 SAP Signavio Clarabridge
2021 2021
- 27,842 70
ol 5,376 -89
2021 1 1 2021
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2021

2021 4 13 SAP

Dediq GmbH

2021 9

SAP Dediq
SAP  SAP Fioneer
IP
77

2020

2020 11 4
AG Emarsys 100
Emarsys

2021 2020

Emarsys
SAP SAP
SAP

Emarsys

2020

2020 5 5 SAP
Interconnect
SAP

194

2019
2019 1 23

Qualtrics XM

1 35 Qualtrics 100%
9
Qualtrics

Qualtrics

2019 1 23

SAP Fioneer

2020 11 4

2020

Sinch AB

IFRS 128

2020 11 1

Qualtrics International Inc.

( )

6,212
237
6,449
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Dediq

SAP

IFRS

IFRS

Emarsys eMarketing System

16

Emarsys

Sinch

71

Sinch SAP Digital

SAP SAP
225

IFRS /

Qualtrics

Qualtrics SAP
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Qualtrics
( ) Qualtrics
IFRS 2
2019 2020
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Qualtrics

Qualtrics

Qualtrics

138

37

20

75
1,803
575
1,226

2,074
97

53
317
41
129
637
1,437
5,012
6,449

Qualtrics

SAP

Qualtrics

Qualtrics

SAP
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2019 Qualtrics

Qualtrics SAP

Qualtrics
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2019

Qualtrics

27,553

429

3,370

-526

Qualtrics 2019 1 1

(.2)

@
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2020 1 1 29,260
-2,010
395
-9
2020 12 31 27,636
1,838
1,737
-20
2021 12 31 31,191
2020 1 1 101
-3
2020 12 31 98
3
2021 12 31 101
2020 12 31 27,538
2021 12 31 31,090

2021 (.1)

2021 COVID-19
COVID-19
2022

IN.2
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SAP
Concur  Qualtrics Emarsys
( )
2020 12 31 20,844 355 3,307 2,637 NA 27,538
2021 12 31 26,074 367 NA 3,846 408 31,090
43
Signavio 766
383
383 Signavio D.1
Clarabridge Qualtrics
Clarabridge
D.1
924 Qualtrics
2021 Concur C.1 Concur 3,307
2020
Concur
SAP Fioneer D.1 20 9
11
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SAP
WACC)
Qualtrics Emarsys

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
8.4 5.4 0.4 3.4 NA 20.6 15.3 NA 31.7 NA
8.8 8.8 7.9 7.2 NA 9.7 10.0 NA 11.5 NA
3.0 3.0 0.0 3.0 NA 3.0 3.0 NA 3.0 NA
5 5 5 5 NA 13 12 NA 14 NA

(1) 2021 Qualtrics

(2) 2020

2021 10 1

2021 C.1
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33.1 2020
32.4 5.1 2020 2.4
1,377 2020 1,416
2021 2020
-0.8 -0.6
-4 -2
Qualtrics
2021 1 28 Qualtrics International Inc. 1PO
Qualtrics
Qualtrics Qualtrics
Emarsys
3
24.6
Emarsys
547
Emarsys
2021 2020
-1.7 NA
-14 NA
(1) 2020

1771382
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24.8

1,225

2021

-2.5
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©.3)

@

1AS
38 8
IFRS
@
2 20
- IFRS
@
(1PRD)
/
2020 1 1 929 2,752 6,415 10,096
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-14 —224 —467 -705

1 59 184 244

10 0 60 70

-148 -22 -142 -312

15 0 -12 3

2020 12 31 793 2,565 6,038 9,396
12 205 427 644

0 233 304 537

19 0 66 85

-84 -7 -11 -102

93 0 -89 4

2021 12 31 833 2,996 6,735 10,564
2020 1 1 598 2,031 2,976 5,605
-13 -180 -219 —412

85 214 420 719

-147 -22 -131 -300

2020 12 31 523 2,043 3,046 5,612
11 171 211 393

77 189 412 678

-64 -11 -10 -85

2021 12 31 547 2,392 3,659 6,598
2020 12 31 270 522 2,992 3,784

2021 12 31 286 604 3,076 3,966
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Ariba -
Concur -
Callidus -
Qualtrics -
Qualtrics -
Emarsys —

Signavio -

2021 2020
174 203 4-6
755 786 9-13
241 262 7-11
286 360 4
983 991 11-16
163 174 6-13
184 NA 15

2,786 2,776
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©.9
@
25 - 50
2-6
4-20
2-5
2020 12 31 1,457 1,816 1,628 41 99 5,041
2021 12 31 1,609 1,801 1,450 40 77 4,977
2020 66 404 424 25 87 1,006
2021 144 313 518 23 69 1,067
IT
(0.5
@
IFRS 16

SAP
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2021 2020
12 31 12 31
- 1,800 1,816
- 40 41
1,840 1,857
T 4,977 5,041
] ) 37 37
407 380
T 4,528 2,348
I D) 9 16
1,736 1,740
3 11,042 13,605
T ) 16 13

SAP 2021 12 31 172

IFRS 16 226
D.8
2021 2020
398 396
®-4) -
(-3
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@
AC
Fv Cl FVTPL
FVTPL Fv CI
FVTPL
FVOCI
2021 2020
0 5,799 5,799 0 3,113 3,113
0 155 155 0 14 14
0 5,954 5,954 0 3,127 3,127
I 2,758 6,275 9,033 1,635 3,512 5,147
0 95 66 0 89 61
SAP 20 20

SAP
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2021 2020
155 14
-9 -1
SAP SAP Fioneer SAP
2021 9 1
SAP Fioneer SAP 1
2021 9 1 2021 11 30
6.9
2021 2020
255 237
SAP
2021 12 31 757 2020 607
502 2020 370
2021 12 31
2022 255
255
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2021 2020
5,305 4,350
EMEA 5,927 5,798
EMEA 11,232 10,149
30,143 26,829
441 379
30,584 27,208
APJ 1,263 1,216
SAP 43,079 38,572
B.1 Al
(0.8)
2021 2020
99 106
4,680 3,685
4,779 3,791
2021 12 31
2022 1,199
2023 2026 2,946
634

4,779
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(-1
A2 & A
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 %
% %
T 41,523 58 29,927 51 39
T 16,136 23 12,842 22 26
T 13,510 19 15,696 27 -14
T 29,646 42 28,537 49 4
13,094 18 13,283 23 -1
2,143 3 2,120 4 1
3 71,169 100 58,464 100 22
2021 950 500 1
150 CP 500 CP
150 2022 Qualtrics
1,250 4
(E-2)
@
SAP
SAP NCI
2019 1 1 1,228.5 -34.9
2019 12 31 1,228.5 -34.9
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0 -14.1
2020 12 31 1,228.5 -48.9
2021 12 31 1,228.5 -48.9
2022 1 13 SAP 10
2022 2 1 2022 12 31
- 2025 5 19 250
- 2025 5 19 250
11
2021 12 31 100
100 2020 100
/
2019 1 1 1,239 -5 1,234
537 -1 536
2019 12 31 1,776 -6 1,770
-2,792 10 -2,782
2020 12 31 -1,016 4 -1,012
2,846 -26 2,819
2021 12 31 1,830 -22 1,808
2013 6 4 2018 5 17
SAP SE 2023 5 16
120
SAP SE SAP SE
SAP SE 10%
40
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2021 2020
1,864

2.45
SAPS0

2021 1 28 Qualtrics
1,847

2021 10 1 Qualtrics
78

2021 11 11 Qualtrics

250

2,182
1.58 2019 2018
Handelsgesetzbuch
2021 12 31
2,890
0.50
12% NASDAQ
Clarabridge
261
4
981

189/382
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2020
1,790

1PO

Qualtrics

SAP

oOoOooodn
2019

1.50

2022

SAP

74
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(E-3)

&

( 3

)
AC
Fv CI
FVTPL
FVTPL

AC

FVTPL

AC

CP

12
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FVTPL AC
AC
1
2021 2020
E 5 8,898 5,311 3,587
2,632 1,470 1,162
11,530 6,781 4,750
-3,755 -1,482 -2,273
-9,338 -11,801 2,463
-13,094 -13,283 189
-1,563 —6,503 4,939
2021 2020
3,149 0 3,149 2,732 0 2,732
1,420 0 1,420 927 0 927
4,281 0 4,281 1,655 0 1,655
50 0 50 0 0 0
-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3
I 8,898 0 8,898 5,311 0 5,311
2021 2020
2,605 0 2,605 1,448 0 1,448
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30 0 30 24 0 24

0 201 201 0 162 162

79 107 186 83 107 190

-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3

2,711 308 3,019 1,552 269 1,822

3 2,758 6,275 9,033 1,635 3,512 5,147
T 98 5 33 95 8 35

)
3
(F-D

2021 2020

900 8,965 900 8,851 9,751 500 9,844 500 9,868 10,369

393 373 396 393 790 0 707 0 742 742

930 0 931 0 931 930 0 931 0 931

1,533 0 1,533 0 1,533 52 1,250 52 1,250 1,302

3,756 9,338 3,760 9,245 13,005 1,482 11,801 1,484 11,860 13,344

E 3 4,528 11,042 15,570 2,348 13,605 15,953
83 84 84 63 87 84

T
()
2021 0.83 2020 0.87 2019 1.09
(F.1) (F.2)

192/382
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2021 2020
1.125%
202 478} 1.24% 1
62014 023 99.478% b ,000 999 998
1.750%
2027 99.284% ' 1.87% 1,000 985 1,006
9-2014
1.000%
2025 99.264% ' 1.13% 600 597 597
12-2015
0.000%
2021 100.519% ' -0.15% 500 0 500
14-2018
1.000%
2026 99.576% ' 1.06% 500 499 498
15-2018
1.375%
2030 98.687% ' 1.50% 500 491 510
16-2018
0.250%
2022 99.654% ' 0.36% 900 900 899
18-2018
0.750%
2024 99.227% ' 0.89% 850 847 845
19-2018
1.250%
2028 98.871% ' 1.38% 1,000 982 1,009
20-2018
1.625%
2031 98.382% ' 1.78% 1,250 1,223 1,279
21-2018
0.000%
2023 99.794% ' 0.07% 600 599 599
22-2020
0.125%
2026 99.200% ' 0.26% 600 596 596
23-2020
0.375%
2029 98.787% ' 0.51% 800 769 789
24-2020
9,487 10,125
us 0
2025 100.000% 0.721% 0.83% 300 264 243
2018
9,751 10,369
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2021 2020
( )
7-2012 2022 3.18% ( ) 3.22% 4445 396 373
8-2012 2024 3.33% ( ) 3.37% 323 300 281
9-2012 2027 3.53% ( ) 3.57% 100 94 88
790 742
2021 12 31 6 930
931 2020 12 31 931
2021 12 31 -0.48 2020 12 31 -0.40%
2021 SAP Qualtrics 2019 1,250
2021 3 SAP 950 500 2021 11 2022 9
30 0.55 0.52
2021 2021
11 12 31
1,482 980 1 1 0 1,291 3,755
11,801 -1,252 2 78 0 -1291 9,338
13,283 -272 3 79 0 0 13,094
126 0 0 3 -163 0 -34
—66 0 0 0 0 11 -55
( 13,344 -272 3 82 -163 11 13,005
61 0 0 0 0 -1 60
-114 0 0 -1 157 0 42
O] 2,120 -374 4 106 0 287 2,143
15,411 -646 7 187 -6 297 15,250
@
2020 2020
11 12 31
2,529 -2,282 2 -17 0 1,251 1,482
11,139 2,000 1 -88 0 -1,251 11,801
13,668 —282 2 -105 0 0 13,283
13 0 0 -4 117 0 126
-64 -16 0 0 0 14 -66
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( 13,616 —298 2 -109 117 14 13,344
67 0 0 0 0 —6 61
7 0 0 2 -123 0 -114
o 2,204 =378 15 -125 0 404 2,120
15,895 —675 17 —233 -5 413 15,411

a
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(.1

IFRS 9

IFRS 9

FVTPL /
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IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 16 IFRS 4 IFRS 7 —
IASB 2020 8 26 2 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 16 IFRS 4
IFRS 7 1BOR
EURIBOR
IBOR
2021 1 EONIA €STR +8.5
(bps)
3 LIBOR
1BOR
1BOR
IBOR
( )
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SAP 1P

1:1
12

12

2021 12 31

2021

-28

-28

-2
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2021 12 31

2021

1,023

-31

0Cl

-28

0Cl

0Cl

ocCl
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2021 12 31
2021
16 7 12
770 253
EUR GBP 0.87 0.86
EUR JPY 130.52 130.32
EUR CHF 1.08 1.07
EUR AUD 1.58 1.61
EUR USD 1.19 1.16
SAP
2021 12 31
2021 2020

1.4 0.9

1.3 0.9

1.6 1.0

1.0 0.9
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+/- 10 2020:
+/- 10 2019 +/- 10
+/- 10 2019 2020 2021 12 31
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
-10%  2020:
-10% 2019: -10% 106 43 53
+10%  2020:
+10% 2019: +10% -106 -43 -53
-10% 40 40 53
+10% -49 -49 -53
(2021 67 2020 67 )
2021 87 2020 85
1:1
2021 12 31 50% 2020  48%
2021 12 31
2021
EUR usD
4,550 285
4,508 284
59 24
59 -9

201/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

Ogoooood
0 -16
2021 12 31
2021
EUR usD
4,550 285
0 7
-49 0
-49 7
2021 12 31
2021
2022 2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
1.469% 0.893% 0.233% 0.868% 1.031%
USD
196 88

1.011% 0.890%
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12 31
2021 2020
0.03 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02
7.72 6.25 7.72 4.67 4.58 5.14 5.77 4.58
( )
1.71 2.07 2.95 1.70 1.99 3.18 3.93 1.99
4.83 4.82 4.83 4.81 4.81 4.78 5.10 4.30
IFRS 7
+75 +20 (bps) 2020 /
+50/+ Obps 2019 / +50/+10bps
-25 -20bps 2020 / -50/-20bps 2019
/ -50/-20bps
2019 2020 2021 12 31

2021 2020 2019
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+75 bps / +20 bps
2020 +50 bps / +10 bps
-70 -41 -41
2019 +50 bps / +10 bps
-25bps / -20 bps
2020 -50bps / -20 bps 68 79 76
2019 -50 bps / -20 bps
+75 bps / +20 bps
2020 +50 bps 7/ +10 bps -10 -6 -8
2019 +50 bps / +10 bps
-25bps / -20 bps
2020 -50bps / -20 bps 5 6 8
2019 -50 bps / -20 bps
2021 6
2021 12 31 5,799 2020 3,113
2019 1,996
B.3
2021 2020 2019
515 259 156
10 -
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10

-515

-259

-156

BBB
2021

Tier 1

12

2020
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90
A.2

2021 12 31
2021
1- AAA BBB- -0.0% 6,864 0 -3
2 — BB D 0.0% 37 0 0
3 - NA —-10.3% 29 0 -3
-0.1% 6,930 0 -6
2020
1- AAA BBB- -0.1% 4,846 0 -3
2 — BB D 0.0% 29 0 0
3 - NA —-11.3% 23 0 -3
-0.1% 4,898 0 -6

2021 12 31
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2021 12 31
2021
-0.5% 4,106 6 -19
30 -1.0% 611 57 -7
30 90 —1.8% 514 48 -10
90
-19.3% 482 240 -139
—2.9% 5,713 351 =175
2020
-0.2% 4,426 0 -10
30 -0.9% 511 71 -5
30 90 —1.8% 380 61 —8
90
—-16.8% 695 273 —-163
=2.9% 6,012 405 —-186
2021
2021 2020
( )
11 -186 -131
87 -97
98 42
12 31 -175 -186
2017 SAP SE 2024 25
EURIBOR LIBOR 17
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5.95
2019 9 CP 2021 12 31
930 2020 930 6
2020 2021 12 31 SAP SE 372 346
2021 12 31
2021 12 31
12/31/2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
-1,089 -1,089 0 0 0 0 0
-2,143 —448 -338 -263 —-208 -184 -934
-13,285 —4,084 -1,695 -1,228 —936 -1,165 —4,773
-16,517 5,621 -2,033 -1,491 -1,144 -1,349 -5,707
12/31/2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
-1,014 -1,014 0 0 0 0 0
-2,120 —426 -359 —262 -218 -165 -931
13,770 -1,982 —2,640 -1,700 -1,211 —918 —5,933
-16,904 -3,422 -2,999 -1,962 -1,429 -1,083 —6,864
12/31/2021 2022 2023 12/31/2020 2021 2022
—62 —61
-2,381 -12 -2,902 -7
2,327 0 2,842 0
=31 -1
-919 -141
885 139
—49 0
—48 —476
60 421
-142 —76 —67 —63 —62 -7
45 38
-2,878 -2,452
2,923 2,493
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7
-136 -291
137 297
114
-4 -4 -48 -398
9 6 69 495
51 2 158 68 97
-25 —65 95 6 90
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(F.2)
5]
(AC)
(FVTPL)
3
2021 12 31
8,898
) AC 3,149 3,149
1) AC 1,467 1,467
FVTPL 4,281 4,281 4,281 4,281
6,499
v AC 5,888 5,888
2) - 611
9,033
AC 30 30 30 30
FVTPL 5,799 5,799 772 155 4,871 5,799
2) - 155
AC 2,602 2,602 2,602 2,602
2) - 201
AC 186 186 186 186
FX - 1 1 1 1
- 7 7 7 7
FX FVTPL 41 41 41 41
FVTPL 0 0 0 0
FVTPL 10 10 10 10
-1,702
1 AC -1,089  —1,089
2) - -613
-15,571
AC -1,533 -1,533 -1,533 -1,533
AC -10,682 -10,682 -10,248 -931 -11,179
AC -790 -790 -801 -801
3 AC -2,424 -2,424 -281 -281
FX - =31 =31 =31 =31
- -49 -49 -49 -49
FX FVTPL -62 -62 -62 -62
7,158 -3,194 9,997 5,164 —695 4,881 —978
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2020 12 31
5,311
D AC 2,732 2,732
D AC 924 924
FVTPL 1,655 1,655 1,655 1,655
6,730
D AC 6,232 6,232
) _ 498
5,147
AC 24 24 24 24
FVTPL 3,113 3,113 72 536 2,505 3,113
2 - 14
AC 1,445 1,445 1,445 1,445
2) - 162
AC 190 190 190 190
FX - 7 7 7 7
- 114 114 114 114
FX FVTPL 38 38 38 38
FVTPL 36 36 36 36
FVTPL 4 4 4 4
-1,312
D AC -1,014 -1,014
) _ -298
-15,953
AC -1,301 ~ -1,301 -1,301 -1,301
AC = -11,300 -11,300 -10,966 931 -11,897
AC 742 —742 —771 771
D) AC 2,547 2,547 —427 —427
FX - -1 -1 -1 -1
- 0 0 0 0
FX FVTPL —61 —61 —61 —61
—77 5,357 4,904 9,214 -1,128 2,509 —7,833
2021 12 31
FVTPL 10,131 10,131
AC 13,323 13,323
FVTPL —62 —62
AC -16,517 -16,517
2020 12 31
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FVTPL 4,846 4,846
AC 11,547 11,547
FVTPL —61 —61
AC -16,904 -16,904
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3.5-
11.5)

10%-32.3%
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1
2
2 1 2021
1,030 (2020 91 ) 1 2
3
3

2021 2020
11 2,508 1,896
0 0
455 -201
1,076 728
852 -233
2,348 501
256 -183
12 31 4,881 2,508
1,789 376

FVTPL
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(6.1) 2021 2020
588 242 830 495 187 682
219 53 272 209 52 261
807 295 1102 704 239 943
T 1,633 2,628 4,261 1,321 1,926 3,247
g 49 11 26 53 12 29
(%)
VAT
G.2)
) 2021 2020
646 0 646 632 0 632
P 5,203 860 6,063 4,643 770 5,413
T 12 0 11 14 0 12
()
G.3)
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@
A.9
2021 12 31
SAP
SAP
2021 2020 12 31
2021 12 31
2018 6 Teradata Corporation Teradata US, Inc Teradata Operations, Inc Teradata
SAP SE SAP America, Inc SAP Labs, LLC Teradata
SAP Teradata Teradata
Teradata
2019 SAP Teradata
2020 Teradata SAP 2
2021 2 Teradata
Teradata
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Teradata 2023
195 (2020 154
)
c.5
FCPA
SAP OEC
U.S.SEC U.S.D0J
U.S.SEC U.S.DOJ
FCPA
SAP
2021
2017 9 U.S. DOJ OFAC
2017 10 U.S.SEC U.S.SEC
BIS
2021 4 U.S DOJ BIS OFAC
3
2021 5
6.9
2021 12 31 SAP
Christian Klein
CEO adidas AG, Herzogenaurach

(2021 1 1 )
Schaeffler AG, Herzogenaurach

Sabine Bendiek

Luka Mucic
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(CFO) IR HeidelbergCement AG, Heidelberg

Juergen Mueller
DFKI GmbH, Kaiserslautern

SAP HANA
SAP

Scott Russell (2021 2 1 )

Thomas Saueressig

SAP

SAP
SAP

Julia White 2021 3 1

2021

Adaire Fox-Martin(2021 6 30 2021 1 31 )
2021 12 31 SAP

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattner 2.®.6).06)

Lars Lamadé 0.0.M.6

2022 1 1 Rhein-Neckar Loewen GmbH

Manuela Asche-Holstein M 2021 7 8

SAP SE Co. KG

Aicha Evans ... )

Zoox, Inc. Joby Aviation LLC

Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost

@.(M
Ottobock SE & Co. KGaA
ING-DiBa AG

Margret Klein-Magar ®0..63).6)
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SAP 0B 0G
SAP SE

Monka Kovachka-Dimitrova

SAP SE
Peter Lengler

SAP Germany SE Co. KG
SAP SE

Bernard Liautaud
Balderton Capital

Dr. Qi Lu
CEO, MiraclePlus Ltd.

Gerhard Oswald
Osward Consulting GmbH

Christine Regitz
@.®.®.®

Tech@SAP

Dr. Friederike Rotsch

2021 8 10

@.®

®.@.C ).C)

(OHOH)

nlyte Software Ltd.
2021 10 5
Vestiaire Collective SA

2021 4 2
Dashlane, Inc.

Qubit Digital Ltd.
2021 10 10
Aircall.io

Virtuo Technologies (
Peakon Aps

2021 3 9
Tim Talent SAS
Citymapper Ltd.
Toucan Toco SAS
Traefik Labs SAS (
Kili Technology SAS

2021 7 26

2121 Atelier, Inc., Brooklyn

2021 11 18
Sweep SAS, Paris
2021 12 14

2020 12 21 @.(M.6)

), ®

(OF

Pinduoduo Inc.

Pine Field Holding Limited

Pine Field Holding Limited

Pine Field Ltd.
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TSG 1899 Hoffenheim FuRRbalI-Spielbetriebs GmbH

@, ®,0.,®)
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Heike Steck

SAP SE

Helmut Stengele

Dr. Rouven Westphal
Hasso Plattner Foundation

HPC Germany GmbH & Co. KG
Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels ®.(®

Discovery Inc

James Wright
SAP SE
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®.C ).G.( ).®

2021 10 29

2021 5 12 ®.6).®
Sharks Sports & Entertainment LLC

Motor Trend Group, LLC(
) 2021 7 1
OWN LLC

@D.3).®, ®

2021

Pekka Ala-Pietila 2021 5 12

Panagiotis Bissiritsas 2021 7 7
Christa Vergien-Knopf 2021 8 9

Ralf Zeiger 2021 10 28

)

(1) SAPSE
@
®
©)
®
©
Q)
©)
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G.5
@
2021 2020 LTI2020 2019 LTI2016
IFRS 2
2021 2020 2019
2021 2020 2019
25,015 5,004 17,378
25,095 23,095 32,393
50,110 28,189 49,771
464 488 2,825
461 487 2,056
3 1 769
50,574 28,677 52,596
2021 2020 2019
238,428 201,690 344,047
6,356 11,173 44,447
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DBO
( ) 2021 2020 2019
DBO 12 31 3,435 3,520 5,497
108 98 215
( ) 2021 2020 2019
3,856 3,755 3,770
3,176 3,149 3,218
680 606 553
/DB0
( ) 2021 2020 2019
2,159 3,010 2,081
DBO 12 31 42,313 44,043 44,306
2021 2020 2019
G.6)
SAP
SAP SE sAP
SAP sAP SAP
SAP SE sAP
SAP
2020 : 3
4 2020 : 2
3 2020 : 4 0
2020 : 0 0 2020
2 2021 12 31 6 2020 : 10
0 2020 : 0
SAP
2 2020 :2 2021 12 31
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0 2020 : O
6.5)
6 2020 : 2
37 2020 : 0
15 2020 : 0 4 2020 : 0
SAP Fioneer SAP Fioneer SAP 0.1)
(0-6)
6.7
2021 5 12 2021 KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesel Ischaft (KPMG) KPMG 2002 KPMG KPMG
2021
2021 2020 2019
KPMG KPMG KPMG
( ) KPMG ( ) KPMG ( ) KPMG
3 8 12 3 9 12 3 7 10
2 5 7 0 1 2 0 1 1
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6 13 19 3 10 14 3 8 10
KPMG SAP SE
Qualtrics
KPMG
(G.8)
2022 1 27 Taulia
SAP Business Network CFO SAP
2022
2021 12 31
G.9
2019 12 31 264
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17

-12

2020 12 31 269

39

2021 12 31 290
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2021 2021 2021
2021 12 31 12 31
@ / @
2021 12 31 o @
Ariba Technologies India
Private Limited,
, 100 80,790 9,481 34,185 1,281
Ariba Inc., )
, 100 1,318,872 499,785 5,276,448 1,772
Concur Technologies,
Inc., ,
, 100 1,621,912 188,665 7,878,818 3,485
Qualtrics. LLC,
100 898,901 -1,440,737 8,228,091 3,380
SAP (China) Co., Ltd.,
) 100 1,106,711 -1,577 -213,060 6,147 (16)
SAP (Schweiz) AG, ,
100 1,092,657 127,116 264,263 810
SAP(UK) Limited,
, 100 1,235,416 60,404 45,239 1,697
SAP America, Inc.,
, 100 6,215,786 -309,232 19,337,747 8,731
SAP Argentina S.A_,
100 162,335 3,129 67,259 1,132 (16)
SAP Asia Pte. Limited.,
100 550,036 7,457 -6,721 1,110 (16)
SAP Australia Pty Ltd,
, 100 740,871 44,741 67,725 1,205
SAP Brasil Ltda,
’ 100 467,512 -22,415 44,060 2,379 (16)
SAP Canada, Inc.,
’ 100 1,036,257 139,927 700,086 3,012
SAP Deutschland SE & Co.
KG, , 100 4,921,867 946,574 1,912,583 4,463 (7),(9)
2021 2021 2021
2021 12 31 12 31
) / 1)
2021 12 31 O @
SAP Espafia — Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y Productos
en la Informatica,
S.A., ,
100 510,602 29,557 341,508 791
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SAP France,
s 100 1,099,071 198,617 1,794,013 1,506
SAP Hungary Rendszerek,
Alkalmazasok és Termékek
az Adatfeldolgozasban
Informatikai Kft.,
R 100 133,643 4,563 23,817 1,163
SAP India Private Limited,
’ 100 633,680 103,453 359,149 2,125
SAP Industries, Inc.,
, 100 588,508 105,770 1,122,929 276
SAP Italia Sistemi
Applicazioni Prodotti in
Data Processing S.p.A.,
, 100 615,004 37,154 265,312 750
SAP Japan Co., Ltd., ,
100 1,251,106 138,785 458,761 1,318
SAP Labs Bulgaria EOOD,
, 100 78,971 3,321 21,544 1,125
SAP Labs India Private
Limited, ,
100 628,073 60,855 205,586 9,882
SAP Labs, LLC, s
, 100 575,665 159,933 608,787 1,893
SAP México S.A. de C.V.,
, 100 415,025 26,097 111,265 964 (16)
SAP National Security
Services, Inc.,
s 100 858,772 127,178 651,935 636
SAP Nederland B.V.,
, 100 708,927 208,699 443,701 610 (11)
2021 2021 2021
2021 12 31 12 31
1) / 1)
2021 12 31 1 2)
%
SAP Service and Support
Centre (Ireland) Limited,
s 100 209,533 14,186 50,793 1,705
SAP Services s.r.o.,
, 100 83,428 2,074 15,285 1,191
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@

“ SAP Kazakhstan* LLP, , 100
110405, Inc., , , 100
Abakus Ukraine Limited Liability Company, , 100
Ambin Properties Proprietary Limited, Johannesburg, ,

100 (16)
Apex Expert Solutions LLC, , , 100
AppGyver Inc., , , 100 (4)
AppGyver Oy., , 100 (4)
Ariba Czech s.r.o., , 100 (16)
Ariba India Private Limited, , 100
Ariba International Holdings, Inc., , , 100
Ariba International Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100
Ariba International, Inc., , , 100
Ariba Slovak Republic, s.r.o. 100
Ariba Software Technology Services (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., , 100
Ariba Technologies Netherlands B.V., 100 (11)
Business Objects Holding B.V., 100 (11)
Business Objects Option LLC, , , 100
Business Objects Software Limited, (Trading as SAP Solutions), , 100
Callidus Software Inc., . , 100
Callidus Software Ltd., , 100 (10)
Callidus Software Pty. Ltd., , 100
CallidusCloud (India) Pvt. Ltd., , 100
CallidusCloud (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., , 100
CallidusCloud Holdings Pty. Ltd., , 100
CallidusCloud Pty. Ltd., , 100
Christie Partners Holding C.V., , 100
Clarabridge Netherlands B.V._, , 100 (4)
Clarabridge UK Ltd, , 100 (4)
Clarabridge, Inc., , , 100 4
C-Learning Pty. Ltd., , 100
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ClearTrip Inc. (Mauritius), , 100
ClearTrip Inc., , 57
Clicktools Limited, , 100 (10)
CNQR Operations Mexico S. de. R.L. de. C.V., , 100
Concur (Canada), Inc., , 100
Concur (Czech) s.r.o., , 100
Concur (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur (Germany) GmbH, . 100 (8),(9)
Concur (Japan) Ltd., , 97
Concur (New Zealand) Limited, , 100 (14)
Concur (Philippines) Inc., , 100
Concur (Switzerland) GmbH, , 100 (13)
Concur Holdings (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur Holdings (Netherlands) B.V., , 100 (11)
Concur Technologies (Australia) Pty. Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (India) Private Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., , 100 (16)
Concur Technologies (UK) Limited, s 100
ConTgo Consulting Limited, , 100
ConTgo Limited, , 100 (10)
Crystal Decisions (UK) Limited, , 100 (10)
Datahug Limited, , 100 (12)
Delighted LLC., , , 100
Emarsys Beijing Limited, , 100
Emarsys eMarketing Systems GmbH, , 100
Emarsys [iletilHim Sistemleri Tic. Ltd Eti., , 100
Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH, , 100
Emarsys Limited, , 100
Emarsys North America, Inc., , , 100
Emarsys Pte. Ltd., , 100
Emarsys Pty Ltd, , 100
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Emarsys S.A.S., , 100
Emarsys Schweiz GmbH, , 100
Emarsys UK Ltd, , 100
EMARSYS-Technologies Informatikai Szolgaltato Kft., 100
Engagor N.V., , 100 (4)
Engagor, Inc., , , 100 (4)
Ess Cubed Procurement Proprietary Limited, , 100
Extended Systems, Inc., , , 100
Financial Fusion, Inc., , , 100
FreeMarkets Ltda., , 100
Hipmunk, Inc., , , 100
hybris (U.S.) Corporation, , , 100
hybris GmbH, , 100 (8),(9)
Inxight Federal Systems Group, Inc., , ,

100
IP Asset Holdings.LLC, , , 100
LeadFormix, Inc., , , 100
Learning Heroes Ltd., , 100 (10)
Learning Seat Borrowings Pty. Ltd., s 100
Learning Seat Group Pty. Ltd., , 100
Learning Seat Holdings Pty. Ltd., , 100
Learning Seat Pty. Ltd., , 100
LLC ““Emarsys””, , 100
LLC “ SAP Labs~”, , 100
LLC “ SAP Ukraine” , , 100 (16)
Loyalsys GmbH, , 100
Loyalsys Technologies Israel Ltd., , 100
Market Metrix lberiaS.L., , 100 (4)
Market Metrix Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100 (4)
Market Metrix, A Clarabridge Company, LLC, , ,

100 (4)
New Debden Merger Sub 11 LLC, , , 100
Nihon Ariba K.K., , 100
OrientDB Limited, , 100 (10)
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Outerjoin, Inc., 100
OutlookSoft Deutschland GmbH, 100 (8),(9)
Plat.One Inc., , 100
Plat.One Lab Srl, 100

PT SAP Indonesia, 99
Q(AGF2) Inc. 100

QAL Technologies Pty Ltd, 100

QCL Technologies Ltd., s 100

QFL Technologies S.A.R.L., , 100

QIL Technologies Limited, 100

QPL Technologies sp. z0.0., 100

QSL Technologies Pte., 100
Quadrem Africa Pty. Ltd., 100
Quadrem Brazil Ltda., 100
Quadrem Chile Ltda., 100
Quadrem International Ltd., 100
Quadrem Netherlands B.V., 100 (11)
Quadrem Overseas Cooperatief U.A., , 100
Quadrem Peru S.A.C., , 100
Qualtrics Holdings Inc., 100
Qualtrics Hong Kong Limited, , 100 (4)
Qualtrics India Private Limited, 100 (4)
Qualtrics International Inc., , 74
Qualtrics Ireland Limited, 100 (4)
Qualtrics Japan LLC., , 100
Qualtrics Korea, LLC, 100 (4)
Qualtrics Mexico, S. DER.L. DEC.V., 100 (4)
Qualtrics Netherlands B.V., 100 (4)
Qualtrics Provo HQ, LLC, S 100 (4)
Qualtrics Sweden AB., 100
Qualtrics Switzerland AG, 100 (4)
Qualtrics Technologies Brasil Ltda. 100 (4)
Qualtrics Technologies Spain, S.L.U., 100
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QUL Technologies Limited, , 100
SAP (Beijing) Software System Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP (China) Holding Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP Andina y del.Caribe C.A., , 100 (16)
SAP AZ LLC, , 100
SAP Belgium — Systems, Applications and Products S_A., 100
SAP Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Bulgaria EOOD, , 100
SAP Business Services Center Nederland B.V.,
100 (11)
SAP Chile Limitada, , 100
SAP CIS, LLC, , 100
SAP Colombia S.A.S., , 100 (16)
SAP Costa Rica, S.A., , 100 (16)
SAP [88R, spol. s r.o., , 100
SAP Cyprus Limited, , 100
SAP d.o.o0., , 100 (16)
SAP Danmark A/S, , 100
SAP Dritte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs
GmbH, , 100
SAP East Africa Limited, , 100 (16)
SAP Egypt LLC, , 100 (16)
SAP EMEA Inside Sales S.L., , 100
SAP Erste Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs
100 8),9)
GmbH, ,
SAP Estonia 0U, , 100
SAP Financial, Inc., . 100
SAP Finland Oy, s 100
SAP Foreign Holdings GmbH, , 100
SAP France Holding, S.A., , 100
SAP Global Marketing, Inc., , , 100
SAP Hellas Single Member S_A_, , 100
SAP Hong Kong Co., Ltd., , 100 (16)
SAP Hosting Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100 (8),(9)
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SAP India (Holding) Pte. Ltd., . 100

SAP International Panama, S.A., , 100

SAP International, Inc., , , 100

SAP Investments, Inc., s s 100

SAP Ireland Limited, , 100 (12)

SAP Ireland US - Financial Services Designated Activity Company, 100

SAP Israel Ltd., , 100 (16)

SAP Korea Ltd., s 100

SAP Labs France SAS, . 100

SAP Labs Israel Ltd., , 100

SAP Labs Korea, Inc., , 100

SAP Latvia SIA, , 100

SAP Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., s 100

SAPMENAFZ L.L.C., , 100 (16)

SAP Middle East and North Africa L.L.C., , 49 (5),(16)

SAP Nederland Holding B.V., , 100 (11)

SAP New Zealand Limited, , 100

SAP Norge AS, , 100

SAP North West Africa Ltd, , 100 (16)

SAP Osterreich GmbH, , 100

SAP Perii S.A.C., , 100 (16)

SAP Philippines, Inc., , 100 (16)

SAP Polska Sp. z o.0., , 100

SAP Portals Europe GmbH, , 100

SAP Portals Holding Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100

SAP Portals lIsrael Ltd., , 100

SAP Portugal — Sistemas, Aplica¢des e Produtos Informiticos, Sociedade

Unipessoal, Lda., , 100

SAP Projektverwaltungs- und Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100

SAP Public Services, Inc., DC, 100

SAP Puerto Rico GmbH, , 100 ®.©.
(16)

SAP Retail Solutions Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH, , 100
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SAP Romania SRL, , 100

SAP Saudi Arabia Software Services Ltd, , 100

SAP Saudi Arabia Software Trading Ltd, , 75 (16)
SAP Sechste Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs GmbH, ,

100  (8),(9)

SAP Siebte Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs GmbH, ,
100 (8).(9)

SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o.,

100
SAP Slovensko s.r.o., , 100
SAP Software and Services LLC, , 49 (5),(16)
SAP Svenska Aktiebolag, , 100
SAP System Application and Products Asia Myanmar Limited, , 100
SAP Systems, Applications and Products in Data Processing (Thailand) 100
Ltd., ,
SAP Taiwan Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP Technologies Inc., , , 100
SAP Training and Development Institute FZCO, , 100
SAP Turkiye Yazilim Uretim ve Ticaret A.[{., , 100
SAP UAB, , 100
SAP Ventures Investment GmbH, , 100 (8),(9)
SAP Vierte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Vietnam Company Limited, , 100
SAP West Balkans d.o.o0., , 100
SAP Zweite Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, , 100 (8).(9)
SAP.io Fund, L.P., , , 0 (6)
Sapphire Fund Investments 11 Holdings LLC., , , 100 (6)
Sapphire Fund Investments 11, L.P., , , 0 (6
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, L.P., , , 0 (6
Sapphire SAP HANA Fund of Funds, L.P., , , 0 (6)
Sapphire Ventures Fund I, L.P., , , 0 (6
Sapphire Ventures Fund Il, L.P., , s 0 (6)
Sapphire Ventures Fund 111, L.P., , , 0 (6)
Sapphire Ventures Fund IV, L.P., . s 0 (6)
Sapphire Ventures Fund V L.P_, , , 0 (6)
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Sapphire Ventures Fund VI, L.P., s , 100 (4),(6)
SAPV (Mauritius), , 100 (6)
Signavio ANZ Pty Ltd, , 100 (4)
Signavio Benelux B.V., , 100 (4)
Signavio France S.A.S., , 100 (4)
Signavio GmbH, , 100 (4,17
Signavio India Private Limited, , 100 (4)
Signavio ItaliaS.r.1_, , 100 (4)
Signavio Japan KK, , 100 (4)
Signavio Pte. Ltd., s 100 (4)
Signavio Schweiz GmbH, , 100 (4)
Signavio Sweden AB, , 100 (4)
Signavio UK Ltd, , 100 (4)
Signavio, Inc., , , 100 (4)
Statwing. LLC., , , 100
SuccessFactors (Philippines), Inc., , 100 (16)
SuccessFactors Cayman, Ltd., , 100
SuccessFactors, Inc., s , 100
SurveyVitals A Qualtrics Company, LLC, s , 100 (4)
Sybase Angola, LDA, s 100 (15)
Sybase lIberia S.L., , 100
Sybase International Holdings Corporation, LLC, , 100
Sybase, Inc., , , 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa Region) Proprietary Limited, 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa) Proprietary Limited, 100
Systems Applications Products (South Africa) Proprietary Limited,

70 (16)
Systems Applications Products Nigeria Limited, ,

100 (16)
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Technology Management Associates Inc., , ,

100
Temkin Group,LLC. , , 100
TM Property Holdings.LLC. , , 100
TomorrowNow, Inc., , , 100
TRX Europe Limited, , 100
TRX Technologies India Private Limited, , 100
TRX UK Limited, , 100 (10)
TRX, Inc., , , 100
Usermind d.o.o Beograd, s 100 (4)
Usermind International, Inc., , s 100 (4)
Usermind International, LTD, , 100 (4)
Usermind, Inc., , , 100 (4)
Volume Integration, Inc., , s 100
1 IFRS

/
(2 2021 12 31 FTE
(€] HGB, 285 313 SAP S_E.
HGB, 313(2) 3 4 286(3)1

(4 2021
G SAP SE
(6 SAPSE SAP.io Fund, L.P, Sapphire Fund Investments I, Holdins.LLC., Sapphire Fund

Investments 11, L.P.,Sapphire Fund Investments 111, L.P., Sapphire SAP HANA Fund of Funds, L.P., Sapphire Ventures
Fund I, L.P., Sapphire Ventures Fund 11, L_P., Sapphire Ventures Fund 111, L.P, Sapphire Ventures Fund 1V, L.P.,
Sapphire Ventures Fund V, L.P., Sapphire Ventures Fund VI L.P., SAPV (Mauritius

SAP IFRS 10
¢ SAP SE

@ ()

(9 HGB, 264(3) 264b

(10 2006 480 2021 12 31

11 2 403 2021 12 31 2021 9 30

SAP SE
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(12 2014 6 16 365 2021 12 31
13 727a 2 2021 12 31 2021 9 30
(14 1993 211 (3 2013 45 (2)
2021 9 30
(15 2013 10 1 147/13
2021 12 31
(16 SAPSE
@7 202 1 7 SAP SE
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China DataCom Corporation Limited, , 28

Procurement Negocios Eletronicos S/A, , 17

SAP Fioneer GmbH, , 20
G )

83North 1V, L.P., )

Adverity GmbH, )

Alation, Inc., ,

Alchemist Accelerator Fund | LLC,

Aleph-Bigg SPV, L.P., ,

All Tax Platform - Solucoes Tributarias S.A.,

Amplify Partners 11 L.P., ,

Amplify Partners 111, L.P_, ,

Amplify Partners IV, L_P., ,

Amplify Partners Select Fund 1V, L_P.,

Amplify Partners, L.P., ,

BGS Holdings, Inc., , ,

Bitonic Technology Labs, Inc., ,

Blue Yard Capital 1 Alternative GmbH & Co. KG,

Blue Yard Capital 1 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Blue Yard Crytpo 1, L.P.,

Boldstart Ventures V, L.P., ,

Boldstart Ventures VI, L.P., , ,
Brightfield Holdings. Inc., ) ,
By Capital 2 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Canvas Ventures 3, L.P., ,

Catchpoint Systems, Inc., ,
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G )

CDQ AG, ,

Chalfen Ventures Fund I L.P.,

Chalfen Ventures Fund Il L.P.,

CircleCl, Inc., ,

Clari.Inc., Inc. )

ComponentLab Inc., , s

Contentful GmbH, ,

Costanoa Venture capital 11 L.P_, ) )

Costanoa Venture capital Qz, LLC, , s

Costanoa Venture capital 111 L.P., , s

Creandum SPV TR (D) AB, ,

Culture Amp, Inc., , s

Data Collective Il L.P., , ,
Data Collective Il L.P., , ,
Data Collective IV, L.P., , ,

DataRobot, Inc., s

Digital Hub Rhein-Neckar GmbH,

Dremio Corporation, ) ,
FeedZai S.A., ,

Felix Capital Fund 111, ,

Felix Ventures 11, L.P., ,

Finco Services, Inc. (dba Current),

Follow Analytics, Inc., , ,

GitGuardian SAS, ,

Greater Pacific Capital (Cayman) L.P., ,

Haystack Ventures V. L.P., , ,

IDG Ventures USA 111, L.P., , ,

IEX Group, Inc., , ’

InfluxData, Inc., , ,

Initialized CBH SPV LLC, , ,

InnovationLab GmbH, ,

innoWerft Technologie- und Grinderzentrum Walldorf Stiftung GmbH, ,
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Integral Ad Science Holiding Corp., , s
Involve.ai, Inc., , ,
JFrog, Ltd., ,
JupiterOne, Inc., , ,
Kaltura, Inc., , )

LeanData, Inc., s ,

LGVP F I LLC, s ,

Local Globe Opportunity Fund, L.P_, , )

Local Globe VII, L.P., , ,

Local Globe VIII, L.P., , s

Local Globe X, L.P., St., , ,

Local Globe XI, L.P., St., , ,

Mango Capital 2018, L.P., , ,

Mango Capital 2020, L.P., ) ,

Matillion Ltd., )

Medable Inc., , ,

Mosaic Partners 11, L.P., )

Notation Capital Il CIRC, LLC, , ,

Notation Capital Il, L.P., , s

Notation Capital 111, L.P., , s

Notation Capital, L.P., , ,

NOTATION I SPV SV OCT 2020, LLC, , s

OpenX Software Limited, , ,

OpsRamp, Inc., , ,

Pendo.io, Inc., , ,

PivotNorth Early Fund 1. L.P., , ,

Point Nine Annex GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Point Nine Capital Fund Il GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund 111 GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund V GmbH & Co. ,

Project 44, Inc., , ,
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PubNub, Inc., , ,
Reltio, Inc., ) ,
Restream, Inc., s »
Ridge Software Investments I, LLC, , ,

Ridge Ventures 1V, L.P_, , s

SafeGraph, Inc., , ,

Side, Inc., , ,

Smart City Planning, Inc., )

Splashtop, Inc., , ,

SportsTech Fund, L.P., . s

SportsTech Parallel Fund, L.P., ) )

Spring Mobile Solutions, Inc., , ,

StackHawk, Inc., , ,

Storm Ventures V, L.P., , ,

SumoLogic, Inc., , ’

Sun Basket. Inc., , ,

SV Angel 1V, L.P., , s

Tetrate.io, Inc., , ,

The SaaStr Fund 11, L.P., , ,

The SaaStr Fund, L.P., , ,

Third Kind Venture Capital . L.P., ,

Third Kind Venture Capital 111, L.P_, , ,
Tribe Capital LLC Series 3, ,
Tribe Capital LLC Series 3, , s
UJET. Inc., , ,

Unmind Ltd., s

Upfront vV, L.P., , ,

Uptycs, Inc., , ,

VerblIT, Inc., , ,

Vistex, Inc., , ,

Walkabout Ventures Fund Il L.P., , ,

Yapily Ltd., ,
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Zesty Tech Ltd., ,
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(6.10)
2002 2

161

2021 2020 2021 2021 10

Web (www . sap.com/corporate/en/investors/governance)
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SAP sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidated Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Adiditional
Stakitoiders Management R eport ‘Bstemants IFRS Sy tadnabality I boen

4l Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

£ miliorn, udess olhereine Habed Hates 2021 2020 2049
—

Clowd A8 8,080 a933
Saoltware lcenses 3,248 3,542 4533
Saltware uppon 11412 11,506 11547

Soltwoe icerses and suppot 14,660 15,148 16,085

Cloud snd sohwars 2078 ;2 308

Services 1764 4.110 4541

Total reveris A1), (E2) 17,842 27,338 27,553
Cout ol clowd -3,10% - 2608 2534
Cost ol seftwale licenaes and suppor ~1925 -2,008 ~2.159

Cent ol doud mnd soltware 5030 -4.707 4,802

Cont of sendoes 2018 3178 3562

Totad cout of revenss =186 = 7,006 =1L 755

Gross profit 18,097 19,453 18,195

Reprarch ared developrm -'E.il.ll;'- —A4.454 A28

Sokes and marketing ~7505 -7,106 ~7,603

Getrver ol tanvi] Eed MArwE LT3 Zza3 1,38 1829

Restnaciuring JBE) 157 3 1,130

Cithat ot aling] Foomelecpenie, el 43 Ba 1

Tetal sperating expermed =23,186 -20,715 -23,081
Crparating pra 556 6623 4473
Othes ating inco melexg ., it e 17 =173 =74
Fiante o 3,123 1473 78T
Finance costs £ 697 585
Finameial incama, net fC.a) 2174 EE bt
Profit be fore tax i BT T.230 4506
Ircome e eperse [E5) ~1471 1,038 -1,226
Profit aker tax ; 5376 5,283 s,:?u.
.IME.III owrers of poient !-2;1! .‘:.us 3.-3-21
Py — 124 118 50
Eamings ped shase, basic fin €} (C.5) 4B 435 2.78
Eamings per share, diluted {in €} (C.&) P 4,35 78
Thee accompanying MNobes e an inlepral pat of theve Corsolidaled Firnanclsl Stalenents.
165/z30
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To Our Combined Goup Consolidated Fimanchal  Furiher informaion on Adiditional
Stakitoiders Management R eport ‘Bstemants IFRS Sy tadnatality I boen

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

£ i Hales 20zl 2020 2009

&l Profit after tax
Tuemis el will il e reclassiiod o perolil of loss
Rernessurements on defined beredil persion plans, before Lo
Incarne Lawes felaling! I rereatunerrents on delined berefit permicn plarn
Aememsuremonts on defined benelit pension plars, netol toe
Other comprehensive inoomes for fems that will not be reclessifed bo profis or toss, et of tax
Tiemes s will be redassified subsequendy bo prolit or loas
Gains (losses) on enchinge diferences o tansis ton, before too
Reclassifzation sdjusiments on exchange dflencnoes on ranaluson, belone L
Exchange differen ces, belone L
Ingomne et relating] 1o pxchange diferences on rarslation
Exghangli diffensnoes. ret af us
(s (losses) of gash Bow hodgesieost ol hedging, belom b
Reclassifzation sdpnment on cash Mow hodgeucedn of hedgng. belore Lax
Cash Row hediirs oot of hedging. belone ke
Ingoene Wwed felating 1o Coh Mow Redpeiioost of Pedng
Cask fow hedgen'eost of hedgingg, nol of te
Other comprehendive income for e that willl be reclaidifed to profit or leds, net of ta
Dher comprehensive income, nel of tax
Total comprehenshe ncoms
Atnbariable o oarers o parend
Alibastnl 10 RO SONEOHnG e 5

T dod it i) Mbolirs et i el il oF thici Coorviialafialiod Firid it SLlidiants

166338
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43

2815

2,855
-2

£ 2848

o

2818
2053

B.052

172

5,283

8|8 &8

3,370

57

=52

537

S3E
403

3204
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To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Staktoiders Management R eport ‘Bstemants IFRS Sy tadnatality I boen

T consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31

£ millinm Hales 231 2020
—
Cirsh il Cirgh poquivabenis (.3 a%E 5511
Cther financal rswets (DUER, {E.3) 2758 14635
Trade and ather receivables 42N 8.3%2 L5k
Ot non-Bnandial psseld e TR o ] Lm 131
Vol SHA1E . ] :WE nn
Totad cusment assets T4 15,069
Gaeschail 0.32) 31000 27538
intangibie aviets EX 3,784
Prnpcny.ph.nl.-nhd ruifsmaont (2.4 AT S0a1
Other Ir;muai [t o -'E:{ [ 7] s.'r.rs. 51z
Tracho and other recohvatles 42 ) u! 137
Cther non-finanial ass ety (A3p, 4620 2are 1920
Tt aiiely 263 Fioh
Delemed lax aniets .5 L 1,188
Tatsl nan-surmint aiiety !-1.:..‘:5 *Hﬁ
E— ':1.:.9-9 55,1;54
Trade and other payables 1580 1,367
ToxBobles s atd
Firueciol LishRtes (E.2), (05 LE > | 2348
et - firvoroi ol linhilie s (&30, /8.5, [G.2) 5203 4843
PrOYvEaonS ), (&), fa5), [BE) B3 73
Conwit lahiues Al AA¥L KR
Todal cunment Babilities 16.136 12,842
Tﬂdl‘ﬂ'ldﬂhfl‘!ﬂ'pﬂbh‘l :.zz . a8
T luhhu o a7 no-:r
Firuecial LishBes 11042 13804
Ot o firsedt ol linbiite s (L W e 5 o
Provinacrm fh.4], (840, f85). (B.5) 55 k.
Defered tax labdites [C.5) 1 158
Contract l.um-.un a1y u :u
Tetal ron-cirerd abilite & 13510 15,696
Total Nabiinias TR 28,557
Isziied capitsl 1209 1229
Shive Memam LEle 545
Retoired earmings 37022 IZ0G
Dy cormponents ol equily 1mr -1.042
Treasury shares —3072 -3072
Equity attributable to owners of parent 53 29,718
Hon-sontrolling inderests (E2p 2ETE 211
Totod squty £2) alsz e
Tetal squity and labilites TL1ES ShARd

Thee accom pacying Metes ae an integral pa of these Corsolidaled Financial Stalements.
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Additional

Irdboammia thoen

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
Equiny Aunbaiiable 1o Owrirs ol Patent

& midim,

Holes
Vizols

.nlﬂ'm.ﬁud.l;-f R

Other comprehertive ncame
Camprefarive ines e
.Shm-rbamd P
Devidersds
Hyperinllaton
Other changes
12733019

Al Frralit ailler b

Qiher comprefhersive Noame
Comprehonsive indo me
Share based payments
Cividereh.
Furchase of ireasury shares

Changes in non-conrolling
mlerl

Other changes
LIS

ol Preafit aller ta

Gither comprehersive income
Coamprihsnilve indame
Shshe Bated payments
Dividenids.

Tranvactons with non-controlling
il

Ot changi
12301

L1123

L

1223

Share Rebmired
Esming

3 27,336
EREH

1004

&l

4
545 32,026
5356
) 34
5190

1373
2182

1933

o
1918 ez

Tewr BEComparying MNoles @e an ol pael of e Corrolidned Firancial Stlenents

168338

Qth
COmponents
of Equity

B2}
L3

]

L0

2

=100

2768
2,768

1757

247/382

Treasuny

5 . Tobs

rE2
= 1,580 28,761
E R

AB3

1,492 ~1492

-3,072 9,716
S.154

2802

1373
L1BE

1933

=3,072 38,853

Fion
Confrolling
Inlntests

&5

211
L

51
1T
an

2050

14

Toil Equity

28,807
3.aro
483

-1.810

]

30,82F
5,283
2752
2531

1868

1,482

mar
5378
.253
8230
1884
=2 271

=30
41,523
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To Our Combined Group Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statements IFRS Sarstanabiity Indomation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

€ miltiorr Mabes 2021 2020 2008
.quPrnlrnu tax 5376 5283 3,370
Aduaimenis to reconcile profil afier 1o to net cash Mow bom operating activites:
Drepéecialion and amartizalion D 2E-{D 2} LT 1891 1mr2
S —— 3] 2704 1084 187
2l Imeone La pxponie fi=t]] 1471 1538 1,226
sl Financial ingoene, net 4 —zam4 775 -198
Deoraseinomate in sllowsnces on rade recelables =11 1] 14
.aw.aﬁrmml.ﬂﬂnm-mh i‘l-n‘M. - . H -198 .-H
Decrrasaincresst in it and othir racohables atd uit 1488
Drecle e e a%e i Ot B4LEN 706 851 58F
Ircrease'decrease in trade payables, prowisions, and oter Uabi ies 475 203 8
Increasciderrease in conyoot Labdites 100 128 oEd
Share based payments -1.120 1310 1,257
intsrestpaid 202 2 =
Intefeil Mg ohoed -‘.'d. b ¥ or
I.rme-t;om-:pud.nnnrrehlﬂ: --!.DI;B -1.104 -2.31
Mt cash Aows bom operating sctivites [ Fek ] T.154 2486
Carsh o Tor business combinations, net of cash and cash equivalents acquised fot) =1,142 662 6,215
Carsh M from sale of submidianics of busnesses -7 208 &l
P\.rﬂmr al hurqul.t BESECE I'l'd.'pfqh:it’, plang, H\ﬂcqq:ml. -'-BIJ;} -éiq. -él?
Froceeds from sales of intangible assets of property, plant, and equipmens ;i|1 f:::] 7L
Purchaso ol cquity of deb irsuments ol ather rr‘ﬁu.bl. 4,388 -2.535 GO0
Proceeds rom sales of equiy or debt nstruments of other engties a,:z.zn 735 -]
Net cash flows fram Investing sctivitles 2063 -2088  -7001
Dividersds. paid {E2) 2182 1,804 1,790
Dividersch. paid on ron-connelling meresls -5 F -7
Purchase ol treasury shares ] 0 -1,402 o
Progeeds liom changes in cwmership inberests in subsidianies that da not resull in the (oss of contel 1E28 s o
Proceeds I;r\or;m-nrr\uwhg . . fE3) 1.m: 2132 3822
Repayiveint of borowings (3 o8z 2430 1368
Paymonts ol leay e lisbdities -374 -3 A0
Tranisetond with non-conroliing inleneily [ 4] - -39 L
Mt gash Novws brem financing ot ites -5 -3,997 1
Eﬂl.:lnl hnlp1 CLETRRICY rates Dﬂ.ﬁllh and cash lql.d\utnl:l. -II.I-I -E.ll e
“dlﬂﬂlﬁ;ﬂ:rlm h:u.h.lr.ldi:uhﬂ:.-dfdm: :l,;l? 3 -l -3.513-
B Cash and cash squivalents st the beginning of the pariod Y a1 5314 el
B Cash and cavh squicslents a the end of tha period [ ] i 5311 5314

Thee accompanying Moles e an inlegal pae of these Conanlidaled Firancisl Stalements.

1693
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To Our Combined Group Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstadnakality Indbpmma thosn

Notes

(IN.1) Basis for Preparation

General Information

The registered domicile of SAP SE is in Wallderf, Germany {Commercial Register of the Lower Couwrt of
Mannheim HRB 719915), The Consolidated Financisl Staements for 2021 of SAP SE and its
subsidiares (collectively, Swe” "us” “oun” “SAPR" Group,” and "Company”) have been prepared in
accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS).

W have apolied all IFRS standadds and intepretations tat wers effectve on and endossed by the
European Union (EU) a5 at December 31, 2021 There were no standands or interpretations as at
December 31, 2021 impacting our Consolidated Fnancial Statemeants for the years ended
Decermber 31, 2021 2030, and 2019, that were effective but not yet endarsed. Therefore, our
Consolidated Fnancial Statements comply With Do, IFRS as issued by the Inlermations Accounting
Standards Boad {1A5B) and IFRS as endorsed by the EL.

Owsr Executive Board approved the Consolidated Financial Statements on Februany 23, 2022, for
submission o our Supendsory Board which approved the Consobdated Fnencial Statements on the
seme day.

Al amounts included in the Consolidated Fingncel Steiements ae reported in millons of euros

(€ millions) except where otherwise stated, As figures are rounded, numbers presented throughout
this document mey not &dd up precsely to e oiels we provide and pencentages may not precisely
reflect the absolute figures.

Armourits disclosed in e Notes hal ane L directly Trom aur il Consalidamd Income Statmments
or our B Consolidated Statements of Fnancial Position ane marked with the symbols sl and P&
FRSEECLveLy,

Accounting Policies, Management Judgments, and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

How We Present Our Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

To ease the uncerstanding of our financial statements, we present the accounting policies,
management judgments, and sources of estimation unceramnty (rereafien Bocounting polices,
|udgrents, g esimates) on & given Subject ogether with oher disciosures related 0 the same
subject in the Note thet deals with this subect, Accounting policies, judgments, end estimates the: do
rat relate to a spectic subject are presented in e Tollowing section.

For gasier identification of our accounting policies, judgments, and estimates, the respactive
dsclosures ane marked with the symisol @;f-d nighlighted witty 8 light grey box, They focus on the
accountng cholces made within the framewors of the prevaiing IFRS and refrain from frepeating the
underlying promulgated IFRS guidance, unbess we consider it particularly important to the
understanding of 8 Nates conient

170338
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To Our Combined Group Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statements IFRS Sarstanabiity Indomation

The following teble provides an overview of where our sotounting policies, management judgments,
&nd estimaces are ¢iscosed:

Hote B aceouriting Poliches, Jutigrents, snd Exlimates
T B Tor Proparabion

(N2} implications of Iu: covin ].'I'!""an.-ldnmc

fA.d) Revenue

Ml Trade and Other Recehrables

:.'.-.il Gapialired Gost Iom Contracts with Customens

fa.a) i CusiomerRelabed Prowvisions

i Shire -Brsed Poymnis

i) Peresion Plans ard Shmilar Obligoiions

(B.5) et Employes-Relabed Oblipatons

(8.5) Rt mucnating

(ca) Riiudrs ol Sepments

€5 Incoene Thned

(o) Burviness Combiration. and Dives e

o3 Gl

o3 Intengdtd e Assels

(el] Froperty, Flant, and Equepment

(e ] Leses

fie 1] Equity Imvestments

fE.2) Total Equity

[E.3) ; Lty

{F) Finarsial Risk Factoft and Rk Managemin]

{F.2] Eoir Vsl Dricloiiees on Finbncial InGensments

G2 | O Liigation, Cloirm, and Lagsl Conlingencins

G5 Expasive ond Supondcony Basnd Compersation
& General Accounting Policies
Bases of Measurement

The Consolidated Finandial Statements have been prepared on the historical oost basis except for the

following:

= Dervative nancial instruments, liabilites for cash-seliled share-bDased payments, and fnanoal
assels with cash flows that ane nol solely pments of principal or interest a7 measured af fair
wallne,

— Post-employement benefits are measured al the present value of the defined benelit obligations
less the fair value of the plan assets

— Monetary assets and liabiities denominated in foreign currencies ane rranslated at penod-end
exchange rates,

= The financial starerments of our subsidiaries o which hyperinfation accounting applies are restated

Foreign Currencies

Income and expenses end operating cash flows of our forefgn subsiciaries that use a funciionad
currency other than the Euro are ranslated at average rates of foreign exchange (FX} computed on a
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maoniily basis, Exchange differences resulting from fomign currancy rénsactions dne recognized in
other non-operating incoeme/expense, net

e CXCIENEE raes of i'.l'!’!,l'!:ul"l’ﬂl'lﬂ-e.‘u aﬁ'ec'.mg the I:l:lf!"lp:'r'l}‘ were a3 follows:

Exchange Rates

Ml Rate
Erpivalent i £1 o8 6112701

2000

L5, doilar LD . 127
Jdpparseir yen S HH-..:'-‘?
v rane CHF 1080z
Conaian dollae CAD 15533
Auniralisn dolls AD 15058
Cost Classification
Cost of Clocy amd Sefiane

Cost of doud and solftware includes the costs incumed in producng the poods and providing the
senvices that generate cloud and software revenue, Consequenty, this tine item primarily includes
SMOYEE CHPEnses relating o hese sendces, amorizaten of acquined intangibies. fees for thind-pary
licenses, depreciation of our propérty, plant, end eguipment {for example, of our data centers in which
wae host our cloud soluthans), and costs for thind.party hosting senvices, FOor mone information soout
the capitalization of costs frim CoNIECts With customers, sea Aore (A3

Cost of Senaces
Cost of senvices includes the costs incurmed In providing the services that generane Service revenue.

Conseguenty, this line item primarily includes employes expenses and related ralming. system and
system admnistration costs, and costs lor thind-pary resources.

Researnh and Developrnant

Reseach and development includes the costs incured by activites related to the gevelppment of
software solutions (new products, updates, and enhancements) including resource and hardware
costs lor the development systems, For mare information about the recognition of intemally generated
intangble assets from developmient, see More (2.3

Lales amnd Marketing

Sales and marketing includes the costs incurred for the selling activibes (sudh &s sales commissions
and emartizetion of capitalized sales commissions) end marketing ectivites related 1o our software
and elowd solutions end our service portfolio. For more information about the cepielizaton of costs
from contracts wWith cuslomers, see Mo (A3

Gerteral and Admnistraton

General and administration includes the costs related to finance and administrative functions, human
resounces, and general management as long as ey ane not directly atinbutable to one of the other
OpEraing expense line iems,

&) Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of tha Consolidated Fnancial Statements requires ol management o make
judgments, estimates, and assumpiions that affect the spplication of eccounting policies and the
reponied amounts of assets, lablites, revenues, and expenses, & well &5 disclosure of contingens
liebdities.
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We base our judgments, estimates, and assumptions on historical and forecast information, and on
regianal and induslry economic conditions in which we of our cuslomers operate, Changes o thesa
contions could adversety affect our estimates, Although we beliove we have made reasonable
astimates abolt the ullimate resolution of He underdying uncertainties, no assurance can be gven
hal the fired outcome of these maters Wil De consistent with what is rellecied in our recognized
assats, babilites, revenues, and expenses and disdosed contingent labdities. Actual results could
differ significantly from onginal estimates.

The ecopunting policies that most frequenty or significandy reguire us to make judgments, estimates,
and assumptions, and therelors ane critical to understanding our results of operations, incude the
following:

Hotn 2 Significant Accounting Polickes

Ay l‘.r:nmv l!% o .

A Woluation ol Irede recrivables
:;f-#.l.:'-."l!.' Aropunang for kegal contingendes
:’-ﬂ.-iul- Fm.lm” k- share baned payments

{i& i.' Acoounang for ncome taaws

o) Amm.lwng foe birsiness combinasons

IJ .;'I mfﬂlm

.43 Acgounsng for intanpible mcuim mv.itimq;r.nll:mdl.y Renerled nlrmr: asseh I'rnm
development)

fiel ] A . bor ety

Our management periodically discusses these sigreficant accountng policies with the Audit and
Compliance Commitiee of our Supenvisory Boad,

) New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

The 1ASE has issued various amendments to IFRS standerds (such as 1AS 1 (Classification of
Liabilities as Cusrent or Mon-current), IAS 37 (Provisions, Contingent Liabilites and Contingent
Assets)) that ase relevant for SAP but not yet effectiva. We are currently in the process of finalizing the
assessment of the impact on SAP, bat do not expect material effects om our financial position or
results of operations.
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(IN.2) Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic
Z) Management Judgments and Estimates Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Management judgments and estimates can affect the amounts and reporting of assets and labilities
as at the reporting date, and the amounis of incomea and expense reported lor the pefod. Due o the
Bobal consequences of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, these management ulamens and
astimabes continue to be subject o uncertainty. Actual amounts may differ from e managemant
Ut gEmenls and estmales; changes could hewe & maten sl impact on the Consolicated Finarcial
Staberments, All availabie sformation on the expected economic developments and country-spediiic
governmentasl mitigation measures was included when updating the man agemaent judgments and
astimates. Thes information was also incuded in the analysis of the recoverability and collectabaity of
assets and receivables

As the pandemic continues, it remains difficult to predict its duration and the magnitude of its impact
on assets, Habilites, results of operations, and cash flows. We based our inangal-statement-related
estimates and assusnptions on-existing knowdedge and best information available at the time, and
applied a scenano that assumes the COVID- 19 siuation will contnue to improve as vaccine programs
continue to take effect gobely, leading 1o a8 growing demand ervironment in 2022,

We will contnue to analyze possible fulure effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the measurement of
Individual assets and Uabilies.

Tre impact of global traved restrctions on SAPS Concur Dusness conbnues, leading 10 an averal
further dechne in pey-85-y0u-go ransacionsl rewenues &5 part of S0 TWare 85 & Service reveniLe
(defined inm Nore (A 10 compared o 2020, Over the course of the second Relf of 2021, such revenues
have started to increase again

Tre overasdl impact of the COVID-19 perdemnic on SAF'S consolicated financial stalemenis has not
been significant
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Section A - Customers

This section discusses disclosures related to contracts with our customens. These include but are rot
Lmited to explanatons of how we recognize ravenue, revenue disaggregation, and information about
gur trade receivenles and customer-related obigations,

(A.1) Revenue
& Accounting for Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Classes of Revenue

We derive gur evenue from lees charged o our customers for the use of our cloud offerings, lor
Ucerses 1o -our on-premise sofware products, and for standerdized and pramium sUpDOT Servions,
consultng customer-speclic software developments, raning and other Sendices.

Cloud and software revenue, 45 presented in our Consolidated Income Statements, is the sum of
our cloud revenue, our software license revenue, and our software support revenue

Cloud revenue represents fees eamed from providing customers with any of the following:

Sofvare 45 8 sendce (Saa5), that is, & right 1o use software functonality fneluding standand
functonalides and custom cloud spplications and extensions) in a ciowd-based infrastruciune hosted
by SAP or thind parties engaged by SAP, where the customer does not kewve the right 1o terminate the
hosting contract and take possession of the software to either rum it on is own [T infrestnuciure or 1o
engage a third-party provider unrelated o SAP to host and manapge fhe software; Saa% also includes
transaction and agent fees for ransactions thal customens of our nebyork business exe cube on our
clowd-based transacton platforms.

Plarform as a senace (Paas] that is, access to a cloud-based platferm to develop, deploy, intégrate,
and manage applications,

INfrasrUCUne 45 0 sensce [1aas), that is; hostng and reated spplication management senvices for
saltware hosted by SAP or third parties engaged by SAP.

Prornium cloud sunporT, 1etis, supDor bevord e regulsr support embedded in the underying
clowd subscriplion Services

Software license revenue represants fees eamed from the sale or lcense of software to customers
for use on e cuslomer’s premisas, in ather words, whene te cusiomer s e Aght o Lake
possession of the software for instaliafion on the customer’s premises or on handwane of third -party
hostng providers unnilated o SAP (on-premige soffware). Software license revenue includes sevenue
from o the sale of our stendand softwane progucts and customer-specific on-premise-softwarne
oevelopment agreaments:

Software support revenue represents fees eamed from providing cusiomers with standardized
suppiet seryices that comprise unspecified future software updates, upgrades, and enhancements as
well as technical product support senices for on-premise soffware products,

Services revenue primarily represents fees earmed from professionsl consulting senvices. premium
SUPPOIT Serices, B Iraining sendices.

Identification of Contract

We freguenitly enter into multiple contracts with the same customer. For accouning purposes, we
fresl these conracts &s @ sngge contract if they ane entened into &1 or neer the seme tme and ane
econemically interrelaied. We do not combine contracts with closing days more than three months
spert Decause we do not consider them being enterad into nesr the seme tme, Judgment (s requined
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i ava!fuan'r&g whather various contracts are intermelated, which includes considerstions a5 to whather
ey were negoltiated as a package with a single commencial objective, whether the amount of
consigeration on ong coniract i dependent on the performance of the other contract, or if some or all
goods in the contracts are a single performance obligation,

New aranpements with exising customers can be either & new contract or the modification of prigr
contracts with the customes. Our judgment in making this determinalion considers whether there is a
connection bebween the new arrangement and the pre-existing contracts, whether the goods and
senvices under the new arrangement ane lighly intemelated with the gobds and services sold under
peior confracts, and how the goods and - sendces under the new arrangement are priced. In
determining whether a change in Transaction price regresents & confract madification or a change in
varable consideration, we examine whether the change in price results from changing the contract or
from applying unchanged existing contract provisions,

Identification of Performance Obligations

Our cusiomer confrects often include vardous products and services: Typically, the products and
senvices gutlined in the Classes of fevenue section qualify as seperate performance obtigations and
the portion of the contractual fee allocated to themn is recogmized separately. Judgment s required,
rowever, in determining whether & good oF senice 5 considered & separate perfformance oblgation.
In particular for our professional senvices and implementaton activities, judgment is required to
eveluate whedher such sendces significantly Integrate, customize, or modify the on-premise software
or clowd service towhich they relate, In this context, we consider the nature of the senvices and their
volume relative to the volume of the on-premise software or cloud service to which they relate, In
peneral, the implementation sendces for our dloud senvices go beyond pure setup activities and
gualify as separate performance obligetions, Similesdy, our on-premise implementabon sendces and
our custom development services typically qualty as separate perforrmance obligations, Non-distinct
goods and senvices are combined into one distnet bundle of goods and senvices (combined

performance obligation).

Whan selling goods or services, we frequently grant customers options to acguire additonal goods or
senvices {for example, renewals of renewable olferings, or additional volumes of purchased softwara),
We appdy judgment in determining whether such optons provide a matenal right 1o the customer that
the customer would not recee without entedng into hat contract (material Aght options). In this
judgment, we consider, for example, whether the options entitie the customer toa discount that
exceads the discount granted for the respective goods o senvices sold together with the opton.,
Determination of Transaction Price

We apoly judgment in determining the: amount o which we expect o be entitled in exchange for
transfeming promised goods or services to a customer, This indudes estimates as to whether and to
wiat extent subseguent concessions may be granted to customers and whether the customer is
expected to pey the contractusl fees, In this judgment, we consider our history with the respective
CUSTDMEr OF on & portfolo Desis,

Qur typical cioud senices G0 not provide e cuslomer with & software Hoense Docsuase the Cusiomr
Goes not heve tee rght to terminate the RosEng contrect amnd take possession of the softwane,
Conseguenty. cloud fees that are based on ransaction volumes ane considensd in the rensaction
price based on estimales rather than being accounted for as sales-based license royalties.

Only very rarely do our contracts include significant financing companents. We do not acoount for
financing companents if the period beteeen when SAP ransfers the promised goods or services 1o
the customer and when the customer pays for those goods of Senvices s one year o less.

Allocation of Transaction Price

We have established a hierarchy to [dentify the standalone seling prices {55Ps) that we use to
allocate the ransaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the coentract

= ‘\Winene standalone seling prices for an offering are observeble and reasonanly consistent across
customers (that is, not highly variable), our 55P estimates are derived from our respective pricing
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history, Typecelly, our standandized support offerings and our professional service olferings follow
this approach,

- ‘Where sales prices for an offering ane not directly observabee or highly varfable across customers,
we use estimaton technigues, For renewable offerings with highly variable pricing across
customers, hese technigues consider the individual contract’s expected renewal price as far as this
price is substantive, Typically, our cloud offerings follow this approach, For non-renewable
offerings, these esimations follow a cos-pius-mangin approach

- For offerings that lack renewsls, have highly varsble pricing. and lack substaniial direct costs 1o
estimate based on @ cost-plus-margn epproach, we alocate the fransaction price by applying 8
residual approach. We use this technigue In particuler for our standerd on-premise soffware
offerings.

Judgment is reguired when estmating 55Ps. To judge whether the historical pricing of our goods and
services is highly vanable, we have established thresholds of pricing vanability. For judging whether
contractual renewsl prices ane substantive, we hawe establshed floor prices that we use as 55Ps
whenever the comiraciual renswal prices ane Dedow thesa floor prces. In udging whether contracts
arg expocied 10 renew 8t thedr confraciual rersewal prices, we rely 00 our respeciive rerewal histony.
The 55P% of matenal right oplions depend an the probability of option exercse, In estimatng these
prodabilites, we apply judgment considening historcal exencise patiems.

We review the 55Ps pericdically or whenever facts and drcumstances change 1o ensune the most
objective input parameters avalabie are used,

Recognition of Revenue

e revenue i mmgﬂized over ime a3 he sendces arg perdormed, Where our performance
obligation is the grant of a right to continuously access and use a cloud offering for a certain term,
revenue s recognized based on tme elapsed and thus ratenly over this term, In Ubmited scenarios
whera the transaction price is entirely variable and determined by the customer’s usage, we recognize
revenue based on usage in the period in which it was eamed.

Safware revenue s recognized af a point In time or over tme depending on whether we deliver
standand softwars, customer-spocific sofwane, or soltwane substriplion contracts 1hal combine the
delivery of sofiware and the obligation to deliver, in the future, unspecified software products:

- Ligenses for our stendand on-premise sofiware products are typlically éelivered by providing the
cusiomer with access 1o downtoad the software. We recognize revenue for these on-premise
licanses at the point in tme when we grant the license rights to the custemer and the customer has
acoess to and thus control over the soffware. In judging whether our on-premise software offerings
Frant customers a nght to use, rather than a fignt o access, owr intellectual property, we hawve
considered the usefulness of our software without subsequent updates to it

= Tymecally, our cusiomer-specific on-premise software development agreements:

= Are for software developed for specific needs of individual custarmers and theralore it does not
hawve any gtermnative use for us

= Provide us with an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date

For such developenant agreements, we mc:}mim mvinLe over Ume as the software development
progresses. Judgment is reguined in identhdng &n appropriate method to measure the progress
tovwward complete satisfaction of such performence obligations. We typically measure progress of
our development agreements based on the direct costs incurred to date in developing the software
as-a percentape of the total reasonably estimated direct costs to fully complete the development
wirkl [percentage-of-completion method). This method of measuring progress faithiully depicts the
transfer of the development services to the customer, as substantislly all of these costs ang cost of
the stalf or third parties performing the development worlc In estimaling the total cost to fully
compete e development work, we consider our histony with. similar projects.
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= For agreements that combine the delivery of software and the obligation to deliver, in the future,
unspenilic softwane prodiects, we recognize revenue at a point in teme for icenses thal are made
Immediately socessible (o the usoman Wi MCognize revenue ratably over the term of the
soltware subscription contract for the unspecified soltware products, as our performance oodgatan
is to stand ready to deliver such products on a when-and-if-available basis.

Safmvane supoart revenuels typically recognized based on time elapsed and thus rataibly over the
term of the suppaet arrangement. Under our standendized support services, our perfoemance
obligation is to stand ready o provide techrical progduct support end unspecified updates, upgrades,
and enhancements on a when-and-if-available basis. Our customers simultaneoUsty recaive and
gonsume the benefits of these support sendces &5 wie perfonm,

Senace revendels typacally recogrized over tme, Whene we stand ready to provide the senvice (such
a5 access 1o leaming content), we recognize revenue based on Gme elapsed and tus ratably over the
service period. Consumption-based senvices {such 85 separately identfisble consulting services and
premium support sendces and classroom raining sendces) are recognized over ime as the services
are wiilized, ypicaly following the percentage-of-completion method or raably, When using the
percentage-of-completion method, we typicaily measure the progress toward complete sabisfaction of
the performance obiigation in the same way and Wit the seme reasoning end judgment as we do for
cusiomer-specific on-premise softwere development agreements. We apply judgment in determining
whether & senice gualifies as a stand -ready senice or a5 & consumplion-based senice.

Revenue for combined performance coligations Is recognized over the longest period of &l promises
in the combired performance obligaton.

Judgrment is also reguired o determine whether revenue s to be recognized at 8 point in ime o over
tme, Far perlormandce obligations satished over Gae, we need lo measure progress using the methaod
that best reflects 5APs performance. When using costincurmed as a measure of progress lor
recopgnizng revenue owver ime, we apply judgment in estimating the tonsl cost o satisly the
perloerancn oblgation,

All of the judgments and estimates mentoned sbove can significanty impact the tming and amoeunt
of fevenue ba Be recogned,

Contract Balances

We recognize trade receivables for performance obligations satishied ower time gradually as the
performance obligation is satisfied and in full once the invoice is due. Judgment is sequired in
determining whether a rdght to consideration ks unconditonal and thus gualifies as a receivable.

Contract liabilites primarily reflect invoices due or payments received in advance of revenue
recogniton

Typacally, we invpice feas for on-premise stendard softwane oa contract closure and softwan delvery,
Perigdic fixed fees for cloud subscription sendces, software support services, and other mult-period
agreements ane typically invoiced yesrly or quanerly in advance, Such fee prepeyments accownt for
the majority of our contract Uatelity balance_ Fees based on actual transaction volumes for cloud
subscripiions and fees charged for non-peroedical services are Involced as the services ame delvenad
While payment terms and conditions vary by contract type and region, owr terms hypically require
payment within 30 1o 60 days,

Geographic Infomation

The amounts for revenue by region in Se following tables sre based on the location of customers,
Thie regions In the following table are EMEA (Eurcoe, Middie East, end Africa), Americas (North
Amarnica and Latin America), and AP) [Asia Pacific Japan).
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Total Revenue by Region

€ millions 021 2020 EL
;Emnw . 4,343 . -.1;0.15 .3.945"
Fleat al EMEL Frr Bosz P
EmEs ' 12589 12,087 12,108
Urited Stales 88T f.110 085
Restof Americas 2059 LGa0 2,100
Americas :w.mr' 1106 11,184
Jopan ' 1301 1305 1180
Fiest al &P 2984 2850 3074
LTy -uﬂ 4.16% 4,754
&l B4 Group el ] 22330 27,553

Major Revenue Classes by Region

Closd Reverae Clowd and Soffware Rerenue

£ milllons

B3 2020 000 20; M0 29
EMES, 3,308 Z B 2115 10931 plok- ¥ ] 10,218
-‘\.ITEI:FE&S ‘:ﬂﬂ"‘ ] .*Aan 3.“5- ¢ ﬁ.“ﬂ ﬂ.]ﬁ .9..112
Py 1217 460 e aTem 1434 16
&l 5AF Group 418 8,00 6,933 24,078 e 23,043

For informaton apout the breskdown of revenue by segment and Segment revenue by regon, see

Remaining Performance Obligations

Amounis of @ customer contract’s ransaction prce mat &g allecaisd 1o the remainng perlormance
ooligations represent contracted revenue that has rot yet been recognized, They indude amounts
recogized 85 contract babilifes and amounts thal are contrected but not vel due

e ransaction price allocated w performance obigations that were unsatsfied or pardally
unsaisfied a5 a1 December 31, 2021, was €39.9 billlon (December 31, 2020: €334 bilion), This
amount mosty compeises obligations o provide sofowere support or cloud subscripffons senvices, a5
the respecive conracts ypcaly heve duratiens of one or mulbple years. The portion of remaning
performance obligations releted to senices consists of non-carcelable revenue from contracts for
prajects with a predefined output.

Tre mgonty of his amount i$ expecied 0 De recognized as evenue oeer the nexd 12 months
Tollowang the respectve balance sheel date, Ths eRimate is Dased on our best jedgment, &5 i1 needs
o consider estimates of possible fulure contract modifications, The amownl of Iransacton price
aliocated o the mmanng performanct oDURETONS, and changis m Mis amount gwer ume, &g
impacted by, among athers,

- Curmency fluciuaZons

— The confract period of our cloud and softwane support contracts remaining at e balance sheet
date nd thus by the tming of confract renewals

Contract Balances

The foliowing table prasenis the activities impacting contract labilities balances during the year ended
Decemiser 31, 2021
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Contract Liabilities

€ Bellions. 2021
F vuzozs® a0
ISt el lireg) Mbﬂuﬂ Mmﬁw# 'B.'B
.Betmm:mfmnnju;hﬂqnﬂi pcﬂmm ;1;
Dther! .;M-
B ansuren 4

P Ther i year frambier wirk reduicnd By ©£0.2 bilion o confiorm 1o e phesenilaion fquanceeen] i ganding payments received in
sdvance lof cancelable contracts. The correiponding Balance i preseried in the line *Tipde and offer payabled ”

Other includes, Tor example. the impact of forelgn cumency translation and business soquisition

Trie- amauant of revenue mcogrized in e repoting pened hat was included in e contract Uability
betance at the beginning of the reporting period was €3.6 billien {December 31, 2030; €3.5 bilion)

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

Z) Accounting for Trade and Other Receivables

We measure rade receivebies and conract assels frony contracts with Cusiomers 8% emortized cost
less expacied cradit losses. We account for expectad cradit losses by reconding an allowwance on &
portfolio basis. We apply the simplified impaimment approach. On initial measurement af the
recenables, we consider all credit losses that are expected to acour during the [Hetime of the
receivables, We use & provision marix (o esimane these losses.

Additonally, we recognize allowances for indhidual receivables if tere [s objective evidence of credit
impairmant

Actount balanoes are written off either partially or in Full if we judge that the lkefhood of recovery is
ramote.

For information about how the defaull risk for race recefvables is analyzed and managed, how the
lass rates for the prosvision matix ane determined, how credit impairment is determined and what our
criteria for write-offs are, see the section on credit rsk in Mo (£1)

I our Consolidated Income Statements, net gainsosses from expocted credit loss allowances &
included in Other operating incomedexpense, net. GainsAosses from foreign curmency exchange rabe
Hluctuations ane Included in Other non-operating income/expense, net

Determining our expecled oredit loss allowance involves significant jedgment in this udgment, we
primarly consider our historical experience With credit losses in the respective provision malrix risk
class and current data on ovendua receivables, We expect that our hisloncal defsult rates represent a
reasonable approximaton for future expecied customer defaulis. Bosides historical data, our
judgment used in developing the provision matrix considers reasonable and supportable forwand-
looking information (for example, changes in country risk ratngs, and ucsstions in credit defsult
swaps of the countries in which our customerns are located),

The assessment of whether a receivaible is colectible imvolves the use of judpgment and reguires us o
make assumpdions about custormer defaults tat could change significantly,

By applying this [udpment, we recond an allowence for a specific customers when it s probable that s
credit loss has eccurmed and the amount of the loss Is reasonably estimable, Basing the expected
credit loss allowance for the remaining receivables primarily on our historical loss experience lkewisa
mequires jadgment, as history may not be indicative of fulure development Also, induding reasonable
and supportable forwand looking information in the loss rates of the expected credit loss allowance
Piguines idgment, 8 they May ol provide & relable prediction for future devieloprrent
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Trade and Other Receivables
2021 2030
Current  Non-Cument Tatsl Cument  Mon-Cuerend Total
Trisclir hi eraeligs, Foil S50T 1 iRl 4109 EE] L H
Other receivables 465 146 611 ] 103 182
F Tetal & F5 147 £A09 £,593 137 E,730

Contract assets as at December 31, 2121, wera €360 millon (December 31, 2020 €205 million}.

For more information about Francial risk, how we manage credit risk, and detals of our rade
recedvables and confract assets allowances, see More (f 1)

{A.2) Capltalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

&) Costs of Obtaining Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs Inom customer conracts ane classified as Other non-finandcal assels in o
statement of inandal posiion.

The capitalized assets for the incremental costs of obtaining & customer contract primasily consist of
sales commissions eamed by our sales force and pariners. Judgment is required in determining the
amounts to be capitalized, Dﬂl"l.iﬂ..l!.dl‘i.'g." where the commissions ane based on cumulative Largets and
whemn commissions relate 1o multiple pedormance obdgalions in ane custormer contracl We
capitalize such cemalative Lée et commissions for all customer contracts that count towands the
cumulative tarpet but anly if nothing other than ablamng custormer coniracts can conidbuts to
achienng the curmulative target. Commissons lor Conracts with multinle perfonmance obligatons oF
for probabite renewals thered! afe allocated to these performance obligations and probable renewals
relative to the respecive standalone selling price.

Our SElES COMMisson Pyl for CLSIoMer Conract renewals am ypicatly nol commensurate with
the commissions peed for new contracts. Thiss, the commissions paid for rencwsable new contracts
also relate to expected renewals of these contracts, Consequently, we amortze sales commissions
paid for new cusiomer conrects on 8 sreEght-bne basis over the expected contract life induding
probable contract renewsls. Judgment i reguived in estimating these confract lves. In exercising this
judgment, we consider our expeciation about fullne contract renewsts which we eveluate periodically
to confimm that the resulting amortization perod propery reflects the expected contract Ufe,
Commensuraie payments arg smortized ower the contrect term 10 which they relate. The amortizaton
periods range from 18 months (o elght years depending on the type of offering. Amortization of the
capitalized costs of ablaining customer contracls i clagsifiad frainly as sales and mareling expanse.

We expense incremental costs of oblaining a custormer contract as incumed if we expect an
amartization period of one year of less,

©) Costs to Fulfill Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs incurrad to fullill customer contracs mainly consist of direct costs for set-up and
implementation of cloud products and custom coud development conrects a5 ler as these Costs an
mot in scope of other accounting standards than IFRS 15, These costs ame amortized after completion
of the selwp snd implementation o the development, respectively, 0n a straight-ine basis over the
expected Ufe of the cloud subscripion contract Including expected renewsis, For the Ufe of the
CONTACT, Wi CONSider our expectaton sbout future conPact rinewals which wi evaluste penodically
o confinm that the resulting amortization perod propery reflects the expected contract life, The
amartization periods range from six o elght years depending on the type of offering, In addition, the
capitalized costs include third -pary loense fees which are emortized over the term of the third-party
Lcense contract Judgmentis requined in evaluating whether costs are directly relaled 1o cusiomer
contracts and in estimating contract tves,

181s3=8
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Amortization of capitalized costs to fulfill contracts for custom clowd applications and extensions is
included in the costof dloud,

Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

rackd | 2020
o mrilliens.
Current  Mon-Current Tetal Currenl  Mon Curtenl Total
Capitolbred cowi ol obisning
Rl L eaT 21548 2820 EEH 15M 2028
Capiiolined cost io fulill
contacts 16 1Ts a1 o 151 FL kg
Capitallzed contract cost b 2033 127 S0y Len? 2270
‘B Diher non-financisl ssseis 1833 2558 4,261 1321 1028 3,247
Capitalized conzacy tedl
a5 % of - Other non Bnancal 40 a 73 44 &8 0
ansels
Amortization Expense
€ millions 2021 2030
Capitalired covl ol obisinng o lomer coniracs 523 450
Capiiodired cost o lullll comwaer conyacts iry b -]

{A.4) Customer-Related Provisions

(5] Expected Contract Losses

Customer-nelatd provisons mainly include expecied conract losses, We Bdust these EHOVISIONS 85
further information becomes avalable and as circumstancas change. Non-current provisions are
mgasuned 81 the present value of their expected setlement amounts &5 8 the repOing date,

The- unit of Booount for the identificetion of potential onenous customer confracts is based on the
contract definition of IFRS 15 including the contract combination gedance. The economic benefits
consigened in the assessment comprise te future penefics we are dinectly entided o under the
contract as well &s the anticpated future benefts that are the economic conseguence of the contract
il these benelits can be reliably delermined,

@ Customer-Related Litigation and Claims

Customer-relabed provisions also include obligations resulting from customen-retated litigation and
claims. We are currently confronted with verlols claims and legsl proceedings, Including claims that
relate to customers demanding indemnefication for proceedings initisted agamst them based on thesr
use of SAP solvware, and occasionally claims that relate to customers bieing dissatisfied with the
products ard sendces that we heve delivered to them. The obdgations asing from customer-related
Lt gation and clems Ccompeise CASES in which Wi indemnifyc our customers agamst babiliies arising
from & ciasm that owr products infringe: a thind pamy's patent. copyright. rade secret, or other
proprietany nghts,

Due to uncertainties relating to these matters, provisions are based on the bestinformation available,
Significant judgrment is required in the d stermination of wWhether and whon 8 provision is o be
reconded and what the approgriate amount for sech provision should be, Notably, judgment is
required in the following aneas:

= [Determining whether an obligation exists

18238
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— Determining the probalbility of outflow of economic benefits
= [Determining whether the amount of an obligation s reliably estmable
- [Estimating the smount of e expendiune requined 10 sette te present oblgation

ALthe end of each reporting period, we feassess the potentisl obligations related o our pending
claims and Utgation and sdjust oUr MeSpEcEvE provisions 1o reflect the cumment best estimate, In
SOGITon, W monitor and evaluate new informiation thal wie recaive after the end of the respective
repading period, but before the Consolidated Financisl Statements are authodzed foe ssue, o
determing whather this provides sdditional informaton reganding condisons thal existed 3t the end of
the reporting period. Changes to the estimates and assumptions undetdying our accountng for legel
contingancies. and outcomes thiat differ from these esimates and assumpaions, could seguire materisl
adiusiments o the cemyng amounts of the respective provisions recorded and additional provesions.
The expected trng or amaents of any outflews of economic penefits resulting from these lawsts
and claims are unoertain and not estmable. &5 they generally depend on the duration of the legal
proceadings and seflement negolations sglined 1o resolve the Wigaton and caims and the
unpredictability of the outcomes of legal dispUtes in several jurisdictions,

Contingent Fablites exist in respect of customer-related litigation and ciaims for which no provision
hat been recognized. R is not practcable to estirmate the Tnancal impact of these contingent Fabdities
due to the uncertainties around these lawsuits and clams as outlined above.

18333
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Section B - Employees

This section provides financial insights into our employes benefit arrangements. it showld be fead in
conjunction with the compensation dsclosures for key management personnel in Aot

(B.1]) Employee Headcount

The following table provides an overview of emplovee headcount. broben down by funciion and by
the regions EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Afica), Americas (North America and Latin America), and
APJ (Asia Pachic Japan),

Employee Headcount by Region and Function

12301 12312020 12312018
Fudl st qabvaberaly
EMEL  Amevicas g Total EMEA  Americas AR Total EMEA  Americos arJ Total
Cloud and soltwane 5547 4586 5113 15645 6278 4550 5525 16,392 6501 4,425 5,361 16288
Setvicts L] 5401 S04 10844 8175 5034 273 10842 #.250 8018 5871 20239
Reseanch
e 15,347 6,326 10571 32344 13,705 6,004 9,781 20,580 12710 5.703 9,131 27,634
Saley pnidl madeang 11,136 11503 S.AEl a: s 1 100348 10,485 5000 25,834 10005 10 558 5,200 25,781
Gencral snd
" e 3374 i Lige AT 3,265 P 1243 L1-00) ERT a2y 146 G530
Infraatnechse 2800 1,353 a4 4,708 2291 1.147 L2 Aoga 2210 Gy 054 auto
SAF Growp
7, 44,082 89 27,979 2430 & ¥ 37,571 100,330
[Checombess 31 46,641 LGS IH113 1074135 EL o4 F048 29712
Thiveal
462 407 45 G4 o] 27 5 TEL 3 1,638 137 Z,113
, .
SAP Group [manthi’
wivdd a4 45,353 0,651 TRTRL 104,764 43,340 3,305 27,830  10LA76 ATEWT 23,768 27,093 #AA5T
{B.2) Employee Benefits Expenses
o milliona. okl | 2000 2019
_—_—
Balorsrs 1058¥ LR E ] FLeT=E3§
Lokl 5 etunty expenses 1589 1,43 1477
“Thann B d payrienl opeiidd L4 1.044 1899
Pishgion expenies 08 418 ¥a
Employes-related resmciiing expenses i) =F 1,118
Terminaton Bene it susside of estnacising plans 101 Tz a7
Emgployee benefits expanies 15552 LRAT0 14870
18433
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(B.3) Share-Based Payments

&) Accounting for Share-Based Payments
Claszification [n the Income Statement

Share-based payments cover cash-settled and equity-settled awands issued 1o our employees. The
respective expenses gne recognized as emploves benefits and cassified in our Consoldated Income
Suberments acconding o the activites that the recelving emplovees perfarm.

Valuation, Judgment, and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

We use cerlain assumplions in estmatng the far values for our share-besed payments, including
expected share price volatlty and expected awerd Fle (which represents our estimate of the average
FEmaining lifer uevtil the swands are exercised or expine unexercsed). In addition, e final 4130 fior
plans also depends on the achisverment of performance indicators &nd on our share price on the
respictive exercise dates, Changes to These assumptions and outcomes that differ from these
assumptions could reguire material adjustments b The canmying amount of the Liabilties we have
recognized for these share-based payments. The (s value of the shase unils granted under the

LTI 2016 Plan are dependent on our pedormance againgt a group of peer companies (Peer Group
lInclene), the velatiny, &nd the expacied comelaton Delwien the price of the index and our shane price.
The fair value of the share wnits granted urder the LTI 2020 are dependent on our perfarmance
against the 1otal shareholder retum (TSR for NASDAD-100 companies. He volatility, snd the
expected comelation between the TSR of the NASDAG-100 companies and our T3R,

W betieve thet the expected voladlity is the most sensitive assumplion we use in estmating the fair
values of our share options. Regarding future payvout under our cash-settled plans, the SAP share
peice is the most relevant factor, With respect to dur LTI 2016 Plan; we believe that future payout will
e significently impacted not ondy by our share price but also by the relative performance against the
Peer Group Index. With respect to our LTI 2020, we believe that future payout will be significantly
impacted not only by our share price but also by the relative performance against the NASDAGQ-100
COMPENes, Fulne peyouts under gur LTI 2020 will aiso be dependent on meeling non-market-based
perommance conditons based on SAPS long-term stralegy. The Leter, however, i5 not mcorporated
Into-our feir valiue calculation but leads to adiustments of the guantty of swards granted. Changes in
these tectiors could significanty affect the estmated fair values a5 calosated by the valuation mocel,
and the futese payout.

T fair valwes of our equity-settled Qualincs Plan equal e Qualirics share price at grant date, as the
expected dividend yield Is 084, The future setlement of Performance Share Linits (PSUs) under this
plan will also ba dependent on meeting non-market-based Oualtrics performance conditions.

Under certain programs, we grant our employees discounts on purchases of SAP shares_ Since those
discounts ae not dependent on fulure sendces 1o be provided by our employees, the discount is
recognized as an expensewhen the discounts are grented,

Presentation in the Staterments of Cash Flows

We prasent the peyments of our share-besed payment plans separately in our Statements of Cash
Flows under cash flows from operating activities, As a result, the changes in other assets and in other
Labiities prasented in the reconcliation of operating ¢ash flow do not consider share-based payment-
relatid assels or Gabilities,

185/
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THe operaing @xpense line Dams in our inoome statement incluede the !'o!mw-g share-basad payrment
L il gt L

Share-Based Payment Expenses by Functional Area

£ milliend Tl D20 20%
Cont of hourd 58 w st
[P — 0 = a
Cont of seeies 4 475 248
Research aeed devtiopment B3 pre a9
Sahes nd marketing - £ 582
P ——— 1230 157 e
P — i 27M 1084 Leas

Therend cash-seifled share-baged poymmenis j _1:11;'- B3 1664

Treneod oguity 3e08ed thare Dused paymens 1617 191 s

Our major share-based payment plans are desorioed Delow,

a) Cash-Settled Share-Based Payments
SAP Long-Term Incentive Program 2020 (LTI 2020)

Tre LTI 2020 is & long-term, multi-yesr perfformance -based compensation element that s granted in
annual ranches, Tha LTI 2020 reflects SAPS long-term Srategy énd thus sels wnilom incentives for
the Executive Board members to achieve key targets from the long-term strategic plans. The LTI 2020
a0 senves to reward the Executive Board members for long-term SAP shane price performance as
compared to the markes, thus ensuring that shareholders' interests are also homored, In additon, the
LTI 2020 includes & component 1o ensure long-term reention of our Executive Board members

Trie LTH 2020 s & sl share program under which anmual ranches with a term of spproximatety four
years each ane granted. When the individusl rancihes are granted, 8 certein grant amount specified in
the Executive Board members service conract [ converied into viriual shares (Share units). For this
purpose, the grant amount is divided by the price of te SAP share which comesponds 1o the
arithmetic mean of the SAP snare price on the 20 trading deys after scheduled publicetion of the
preliminary resuls for the fourth quarer and the wesr as a whole (grent price). The share units
alloceted are composed of 1/3 Finencial Performance Share Units {F5Us), 1/3 Market Performance
Shese Units (MSUs), and 13 Retention Shsme Uests (RSUS), AL three hoes of share units heve &
vesting period of spproomately four years, In confrast o RSUs, F5Us and M5SUs sre subect to
changes in quaniity. In thes context, the Tollowing applies

Tre sumber af FSUs inigally swarded is muiiplied by a perlomance facior, The perlormance facior
conssts of tnee eguaty welghted indivddusl performance indicators relating to the three non-IFRS
KPI at constant corencies, dervad from SAP'S long-ter strategy: total revence, cloud revenue, and
operaing incame, The perfomance penod hroughout which the target achievement for hese thnee
KPP s measured sTAMs at the beginning of the financal vear in which the F5LUS are awarded and
conciutes upon the end of the second year following the yesr in which e share Lnils wene awanded,
Anumencal taeget vilue agusling 100596 targel achaevemienl 1S el for each KPL This constitles, =
each case, o cumulative value for the thiee vears of the performance period.

186/338
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The number of M5Us initally awarded is lkewise multipled by a performance factor. The
perormance faclor depends on the amount of the TSR on the 5AP share, measusad for an énlire
performante period of approdmately three years, compared o the TSR for NASDAG-100 companies.
If the TSR o the SAP share equals the median, e peflosmandce Tactor will be 100846, If the TSR on
the 5AF share over the performance period is negative, the maximum perfarmance factor will,
roweever, in deviation from the summany above, be 1009
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Trie performance of the share wnits (s lnked 1o te perfformence of the SAP share price, including
dividend payments. Accordingly, an amount is paid out for each share unit which equals the SAP
share price plus those dividends disoursed in respect of an SAP share in the perod from the
beginning of the year in which the share units were awarded untl the end of the thind yesr following
e year in which the share units were awarded, The grithmelic mean of the SAP share price on the
A0 trading days after scheduled publication of the preliminary resulls for the fourth guaerter and the
year 85 a ‘whole wil be used as the SAP share price. The payout emaunt per share unit, including the
dividend amounts due on the shame units, is capped a; 200% of the grant price. The tranche is cash-
seltied and paed in euros alter e Annual General Meetng of Shareholders of the cormaspanding year

IF&n Expcutive Board members Sensct contract is werminated belone the end of the thind yeer
following the wear in which the share units wene graned, the RSUs and PSUs are forfelted In whole or
I part, deperding on e dreurmstances of e relevant redgnetion from afice of tesmination of the
SEVICE CONTacL

Long-Term Incentive 2016 Plan (LTI 2016 Plan)

The purpose of the LTI 2016 Plan was 10 rewand our Executive Boerd membDers for the annuil
achieverment of SAP's operating profit (ron-IFRS 87 constant cumencies) tangets, to ensune Lomg-temm

1873
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retention of our Executive Board mambaers, and to seward them for the long-term SAP share price
performance as compared (o its man peer groun (Peer Group).

An LTI randhe was granted annually and has a term of four pears (H16-2019 tranches). Each grant
started with determining a grant &mount in eurgs. The grant amount was based an e Execulive
Board members’ contractusl LTI target amount and the operating profit target achievement for the
previous year The Supervisary Board set the grant amount at & level between 80 and 13004 of the
contractual LTI target amount, tEking into account the operating profit target achievement. This grant
amauent was converted inbo virwal shares, referred 1o as share wnits, by dividing the grant amount by
the grant price. The grant price was the arithmetic mean of the XETRA closing pricas of the 5AP share
on the 20 rading days following the publication of 5APs fourth-guarter results

All shere wnits granted i this way, Compasing 600 PSUL and 400 RSUS, ngve & vesting perod of
approcdmately four years, AL the end of the vestng period, the comesponding shere units are non-
torfeiteble. The payout price used for the serlement is the anthmerc mean of the XETRA dosing
prices of the SAP share on the 20 rading days following the publication of SAPs fourth-quaerter resuits
subseguent 1o the end of the vesting period, The payout price is capped at 3005 of the grant price.
e LTI tranche is cash-setiled and paid in euros a'ter the Annual General Sharehoiders’ Meeting of
e COFraEnongng vear.

Tre rumber of PSUs ulimatey paid out depends on the performance of the SAP share - absolute
arnd relative to the Peer Group Index, In contrest, the firel number of RSUS is fixed, SAPS absolute
sant price pedormance is measured by companng the grant price sgainst he payoul price, F the
SAP shame price performance eguals the Peer Groun Index perdformance over the same perod, He
perfoemance factor i5 setal 10094, If the SAP shase price porforms Demer than the Peer Group dex
{measured &s gifference between SAP share price performance and Peer Group kvdex performance],
the performance Lector (5 increased by the percintage point of e ouiperformance of the SAP share
price, The percentage point Is doubled if, additionally, the pavout price is higher than the grent price
Tre performence flactor (s capped 81 1503 If the Peer Group Index perfarms Deter than the SAP
share pAce, the perlormances lactor 15 decreased by the parcentage pormt of the oulperformance of
the Peer Group bdex, ALl PSUs lapse if the performance factor s below 505,

If an Executive Board member’s senvice confract is terminated before the end of the third year
following the year in which Bhe share unis wene granted, both the R5Us and P5Us are forfeited in
whole or in pert. depending on the circumstances of the relevant resignation from office or termination
of the senvice contract

Restricted Stock Unit Plan Including Move SAP Plan, Grow SAP Plan, and COVID-
19 Recognition Plan {(RSU Plan)

To retain and engage executives and certain employees, we grant wirlual shares representing a
contingent right to recelve a cash peyment determined by the SAP share price and the number of
shame units that utimately vest, in Jurse 2020 and 2021, we Frantid shine unils under the new
Grow SAP Plan, This fixed term plan has broadly the same terms and condifons as the

Maowe 5AP Plan, mc:rmizes all emnpioyses’ COMMErNent w0 SAP'S success, ard deepens their
participation in our future company performance. bn March 2021, we granted share units under the
COVID-19 Recognition Plan 1o thank all employees for their commitment, dedication, and resdience
Excent for-a six-month vesting period, this non-recuming plan has brosdly e same terms and
condilions as the Move SAP Plan,

Granted share units witl vest in different tranches, either:
- Owver a hall-yeer senvice period only
Onr & on-10-Teen-yes Sendice penod only, or
= Dwver & threeyedr sendoe perfod and upon achieving certain key perlormance indicators (KPIs)

From 2021 ormwands, the number of PSUs that wil vest under the different tranches is manly
contingant upen achieverment of two equally weighted KPIs in the yesr of grant: operating profit (non-

188338
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IFRS at constani currencies) and cloud revenue {non-IFRS at constent cumencies), Unol 2021,
aperating profit (non-IFRS at constant curencies) was the only KPL Depending an the weighted
average performance, the number of PSUS vestng ranges between 090 and 200580 of the number
initially granted. Perdormance against the KPI target was 130,994 in 2021 (2020: 100,456,

F019: 118 M), All share units are paid out in cash upon vesting,

Qualtrics Cash-Setiled Awards Replacing Pre-Acquisition Qualirics Awards
{Qualtrics Rights)

In conjunction with the scquistion of Qualtics in 2019, under the ms of e 20quEsiTon agnrement,
SAP exchanged unvested Restricted Share Awards (R5As). Restricted Shane Units (RSUs}, and
Performance Share Units (P5Us), and opSons held by employees of Qualtrics into cash-seitded shane
based payment awards of SAP {Qualtrics Rights). After completion of a voluntary exchange offer in
conjuncion with the Qualtrics 1PO n 2021, most of the Qualirics Rights were excnanged into equity-
sefled Qualinics RSU awards. For more information about this voluntary exchange offer, see the
section Qualtrics Equety Awards - Exchange Offer in this Aisde (8.3,

Tre valuation of our outstand MR Cash-Seiied plans was based on the 10'..0'.“!'!]; parameters and
SEEUMDLONS:

Fair Value and Parameters Usad at Year End 2021 for Cash-Sattlad Plans

LTH 2016 Fian LTI 2020 RSU Plan
£, uriess ofhermtie staled (20182019 (2020-2021 (2018-2021
Tranchies) Tranchies) Tranches)
‘Welghted average falr value as at I.'.n’il.li.’ﬁl BA16 118,73 122.08
Indormation Mow Tale valius wad msasured ab Mealuremant dats
Ogtion pricing madel used Honte Carla #onte Carle Other!
Share price 12490 12480 12400
Risk-fevo inkeeoud rale, depstreding on malufity (in %) 0,78 b 0,13 i, -0.73 8 0,22
Dpectedvolatlity fn W) T n 01032 T
Elq:-ecledmdend yield fin %) 152 o m 152
Weighted average remairdng Bife of swardh cutitanding a ot LFUH021 (i yeard] oy 8 11

L sl el s, S Dol valine i calomlated by sUbGTACEng this fet (lestnd valiie of evpectad funme dhadond paymines, i sy, untl
ey of thi et wntd fram the pevaling share pce ot at the vallaton date.
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Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2020 for Cash-Settled Plans

€, Ess ethivete stled LE;E:;?; 2020 ;lzx 12:[5!"-';; o"':::
Tranche) Trarches)
Weighted sverage babr value sy at 13312020 T 94,75 104952 A6
Indor mation P Tale vl was measuesd ab measuremant dals
Oiplion pricing madel used Manic Caflo Mo L Caflo D! DOithert
Share price Wz wrez wra vz
Rishfeer ingerest rate, depersding on matuity (in %) —0,75 1o 011 HA -077 tn .32 0,77 vo -0.37
Expercted volatlity [-Hn:i ?r-'l.Hr-l: w ] HA
Expercied didckerd yield (in %) l.;!-'l Bl 1.54 154
mwm remaining lile of awards cutstanding as at 1312020 L1 22 10 18

190338

| For these awards, B tar vadue i calouiated by sublracting the net piesont value of expocied futune dividond payments, B sny, entil
mahuity of the despecive avwaied from B prevaling shaie pice @ ot [hee valuslion dete

For the LTI 20016 Plan vauaton. e Peer Group e pace on December 31, 2021, was US5593.37
{2000 US3481.65); the expected ¢ividend yeld of the index of 1005 {2020 1, 14%), e expecied
voladiity of the index of 1796 10 189 (20200 2606 10 31%), and (he expecied correlation of the SAP
share price and the index price of 356 (o 36% (2020, 2794 o 305%) are based on historical data for
the 5AP share price and index price.

For the LTI 2020 valuation, the NASDAQ-100 Totel Retum Index on December 31, 2021, was
US510,217.94 (2020: USS15072.29), The expected volailiy of the NASDAD-100 companies of 35%
o 3E%E (2020 36%4), and the expected correlaton of SAP and the MASDAC-100 companies of 31% w0
3% (P0H 31%0) are based on historical TSR data for 5AP and the NASDAO- 100 companles.

The risk-free interest rame is defved from Geman govemment bonds with & siméiar duration. The SAP
cvidend yeld s based on expscted hulune dividends
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Changes in Outstanding Awards Under Qur Cash-Settled Plans

LTI 2006 Plan LT 2020 R5U Plan

Thotsands, unless otherwise siated (20072008 (20202021 {3017 2021 Ol.:li;:
Tearches) Tracsches) Tearcheed)
121018 1110 o 16,120 16,007
Grared o o 0238 o
Afurstment barsed Lpon KPI Larges achicvement -211 HA 5 ™
Evsrreed 9 ] T.204 7.8
Eorialtad 3 -3 1,164 -89
122008 T arz l.‘.“l 7.1-1:"
Graried o 8 12,204 [
Adyriment based upon KPI target achievement 1= M 153 na
F— . o o Y 1m0
Ecthanged [ hA 1300 5458
Fordeited £ 70 _1.365 243
1aau2erl a4gs kL] 18,783 L]
Totsl canngng amount (in € millions) of labfites as st
132020 a9 ] 1027 193
121302021 1] 15 L5 1
Total intrindic value of vested awards (in C millkana) as at
1213vz020 2 1 o o
121712021 m a 0 o
Weighied avsrage share price (in €} for awards oxsrcised in
0 12403 L 1o FE 1ida
%71 A0sen HA 1Wwree 108.18
Totsl expende ir C milliora) recogrised in
Fack -] A Paa 1047 461
020 -2 6 760 13z
Pl -11 2 LT 11
Share-Based Payment Balances
2021 2020
€ mittiors
Curret Man-C et Tatal CuTEnL Hon-CLETend Towal
Share-based payment labillses ax 282 L1302 853 454 1317
F ontrer nor fruretial ot 5,203 A0 £.083 a8a3 70 5413
mﬂm m’::“ Wt 18 54 n 19 50 2]
191,338

270/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP  sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Addiional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstadnakslity Irdbpermmas thosn

b) Equity-Settled Share-Based Payments
Recognized Expense for Equity-Settled Plans

£ millons 01 2020 5012
Lo 1) 200 191 Iy
Oustiies Plan a2 0 o
Gthers # o a
Total ]..HT 1858 i
Own SAP Plan (Own)

Under Own, emplovees have the opporuanity o purchese, on a moenthly besis, SAP shares without
any requined holding perod. The investment per each eligble emplovee is Umited fo & percentage of
the respactve emploves's monthly base salary. SAP matches the employes investment by 40% and
adds a subssdy of £20 per month for non-executives. This plan is not open to members of the
Executive Board,

Numbers of Shares Purchased
PR 2021 2020 2018

Ty 5T 55 5.2

As a result of our Cwn SAP Plan, we have commitments to grant SAP shares 1o employees. We intend
o meet these commitments by relssuing reasury shares or through an agent who administers the
equity-seftled programs and purchases shares on he open market YWe have fulfilled the obligations
of Cram therosgh an agent

Qualtrics Equity Awards
Qualtrics Omnibus Plan (Qualtrics Plan)

Qualrics grants equity swands settled with Qualirics sheres o eligible employees and the executive
officers of Qualirics. Qualtrics intends 1o meet these commitments by issuing shares, Granted units
are either RSU awards sulbject bo a time-based vesting, or PSUs subject to the achievernent of certain
performance conditions, as established by Qualtrics” board of directors and measured annually
{Quallrics R5LUs). Additionatly, there are Qualtrics eguity-setiled options resulling from acguisiions as
descrined below. The RSUs mainly vest with 258 one yeer after grant and ratably thereafter for 12
quarters, The P5Us vestin four equal annual installments and ane measured annually, with vesting of
10084 of each installment in the event that the performance targets are achieved, and ratable
downeand BiusTmEnts in the event that the performance targets are partially achieved.

Exchange Offer

After compileton of a voluntary exchange offer for elghle Queltnics employees in conjuncton with the
IPQ on Januery 28, 2021, 5.4 milon cash-setled Quaimes Rignts and 1.3 midlion SAP RS awands
wiere exchanged mto 128 milloen eguity-setiled Oualrics RSU awards, The terms and conditions of
ihe veduntary exchange offer, including the exchange ratio, were designed 10 presenve the intrinsic
walue of the Qualtrics Rights and SAP REUs that were tendered. The modtfication date fair value of
the Quallrics RS awards was USE30.00, which is equivalent (o the Qualiries IPO price,

Furthermone, 8 subsequent ochange offer for certéen Qualties employsiss in AUSFaD S Wk place in
September 2021

192338
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Gualtrics Equity-Settled Options Replacing Clarabridge Sptions

In conjunction with the acgquisition of Clacabeidge in 2021, Qualtics assumed outstanding Clarabridge
stock options, whidh were comverted into Qualtics options. The conversion factor was set to preserve
the intrinsic vaiue of the outstanding Clarabeidge optiens. The replacement awasds mirror the terms of
the replaced awards except that the awards are seitled by [ssuing Qualtrics shares while retaining
their inilial vesting schedules, For same Quallrics options, addibional vesting terms were agréed. The
majority of the assumed aptions were aither fully vested or partially vested as at the acguisition date
and hiad & shrikoe price well below The fair valee of the awards at the conversion date. The madificalion
date fair value of the stock options was determined to approsimate the intrinsic value of the options
with en underlying Qualtrics share price of US543.88

Changes in Qutstanding Awards Under Qur Equity-Settled Plans

Dumuics Plan’

Traoussnds, unlirss, atiwrvisn Sloed P WHDT:;EE‘E;
1zmLzze o A
Exthanged 1z Ussa004
Grarited BO.ESE ustaa 2
Everoveed =T ABT 1.;513!..43
Foeited 221 ustaize
1amaorl 4,008 L5531

e umtser of swirds ol Pes welghied aosttge prant Oote b b if P ek ot Gusiiecs B% U o Oualinds eguitysemied
opicns neplacing Clarateidpe ooSorm.

The weighted average remaining life of Qualirics Plan awards outstanding as at December 31, 2021
{in years) was 3.0 years.

Uridher Qualtrics’ equiny-setiled plans, we egpect o transher USS300 million [0 the L suthority o
settie the employeas’ tax obligaton i 2002

(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations
@) Defined Contribution Plans

Amounts for domestic and foreign defined contribution plans are besed on & percentage of e
emplopees’ salares of on the amount of contributions made by emoloyvess. In Gemmany and some
ather countries, we make contributions (o publc pension schemes that are operated by national or
locst govemment or similar instilutons. Expenses for such local state pension plans ane recognined as
short-term employvee benefits, that is, soclal security expenses.

) Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The discount rates used in measuring our post-employment benefit assets and labilities are derived
from rates available on high-quality corporate bonds and povernment bonds Tor which the tming and
amaounts of payments match the tming and the amouwnts of our projected pension payments. MNet
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized as employes
benelits axpenses and classified in our Consalidated Incame Staternents according (o the activites
that the employees owning the awards perfiorm. Since our domestic defined benefit pension plans
primarily consist of an emploves-financed post-retinement plan that is Tully financed with qualiling
insurance podicles, curment senvice cost may become a credit as a result of adjusting the defined
benefit Babilinds camying anvount to te lar valle 'of the qualifying plan assets. Such adjustments ane
recorded in sendce cost Total expenses on defined enefit pension plans comprise related curment
and past service costs as well as interest income and expense,

19333
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Total Expense of Pension Plans

€ millions. 021 2030 2me
Deefineed contribation plare 346 azo 314
Coefinadl by podridon plaf [-H LE) 8
Penshon experises 408 419 .

Defined Benefit Plans
Present Value of the Defined Benetit Obligations (DBO) and the Fair Value of the Plan Assets

riher Forckzn Post

£ e, Darmesbic P ang Fomipn Plana Employment Flans Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 200 2021 2020
5 :
Fresemt valus of the DBO 1154 1L1z7 BET GBS 218 F L) 2077 1932
Falr valuse of the plan assets 1183 111z 578 506 g1 73 152 1601
Mt dlufined baraBt llakdity fasset] u 1 " e 128 116 228 21
Ml defined bereft lobdity (wset) H S ol - 3 . -
E-NM-WLahr Truancial siets a L] o 0 o o [ a
B o cusrerr provialons ' 3 a ] a1 P a2 P P

Of the present value of the DBO of our domestic plans, €1,135 million {200 €1,054 milion) relate to
plans that provide for lump-sum payments nol based on final satany; of te present value of the DEO
of our foreign plans, €524 millien (2020; €479 milon} relate to plans that provide for annuity
payments not based on final salany

e foliowing significant weighted everage assumptions wore used for the sctuariel veluaton of our
comestic and fonkign pendion Uabilites as well a5 other post-employment benefil obligatons a5 &1 the
respective measurement date:

Significant Actuarial Assumptions

o P Forcin P Cthwer Fadeign Podt-Employment
Pl Plany
Wi 2000 W09 ohii 2020 oig 2021 2000 2048
——
fm""‘p o 12 og o8 a5 LE] 0.3 31 30 37

Tre sensithiny analysis table below shows how the present value of gl defined bénefit obl Ratansg
wilid have been merced by reasomably possible changes to significant actuarisl assumptions, The
Sensivity analysis consigers change in discount rete assumptions, howding all other schuanisl
ASEIMALoNS CONSLant

Sensitivity Analysis
Qe Foreign Past
Domestic Plang Forign Plans Total
€ mitior - e B .« it ek : ’
2021 20 2049 2021 260 10 303 X0 2008 2071 20N Mg
——— — — —

Prewam valus ol all delned
!H'ﬂl_.i‘“hl_'ﬂ_\l”:
Divrouri rate was S0 basis
poants Righer

v rate was S0 basin
points Lovwer

1134 He] L] axe 573 L] 203 165 154 1204 Laza 14817

1,260 1195 1,000 714 B53 5Th 223 204 159 2196 Iz 1825

194338
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Investments in Plan Assets

O invesiment srabey on domaestic beneahl plaes is 1o invest all contribulions in stable insurance
policies.

Or inviastrment strategies for loneign benelit plans vary acconding 10 he condiions in he country in
whiich e respectvie benefit plans are Siuabed, W hawe sdopted & long-term investment hosizon for
all rmajor foreigr barelit plans, Although our poloy i to svestin B risk-diversified portfolio consistng
of a mig of assets, both e delined benelit obtgaton and plan assets can Mucuste over tmae, which
exposes the Group to aclusnal and market (irmestment) risks. Depending on the statutony
FRGUIReMEnS in each country, L might be necessany 10 redude any urderfunding by aodition of liguid
855615,

Plan Asset Allocation

2021 2050

A rdllen Sueoted noan Mo Quoted b an Ouoiediman Mot Cuoled in on

Active Market Actiae Markst Acte Mokl Active Markey

Total plan adsss 557 1,154 455 1,207
Theteol: &suel calepgory I

Equaty Frwesimenis 1BZ =] 140 o

Cofpale boreh Eﬂ\;’. U %1 a

InasEpnoe pd.lm . H 12‘!-‘- 7 1207

Our expected contmbuton in 2082 o our ¢omestic and foreign defined benefit pension plans is
immaterial. The weghted dusstion of our defined benelit plans amounted o 11 vears a5 81
December 31, 021 and 12 years as at December 31, 2020

Total Future benefit payments from our defined Denefit plans as at December 31, 2021, are expected
o b €2,289 million (2020: €1,963 milion). Of this amount. 7796 (2020: 77%) has maturities of over
fie ey, and 623 (2020; 54%) relates (o domestc plans

195338
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(B.5) Other Employee-Related Obligations

Z) Accounting Paolicy
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As far as the ooligaton for long-ierm employed banefts is secuned by plirdgied reinsurance Coverage,

itls offset with the relating plan asset

Other Employee-Related Liabilities

2021

£ miliona.

Cuwrend  Mon-Cumment Tots
S e 3717 298 4,118
F Oiher reon- financisl Ush lities 5200 8a0 ansa
Other employestelated
Bolsditiiy a% % of 71 a0 an
F Other mon-financial lisbiites.

Cumerd.  Non-Cusment
K147 3%
4043 )

-] a1

Tobal

413

Other emplovee-related Uabilities manly relate to obligefons from bonuses and sales commissions,
outslandng vacalion, ime cradits accumulated in e workang Urme account, employed-related socl

SCUNTY EXDENSEs, SEVerance paymenis outsida ’ES.."'.JE'JJ"‘:!‘-E PrOgrams, and (LD B Ses,

(B.6) Restructuring
@) Recognition of Restructuring Provisions

We only recognize pronisions for restructuning it and when the following oocurs:

= SAP has designed a program at materisily changes the scope of ong of Our DUSIRESSES OF e

manner in which the business is conducted, and

= Adetailed &nd documenting restruciuning plan has been aponowed by our Executive Boand, &

member hereol, o & direct report of an Executive Board member, and

= The program established is planned (o start shortly after the program plan is approved and is

expacted to be completed in & tmeframe that makes significant chenges to the plan unlkely, and

= The program has been snmounced o he perties affected or hes commenced

W consider whether 8 change in busness (5 matensl based on the busness affected rather than for

SAP g5 @ whole, In judging whether 8 unit quatifies as & business for rRestruciuing pUFpOSeS, we

consicer il the unil has il own MEanagement eam, has sccess 1o ail mputs and proCesses NECessery

o provide outputs, and penerates or could generste revenues, The materality of a change to a

buginess i astessed based on both the #ze and the nature of the change and therefone does nol
riscessaily involve a material guantitabive impact on our financial statements.

To accelerate the modernization of our cloud infrastructure and to harmonize cur platiorm structune,
wie ibated a restructuring program in the Global Cloud Senices anéa, The implementaton started in

thir Tirst quarner of 2021 and (5 expecied o conclude in te first hall of 2023, The mapority of the

expenses recognized as a result of this program are impairments of datas centers and related assets,

Restructuring expenses presented in 5AP%s income statement primarily include the following

COMPEEnLE
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Restructu rlng Expenses

€ millions: 01 2020 2019
I —

Ernganyes Felaled Pt Cmn] EXpeivies -25 7 -1.111

QoL Corirael Fekstpd (e DEUS LG eYpenaEs ind

; -13 - -1
restnichsing telated impairment losses 2

&l Rparrutfing Sxpanses =187 a =130

If riot presenteg SeparatEy in our income stament, restruciuing expenses would Rave Deen
classified in the different expense items in our income staternent as follows:

Restructuring Expenses by Functional Area

£ millions 021 220 Rt
Cont of dlod -127 4] -0
Cont of soltware Boinies and suppart L 1 118
Cot ol SEnvices -13 -3 -154
Hrl.wl:;\l'ﬂ.dhﬂﬂpﬂm -1Z 1 ~467
‘Sufey ol markeling 2 a il
Generol and odmin raton -2 2 -7
T O -157 3 1170
197338
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Section C - Financial Results

This section provides insight into the finandal results of 5AP' reportable segments and of SAP overall
a5 far as not slready Covered by previcus sections. This includes but is not Umited 1o segment resulls,
Imcome taxes, and eamings per share,

(C.1) Results of Segments
General Information

AL yesr end 2021 SAP had five operating segments thay sne reguiany reviewed by the Executive
Board, which is responsible for assessing the performance of the Company and for making resource
sllocation decisbons as our chief opereding decision-maker (CODM). The operaing segmenis are
largely organized and managed separately acconding to thelr product and service offerings, notably
whether the products 8nd Senvices reate 10 0w SENVICES BCLVTRS, expenence Mmenagement solutions,
business process ranshermation offenngs, or owr customer experience portfollo of Emarsys, or cover
other aclivities of our business.

Following organizetonal changes, and 10 Rurther strenghen our Goud al'criﬂgs and SupDor the new
clowd streegy, turctons related 1o SAPS ravwl management solutions in the Concur segment werne
mainly mbegraied mbo the Applicalions, Technology & Support segment and the Sonices segment
Hence, the Conour segrmant was dissolved

Tre Applcatons, Techrology & SuUpport Segment dermaes it revenues pamanly [rom the saie of
soltware loenses, support offerings, and cloud subscriplions (as lar as nol included in one of the
other segmentsh

Trie Services segment covers most of SAP'S sendces SChvities. Revenues ane manly generated from
the sale of varous prafessional services, premium support senices, implementation sendces for our
sofwane products, and education senices on the use of our products. However, the Sendces segmant
does not reflect the full senices business, & other segments provide services as well,

I 2021, the fingnce and legal funclions of Qualiics wene reintegraied into the Qualiics segmaent
Addiionally, the Clarsbridge business, acqured by Cuallrics International ihc in Oclober 2021, was
addied 1 the Queltics segmeat socordingly (lor mose nfomation, see Mote (0 1Y The Ousries
segment derives (s revenues manly fhoam e sale of experience management cloud solutions that
run front-office flunctions across experience data, and from the sale of related services. The figures of
the Quaitrics segment of SAP and the fingnd & resuls of Qualincs Intemational ihe. cannot be
compared, rotably due to ditferent acoounting standards,

The finance and information techrology functions of the Emaesys segrment have already Deen
integrated into 5AP's corporate functions and therefore thelr expenses are not included in the Emarsys
sepment anymose. AL other functions ate stll included in the Emarsys segment, which derives its
revenues mainily from the sale of clowd-based custormer experience afferings and from the sale of
related senvices. Due to its size, Emarsys is not a reportable segment

Thie acquisiion of Signanio GmbH, combined with our business process intelligence unit, led to a new
operating segment called Business Process Inteligence. The segment derives its revenues from the
sale of Business process ransformation oferings from SAP and Signavio. Due to its size, Business
Process Inteligence is not a reportable segment. For mone information about the acquisition of
Signavio GmiboH, see

ey 1)

The segment sformation for 2021 end the COMPErative pror perods wene fresiated o conform with
i niry segment compogiliens

198338
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&) Segment Reporting Policies

Our management reportng system, and hence our segment reportng systam, reparts aur
intersegment services as cost reductons and does not rack them as intemal revenue. tersegment
services mandy reprosent uizazion of human resources of one segment by anoier segment on 8
project basis, intersegment services e charged based on intemal cost rates including certain indingct
overhead costs but excluding @ profit margn.

Most of our depreciation and emortizetion expense affecting segment profits is allocated to the
segments as part of broader infrastruciune aliocations and is thus not tracked separately on the
operating segment Level, Depreciation and amotizaton expensa that is directly slocated 1o the
operating segments {5 immaterial in all segments presented.

Owr management reporting system produces a varety of reports that differ by the cuméncy exchanpe
rates used in the accountng for foreign-cumency transactions and operations, where both actual and
constant curmency numibers ane reported to and used by our CODM. Reports based on actual
cumencies use the same currency rates as are used in our finandial staterments. Reports based on
constant currencies report revenues and expenses using the average exchange rates from the
preoUs Vear's comespanding period

W use a8n aperating profitindicator to measwne e performence of our operaling segments, The
measurement of operating sepgment revenies and results incudes recurming revenue that = not
recognized under IFRS due 1o fair value accounting for the contracts in effect at the time of the
respective acquisitons. Starding in 2021, we ne longer adjust our IFRS revenues. Due o immaterialiny,
O year revenue numbers continue o be based on our previous accountng polices. The accountng
polices soplied in the measurement of operating segment expenses and profit continue 1o differ as
follows from the IFRS accounting principles used to determine the operating profit measure in our
income stalement

= The expense measunes exclude:

= Acguisiton-releted cherges such 85 EmoriZation expense and mmparment chenges far
intangibles acquined in business combénations and certain stand-alone acguisidons of
intellectus property (including purchesed in-peocess research and development) as well as
sale/disposal gains and losses for these intengibles, setlements of pre-existing business
relabionships in connection with a business combination, and acquisition-related thied-party
EApensns

= Share-based payment expenses

= Restructuning expenses

= SAP headquarer funcions which ane excusively managed on corparate level, such as finance,
accounting, legal, human resources, globel business operations, and corporate marketing, &ne ot
Included in the results of our reportable segments

Revenues and expenses of our operating but non-reporedle segmenis. and te ceran sctivites
managed on corporate level, 85 outlived above, ane presented under the Other revenue and Other
expenses ivams in the reconcliation in Aot (.2

Information about assets and Uabilites and addifions 1o non-curment assets by segment ane not
regularly provided to our Executive Boand. Goodwéll by segment is disdosed in Mare (070

1993
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Applications, Technology & Support

mIL 2020 ]
Coiing Actial  Gonstant PN — actual
Curency Cumency' Currency Curoncy* Currercy
Clowns 0500 ?.ﬂt 7541 TS LTk
Solbaare icenses 3,244 3,236 3E3IT 3,785 4523
Salvwvane wuppon 11,410 11578 11=02 11,707 11542
Saoltware loenses and support 14654 14802 15,139 15,473 16,005
Clood s solownre. 23163 23473 22460 2187 21888
Sofvites ¥ i IS 200 ns
Todal segrent revends 13,502 23,516 TBES TIA4E 23,051
Cost ol dowd -2,085 -2.737 2,315 2,371 2,147
Cost ol soiteare loenses and suppor .i,uu -1,733 1,757 1,700 -1,940
Coulof choud and wolbware : 4,401 40 4071 4,161 4,087
Coitoluervices _ioe T 503 300 a2
Total cost of revenus 4,808 -4,882 =4 464 -4 560 4478
Segmant gross prafie 1R694 18,934 18,500 18,887 18,573
Dither segmienil Expenes 127 9.216 28779 8953 8,800
Segment prafil .'I..'II-:I' :I.H; s.'m h:Ml- i.:':"a
LThe 2021 conatarm cu.m-nq- Aol s s by Compuadabie oo m SCiual oEteRCy amounks, MU :um.l;u r.l.rfmq AMGUNS &l by Compaiable 10 000 SOl ey
TR
Qualtrics
2 2020 01
ol Actusl  Constant Al ot St
Curreney Curreney’ Cufroney Curreney* Cuererey
Cloud 75T THD S18 S0 L
Cloud ard solvwnne 757 780 518 520 L
SO 1?.;'! s b L 165 137
Total segrent revence FH N;‘l‘ H.-Si (5 508
T Costoldoud Ty —oa a3 a1 )
Cost ol seltann Uornaes and suppor a o ] o a
Centof cloud and solbware 65 B8 -43 43 33
Conlof servdoes -125 -118 -110 -112 -78
Total cost of revenue =190 154 152 155 110
Segment gross profic .‘FS; ?i‘:l g8 41 na
Ot Segrment expenies 508 718 53 a5 o7
Segment prafi 44 44 A 5 2
L “::;?1 CEnaLand Curd iy MRSUNEE e Snly Com padable 1o MR actl currency amoants; M0 Cofrtanl curincy Amounly e snly comparabie 10 F LD scnasl cuirency
&M
200338
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Services
021 2020 089
€ mislon Actual Constant actal Canstan Al
Curmency Cumency' Curency Cusroncy” Currercy
Cloud 0 o o 1 0
Solbvare Hoenses 1] (1] a a 0
Salbware suppon o o 4 4 5
Saoltware loenses and support a o A 5
Clood sl solewmte. o o P 5 5
Sorviens LM 3302 1374 1AZH 3474
Todal Segmnt i ene 3334 3,783 3375 3452 EETA
Cosi ol dowd =78 -20 -74 ~70 -BZ
Cost ol softemre: loenses and support o E: -19 =32 -33 ~5
Contof doud and saltware : 57 o 100 109 116
Costolierviees 20w _z2ge2 2200 2254 257
Total cost of revenus =2 131 =F1E] =315 =3,363 =2, 69%
Segmant grets prafic 1102 1122 1063 Lo70 983
Qither sepmenl EgpTse s =3ITH T A18 A7 A0
Segmurn profi 728 3 48 42 517
Ve 2021 conslant cuoncy amoaris aie ondy compaotle 10 2020 acteal Cumency amoanty; Jﬂ:.w omian Curency amounts we nly compaabl B 2019 octusd ourency
arfinmis

Segment Revenue by Region
Amerlcas APJ Tofal Segment Revenus

€ mitican 2031 2011 2030 2021 200 2021 2020

ERIES,
2000
Actusl Conatant Aetusl Achual  Comstant Actual Achusl Canstanl sl Artusl  Comatart Azl
Cumency Cumency Cumeney  Cumency Cimrency  Sudency  Curmendy Cumency Cwitendy Cumency Cumenty  Suwrerdy

Apgiicutions,
Tochrbagy 10,902 10000 10T ez piie 80T LR b aTeo LEEE 2380 23618 D248
B Support
Cussliricy 153 157 o7 850 T11 o] 86 0 11 020 057 Bel
Senvices 1,458 1,455 1470 1,370 LAL4 1,401 A a4 A0S 3,234 3383 3,370
Tetal
reportable 12,513 12512 12013 10,933 11342 10,927 4,700 4,302 4,084 27.66% A0S I7.0m4
segments
EMEA Aitreriean AP Toltal Segmant Revsnie
Comi W00 2019 o0 2009 2020 019 2000 2008
fctual  Constant actusd  Actual  Constant Aectusl Actual  Constant Actusl  Actual  Corwtant Actual
Curmency Cwurrency Curency Curnency  Cuvrency  Comency  Curmency  Cumency Curency  Cumency  Cumency Cuerercy
S —
AppiiCalions,
Techrology 10437 10548 10,308 BEOT G0 2088 L3 1400 1676 22068  Xhaas 23051
b Suppadt
Cusaliries o7 o =] 5] 540 A3 =5 5§ 37 BEL B 508
Services 1479 1480 1568 1491 1527 1621 A08 AL5 A5 3379 3432 3G
Total
reportable 12013 1213 11942 10927 11767 11,080 4084 4,169 4,207 27024 27574 27238
sEpmenis

For & breakdown of revenue By e Oy for the SAP Group, see Aok Al

201338
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(C.2) Reconciliation of Segment Measures to the Consclidated Income Statements

2021 020 0%

€ mition Actuad Constant Artusl Cormtant At

CumTency Cumency' Curmency Cumrercy’ Currency

Applications. Technology & Support 23802 FEr I 22968 29,040 13051

Sarvices 1234 3.8 1LETE hanz 1478

— we os7 a3 P s08

Total segment revenue for reportable segmrents 27,665 28,055 27,024 27574 27,238

Dithaer resenee 177 i e 22 L)

Sdpsimend for currenicy impact o el a 554 a

Aduareed &l Mvihin under T valuss adcounling o ] ] -5 |

& Total revenun 17,842 17,842 17,338 27338 77,553

Appications, Technology & Suppert 9,567 2718 2722 9,934 2773

Services 78 741 6 4z 817

Cualines 44 A4 41 13 B

Total wwgmant prof kot repartable vegmants 10,339 10,505 10,363 10571 10,361

Other revenue 177 177 e 22 108

ither expenses .2.280 2374 2,305 2360 2405

Adprsimend for curency mpoac o =178 a 216 1]
Adprimen fof

R‘I’.“\ttfl.ll‘l.l’ﬂﬂrﬂu sl Mm i .|} -5 -5 -.Bl.

MMH&HFMML‘I -BXy —BZ3 577 -ETT -B8%

Share based paymeni experses 2704 X 1,084 1084 1835

ol Boitucuning 157 187 3 3 1130

ol Oprating profit & E56 £ 556 6623 6,62% 4473

sl Dither non-operating incomelepense. ret 17 7 178 179 4

ol Financial income, net :.1?1‘ 2,174 e T 1“

&l Profit bebore tax 64T a7 7220 7,330 4596

U 2021 conslant cuniency ameunds ofe only comparable 10 2000 actual CLITENCY amonts; H900 Comtsnl Clmency amounts o only Comparabie 10 7010 achzsl Cumency
g

(C.3) Other Non-Operating Income/Expense, Net

£ rrvlliong. 2021 020 2003
Forelgn aunency exchange gainfoss, net 4 154 51
Theerecd Tron Bnarecisl aesety 51 i value thiough profit or los 3ls (e} k3]
Theereed Ireen Brancisl st 8 amoftied cont . 111 -3 1ed
'!hendimh\mdllhubﬁhuah; value Bheough profilor loes -3252 A7 308
Theereed {nomn Snancisl Uabfitics o senomired coqil -1 -34 -L78
Macellaneowus inoomeleqperme, nel -33 % 23
A Othed mon-operalng InComEELpenLE, nat 17 =178 -74

2021338
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{C.4) Financial Income, Net

A ki ozl 2050 2

Finance ncome LT 1473 mr
lhmnlgu-;ulmhrmimeumlurw“mpmmmwn 3,n-u.; 1.3&1.1 535

mtn-“. . =5l =BT =583
Thuerwed banies Tnoes Trvsrocial vty b Ta v itue Shicaigh peoRt o beria -84 T 154
Theréod inteseaa mpense Irom Snancisl HabERies st aenortized oot i 160 e 207
Therood inmeruss ewpeerse Irom Bnanciol labimos 1 lar velue frough = = g
profi o loss

o Financlal inecoma, nat 2.i.T4 e 1%

(C.5) Income Taxes
) Judgments and Estimates

We are sulbject to chenging tax Llaws in muliple urisdictions within the couniries in which we operate,
Our ordinany business activities also indude transactions where the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain
due to different interpretations of tax Lews, sudh as those inveling ransfer peicing and intercompany
transactions bebween 5AP Group entities, In addition, the amount of income taxes we pay is generally
subject to ongoing audits by domestc and foreign tax authorties, In determindng our worldwide
income tax provisions, judgment is involved in assessing whether to consider each uncertain tax
treatment separately or together with one or more ather unmcertain tax treatments and whether to
reflect the respective éffect of uncertainty based on the most Ukely amownt or the expected value. In
apolying these judgments, we consider the nature end the individual Tacts and Circumstances of each
unperiain tax treatment as well as the spedilics of the respective jurisdiction, including applicable tax
Laws and our interpretation thenead,

Thie assessment whother & deferred i asset is impained requires judgment, as we nead to estimate
furure taxable prafits to determine whether the uiization of the defered tax asset is probable. In
evaluatng our #odity 1o utilize oo delormed Lax assels, we consider all avalable positive and negative
evidence, incuding the level of historical taxable income and profections for future taxable income
ower e periods in which e defermad G assels ane recoverable. Cur judgment reganding hutune
taxabie income is based on assumptions about futlre market conditions and future prafits of 5AP.

Judgment is also reguired in evaluating whether interest or penalties related to income taxes meet the
definition of intome tawes, and, if not, whether itis of financial nature. In this judgment, we particulary
consider applicable local L lies and intemetations on IFRS by nalional standard setters in the sfes
of group finandsl repoeting

203133
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Tax Expense by Geographic Location

€ millionsg F{FE Fickyil 2018
CisFranl T8 Spenie

Germany Bog L] [ ]
Foreign 1,360 1.001 1,153
Totsl cufment Lix Sxparis 1968 1,896 1778
Lx] '. d lax eap lincome

Grrmany 108 x 3
Foeeign 5606 ] 549
Totsl dederred Lax expenselintoms —lﬂ ;It -552
&l Total Income tax pxpense 1471 1.5‘3.:! 1226

Major Components of Tax Expense

€ millions 2021 Fiskal e
CURTENE LaX Sxpenselncone

Toox engprerir for cuerend yeas 17 1453 1818
Taoaes bad pricd years 81 243 Al
Totsl cument Lax expenss 1968 LB9E L1778

Deberrid ax expensall
Origraton and revenal of terporary dflerences =520 A7 10
Uretsed tad losses, reseoich and development B oredls, and

Horeign s credis i 5 e
Totsl defurred tax expenselincoms =497 az =552
ol Total incomes tax pxporie LATL 1938 1LEI6
Profit Bafore Tax by Geographic Location

o milliens. 2021 2020 2018
httnany 2040 FEEH 2012
Foreign 4807 473 2584
&l Tetal 6847 220 4,596

Tre fodowing teble reconciles the expectod woome [ax expiEnsd, compuiid by Somiyng aur
combined Gerrman tad rate of 26.4% (20200 26,394 2019 28.4%), 1o the aclus incom e Wi expense
Do 2021 combmed Genman Tax réle inciudes & conponaie income T ram of 1505 (2020 15,004
2018 15.004), plus & solidenty surcharge of 558 (2020 5.5%: 2019 5.5%) thereon, and trade Laxes of
1006 (00 10.5% 2010; 100654)

204338
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Relationship Between Tax Expense and Profit Before Tax

€ millions, unbess offenwise saled 2021 Fickl 2048

&l Prafin b fore tax 6547 7200 45096
Tis, ersgriresd ol applicoble e rate of 28.4%

(2020 20 ¥ 2016 26 4% i=08 1,901 1z12
Taoe effect of:
Foigign las mies -128 - 184 -171
Hondeductble expenses a20e Ee ) 118
Tax-exempl inooeme: ﬂéﬂ e -Fy 13
Withdwolderng: oot 204 bl 133
Rescard and ey elopment sred lorein oy ereditg -.'.|5- -0 —8%
Prioe yuar faves @ 18 B0
Reassessment of defiered o aw.:d:. research snd i i i
development tae credits, and foheign s credas
Oahet -105 57 23
il Todal income tax sxponse 1471 L518 LI
EMecthe Bax rabs {in 9 215 Me 26.7
2053z
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Components of Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
€ millions 021 2000

Dibeivod Las a4i818

Inlongible sisols ThE 455
Propedty. plant, and equipment 19 10
Other firandcsl aviels 14 11
Trade and cher mecihvables. ! ] 1%
Prnsion provissons 196 is4
Share based payments 7E 197
Other peovrcen and obliaborss 1097 1185
Contract labilites TH1 631
CannyTorsmeds of unuved ta bosses 148 123
Fiesessch arsd diveloprment ond lorsign 1 redis ™ 5
Dither . 134 108
Totad dedirmed tasx assets 35%9 LOES
Duaberred tax liabiligiey

Intongible assels 03 BS54
Froperty, plant, and eguipment 525 529
Qther frandal sl 69 R+
Trade and other recetvables i‘ﬂﬂ- :i.?B
Pension proviskors = 2L
Shate Desed paymenty 1 o
Dither peoyisiors and nb.l.ngubms- =0 8%
Contract labdities T 4
-ﬁu-.-; . 15:. 1
Total delermed tax Habiities i.;.l'!l. 2055
Tobsl deterned Lax avsets, nit 1488 1030

The increase in defered tax assets for intangible assets mainly resulis from the capliialization of
research and development expenses for tax purposes. Furthermore, the deferred tax assets for
contract iabilties increased manly because of deferred revenue

Deferred tex assets for other provisions and obdgations i the amount of €472 million

{ A0 €452 milion) and deferrad tex Uabilities for property, plant, end eguipment in the amount of
€405 million (2000 €400 milion) resull from the accountng of Uabiltes and rght-of-use assers from
leases

206338
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Items Not Resulting ina Deferred Tax Asset

o€ mmilliong

Uit 14 Logiad

Ml eepinng

Expiringz in the lollowing yoar
Expiring alver the Tollovwing yea
Total urnmed l.l.u lossns
Deductible temporary differences
S p—

Expiring I:I.I'bh' the following yem
Totsl uriued tax Erlﬂ.l

Furiher informaiion on

Surstadnabiity
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Additional
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2020 208
570 aae
=5 63
338 I3
REE] Lls
w8y 39
24 2
17 17
43 45

Of the unused Lad lodses, €183 milbon (2020 €179 mullion; 2015 €187 midlion) relate 1o LLS. State L

Loss carmyfonmangs,

We have not recognized a deferred tax Lability on approximately €24,04 billion {2020; €18.37 billion)
for undistributed profits of our subsidiades, because we are in a position 1o coninol the Gming of the
reversal of the temporary difference and itis probabie that such differences will not reverse in the

toreseaable fulife

Income Tax-Related Litigation

We are subject o ongoing b audits by domestic and homign o authonties, Cumenty, we am in
Egpute marsly with the Coerman Sd anly a ferwe foralgn 1ax suthanties, The German dispute is in
respect of certain secured capitdd investments, while the few foreign disputes are i respect af the
CECUCTBl of INtercompaEny royEly DEYments &od Inlercompany serices. it all Cases, we cxpect
that & favorable oulcome can only be achieved through [tgation. For all of these matlers, we have not

recorded & provision as we Delieve al the 1 suthdcities’ clams heve no ment and Bt no

adjusiment is warranted. |, contrany o our view, the ol autihodties wene to prevail in Their srguments
before the court, we would expect io have an sddifonel expense of approximaisiy €1,283 milion
(2030: €£1.221 million) in tot#d (rcluding related Interest expenses and penallies of €677 million

(P02 £648 milion}).

Retorm of International Taxation Rules

In Ociober 2021, over 135 juisdictions agreed on a new framework for the intermational tas system
covering e se-allocation of taxing fights and the introduction of a global minimum corporate tax rate.
On December 20, 2021, the Orpanization for Booneemic Co-operation and Development {OECD}

released model rules, which shall ensure that mullinational enterprses with revenue above
£750 million will be subject to a 15% minimum corporate tax rate. Based on this release, on

December 22, 2021, the European Commission (EC) propased a directive for implementation within
the EU. We expect to be subject to such nubes. Howsever, since they sSill nead to be fmaplemented into
rational Law and are expeched 10 only spady starting 2023, we canrol yel assess possible impacts for

SAP,
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{C.8) Earnings per Share

AL ol g, uiicdd TR AR 5 ) 2020 e
Prods anributabile to ety holden of SAP SE S.2%8 5245 3l
Fssused ordinany shares! 1229 1229 1,229
Effect ol ireasury shares ~4n ] -35
Wightod oitage shifed ulitarding, biie’ LaE0 ERLH 1184
‘Woighted Feerape shares cutstanding, dlisted’ 1120 =2 1,194
Earnings per share, bhasie, ativibntable bo equity

hdihers af SAP SE (in L) bl 4.7 270
Earnings per thare, diluted, sitributsble 1o equity

helders al SAP §E {in €) P 47 2.78

"Numbed of e i mallions.

2081338
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Section D - Invested Capital

This section highlignts our non-gument assals incduding investments that form the basis of ouwr
operaling activities, Additons to invested capital ndude sepacale assel acguisitions of business
combinations. Further, we disclose information about punchase obligatons and capital continutions,

(D.1) Business Combinations and Divestitures
) Measuring Non-Controlling Interests and Allocation of Consideration Transferred

We decide for each business combination whether to measure the non-contnolling interest in the
acquiree at fafr value or &t the propoctionate share of the acguiree's identifiable net assets,

Wi elassify oosts retated [0 fuecUTIng Dusiness comiinaiions &t general 6 OMInisFahon Sxpense,

In our accounting lor business combinations, judgment is reguired in determining whether an
Intangible assel is identifisble, and should be reconded seperately from poodwill. Additionstly,
estimating the acguisition-date fair values of the identifiable asses acquired and labilites assumed
Invelves considerable judgment. The necessany measurements ane based on information avalable on
the-acquisition dese and are based on expectations and assumplions that have been deemed
reasonable by management These jUdEMents, esimanes, and assumptons can materially sffect our
finaneal position and profit foe seversl reasons, nduding the fellowing:

= [Fair values assigned to assels subdect to depreciation and amortization alfect the amounits ol
dirpratistion 8nd amomization 1 b recorded in aparating prafit It e priods follmsing e
acquisition,

= Subsequent negative changes in the estimated fair velues of assets may result in additonal
expense from impairment charges.

= Subsequent changes in the estimated fair vadues of labilites and provisions may resull in
additonal eaxpense (f increasing the esimated fair value) of additionsl income (if decreating the
estimated fair wvalue),

Wi acquire businesses in specific areas of strategic interest to us, particularly to broaden our prodisct
and senvice portiolio.

2021 Acquisitions

I 2021, wie closed te acquisivon of Signavo GmbH, Berdn, Germany, (Signavio’) and of
Clarsbridge. Inc.. Reston, Virgnia, United States, ("Clarabridge”),

Signavio Acquisition

In Januery 2021, SAP anrounced it nad entered into 8N agreement to Bcquine Signavio, & leader in

the enterprise business process inteligence and process management space hal enables companies
o understend, imanove, trensform, and manage el telr business processes guickly and at scate.

The purchase price was £949 milon. The ransaction closed on March 5, 2021, following satisfaction
of repuiatory and other approvals. The Signavio aperaling results and assets and liabdities ara
reflscted in our consolidated financial sTatements LU on thal Cale

Trie foliowing table summarizes the velues of identfiable asses acgulred and liabdites essumed in
consection with the acguisition of Signavio, &s at the acouisition date:

20933

288/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP  sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarsbadnakality Insbpurmas thosn

Signavio Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

€ millions
Irilorgible MRl 255
ther idenifisie misets 3
Total iderniflable assats. a8
“Other idendfiobie Kabifies 102
Total identiflable llabities 8
Goodwill 739
Totsl conaiderstion transfemed 843

The inftial accounting for the Signavio busness combination is incomplete because we ara st
ootaning the information necessary to identify and measure iterms such as tecc-related assets and
Labiites of Signavio. Accordingly, the armounts recagnized in our financal statements for these items
ane regarded pronssonal as af December 3L, 2021,

In gersergl, the goodwill erising from our soquisitons consists largely of the symengies smd the kepw
Fooney g Sxills of (e acguired Dusinesses’ worklorces,

Signawvio goodwill was attributed to expected synergies Trom he acguisiton, particulandy in the
following areas:

— Cross-selling opportenities o existing SAP custorme's aonss all regions, usng SAPS sales
OrpEzaton

- The ecguisiion of Signavio complements SAP's business process Intelligence offerings and will
Feelp create mew offerings by combining Signavio proeducts and SAP products, butis alse epecied
to result, for example, in increased 5AP 5/&HANA and RISE with 5AP sales

- Improved profitability in Signavio seles and operations

The allocation of the goodwdl resulting from the Signavio acguisition o our operating segments
depends on hoWw our operating segments actualy benefit from the synergies of the Signavio business
combinaton, For moere information, see Nofe (0.2

Clarabridge Acquisition

O October 1, 2021 (after receipt of requinsd mgaiatory approvals and salislaction or waiver of other
customarny closing conditions), Oualtrics completed its previously announced acguisition of
Clarsbridge, 8 cusiomer experience management software company hesdcuariered in Resion,
Mirginla, United States, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization and Merger, The
raamber of Queltrics class A common stock issued to the sellers was foed based on & valuation of
U551, 125 millon (subject to certain adjustments) — the assumed Qualtrics share price was 553733,
The actusl consideraton transfemed {mainly in shares velued at the acguisition daie fair velue of the
common stock} amounted to USSL,298 millon {€1.116 millon). This includes €910 million of isswed
shpres, €115 millon of assusming Bwards a5 well a5 €91 milkon of cash paid,

Quiaitics has (1) assumad, Bmended, and msiated l:!.aranricge stock plans, end (2) converied the
assumed oplions 1o purchase shines of Clavabacge stock outstanding into cofrespondng Qualtncs
options. Quslirics has granted equity incentve awerds 10 cerain contnuing emplovees of Clerabeicge
ard it subsidianes under e own CQualies aouty plan af Quallrics’ sole discretion, For morne
information see Alane (B3

Trie folliowing table summarizes the values of identfiable a55e18 boguired and liabdites sssumed in
conmecton with the acguisition of Clarabridpe, &s at the acquisiton date;
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Ciarabridge Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

o millkong

Inlongiee oisels a1
Dither kentfinble assets o
Totsl idertifiably assats ar
‘.:lu'l.‘f Iﬁﬂhﬂﬂﬂ!‘ mﬁ lm.
Total idarifiable liabities 03
Total idervifiable net assats 154
o e =
Total contideration transhasred 1116

The initial accounting for the businass combination is preliminary as at Decemmber 31, 2021 {as we are
sill in the process of collecting the informalion necessary 10 defermine the far vaue of, for example,
intangible assets as well as tax assets and Uabilldes)

In general, the goodhwill ansing from our acguisitons consists largely of the synergies and the know-
oo and skills of the acquired businesses” wordonges,

Tre Clarabridge goodwil consists largely of e synerges hat SAP expects o achieve from
combining the scguired assets and operatons with its existing operations, especaly in is Oualtdcs
subsidiary,

For more infomation abosut e sllocaton of goodwil o our segments [Deneliting fram e
acquisition), sea Mofe (071

Impact of Business Combinations on Cur Financial Statements

Thie amaunts f Arvenue and profit o Loss of the Signavie and Clarabrdge businesses scguined
2021 since the acquisiion date are mcluded in the 2021 consolidated income statements as foliows

2021 Acquisitions: Impact on SAP's Financials (Signavie and Clarabridge)

0z 2
o millisny sl " Coninbution of 2021 Acquisitkoes:
il Brevierse 2T.842 i
&l Profit alter tax 5376 ~8%

Had the acquired entites been consolidated as at January L 2021, gur 2021 revenue ang prafit after
ta would not heve been materaily ¢fenent

2021 Divestitures

Om April 13, 2021, SAP and Investment company Dedig GmbH, Munich, Gemany, {'Dedig
announced that they had agreed to enter into & partnership in the area of Bnandal senvices. Following
the close of the transacton in September 2021 (alter satislaction of all closng condiions including
regulatony approvals), 5AP and Dedig jointdy own the new “SAP Fioneer® entity fwith SAP owning a
minoty shane)

SAP and SAP Flonesr have executed rénsition sendce &nd go-lo-marke agreements, BMong oliers,
The dispossl gain relating 1o e ranster of the busness (precominanty P 8nd employees) is
included in Other operating incomefexpense, nat (E77 million for both FRS and non-IFRS)

211i33m
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2020 Acquisitions

01 November &, 2020 we concluded the scgusition of 1005 of the shanres of Emarsys alakeling
Systems AG, Vienna, Austris, "Emarsys™ following satsfacton of applicable regulatory snd other
aporovals,

The operating resulls and assets grd lisbilities of Emarsys ane raflecied in our consatidated fingncial
statements from November 4, 2020, onwarnds.

\Measurerment period adjustments reconded in both 2021 and 2020 wene nat material (the
measurement period adiusimenis have resulted in an adjustment of our 2020 numbers - reducng
goodwil along with non-gurrent provisions by €6 million; a further reducton of geodwill by €16 million
was ciused by adustrments of L irems),

In gereral, the goodhwill arlsing from our acquisivons consists largely of te symengies and he know:
oo ardl shills of the acquined businesses’ wordonoes.

Emersys goodwil is attributed to expected synergies from he soquisition, partoulaty in the following
areas

- Crass-selling opportunities o exsting SAP customens across &l regons, usng SAPS sales
orgenization
Emarsys offerings complementng the estng SAP Customer Expenience solutions

— Improved profitability in Emarsys sales and aperalions

2020 Divestitures

Oy May 5, 2020, 5AP #nd Sinch AB, Stockholm, Sweden, (Singh”) snnounced that hey had entered
inte a definitwe agreement for Sinch 1o acquire the SAP Cegitel vberconnect group, The Dusiness sold
{ehich was 8 non-repoable segment o 5AP) conssls of several SAP subsidianes as weall as assels
transterred from certain 5AP antities. The initial cash purchase peice was €225 million {on a cash-frea,
debt-free basis). The disposal gain of €194 millon (IFRS) and €128 millen (non-IFRS) is included in
Other operating incomelexpens e, net,

The ransaction closed on Movember 1, 2020, following satisfaction of applicable regulatory and other
SOOROVals,

Due o immater ality, wa have not separately preseed the business as a discontinued operation.

2019 Acquisitions

On Januany 23, 2019, we concluded the acgusiion of Qualtics Intemational e ("Qualrics’,
following satisfaction of applicable regulatory and ather approvals.

Quairics is a leading orovider of experience management soluticns. By combining Oualincs products
and SAP products, we aim o deliver an end-to-end experience and operational management system
R0 OUF DUSHOMErs,

We acguired 100% of the Qualtrics shares for aporoe USS35 per share, representing consideration
transfemed in cash of approximately USS?.L billon. by addition to the cash payments, SAF also
incurred labilities and post-closing expenses relating o assumed share-based payment awands
AMGUning W0 Spprosmately LIS50.9 billion

Tre operating resulls and assets and labilities of Queltics ere reflected in our consoldaned financial
statements from January 23, 2019, ormwand

Qualtrics Acquisition: Consideration Transferred

€ milllons
Canh paid 6,212
Liatslities incumed 237

Totsl comideration transfamred haam

21233m
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The Gabdities incured related to the eamed portion of unvested share-based payment awards. These
Liadkpiities were incurred By replacing. upon acguisiion. equity-setied share-based payment Swands
Rl by emplovees of Qualirics with cash-semied shere-Dased payment swands, wiich are subyect o
forfEilune. The respective Liabilities represent the portion of the replacermant inwands that relates 1o pre.
SCOUISTON senices provided by the acguiree’s emplopees and wene medguned ot te T value
cetermined under IFRS 2

Measurement penod Bdiusimenis raconged i both 2000 and 2019 wene nof matenal

e foliowing table summanizes the values of identfiable assets acguired and lisbillites assumed in
conmecion with e scguisition of Qualirics, as al the acquisiion date.

Qualtrics Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

€ millions
Cazh anvd camh sguivalenix i3
Other finandsl swsels |
Teodi wnd ogher necoiyalles »
ﬂ.ull.‘f non-finandal assets Firl
Propeity, plant, snd equipereri 3
Irilangiile psaets 1,803
“Tereof acquired sechrology 75
Thereal faonatip and other intandggbles 1238
Therool soltware pnd dotabase Beermes. S
Tﬂd.m- n“n S 0%
Trade wnd other payables 97
I'H\.H'-ﬁHI.IHMIEH. . 53
Currend ard dislered G Lebilites 37
Proviisng. and athed non-linendsl Babdites EH
Contrac] |nbdites 148
TMW!m &37
Totsl idertifiabdn nat avints 1437
Goodwill 5mz
'I:uld m'qur.l'l.iln.lrmlhn'ld 'B,-I-ll

In geraral, the goothwill arising from our scquisivons consists largely of the symerges and the know
o and skills of the aoguired businesses’ workdonces.

Dualines poodwill was attributed to expected synergies from the acguisition, particularly in the
fodloning Ereas

- Cross-saling opportunities (o existing SAP customers across all regions, using SAPS seles
OF e Eanon

- Creation of new offerings by combining Gualtrics products and SAP products o deliver an end-to
end expariernce snd operational management system o the customers

- Improved profitabllity in Qualtrics sales and operations

The aliocation of the goodwil resuling from the Cualirics acquisition 1o our operating sagments was
depending on haw our operating segments actuslly benefit from the synergies of the Queltrics
business combination,

213338
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impact of the Business Combination on Our Financial Statements

Tre armounts af revenue and prodit o Loss of the Qualtics business acGuired = 20189 snce he
acquisiion date were included in our 2019 consolidated income statements as follows:

Qualtrics Acquisition: Impact on SAP's Financials

2015  Condbution of

R an Repartad Cuslies
MR . id 228
ol Profinaker tax aire -5d8

Had Qualtrics been consolidated as at January 1, 2009, our 2019 revenue and profit after tex would
rot have been materially different

(D.2) Goodwill

&) Goodwilll and Intangible Asset Impairment Testing

The annual goodwill impairment test is performed at the Level of our operating segments, since thane
are no lower levels in SAP at which goodwill is monitored for infemal management purposes.

In general, the testis performed &t the same tme (81 the beginning of the fourth guarter) for &l
operating Segments.

In making impaimment assessments for our goodwill and intengiole assets, he outcome of these Tests
is highly dependent on management's assumptions reganding future cash flow projections and
eConoemic risks, which require significant judgment and assumptions gbout futere developments, They
can be affecied by 8 variety of laciors, inclieding:

= Changes in business strategy

= Intemal fonecasts

= Estimation of weighted averape cost of capital

Changes to the assumplions underying our goodwill and intangible assets impainment assessments
coutd require material adjustments to the camying amount of our recognized goodwill and intangbte
assats as well as the amounts of impairment charges recogrized in profit or loss,

The gutcome of poodwsll impairment tests may also depend on the allocason of goodwill to our
operating segments. This allocation involves judgment as it s based on our estmates regarding which
aperaling Segments are expacted 10 bt froem the Sy s of busirdss comiainasons,

Changes i our SR STUCIURG riREuE in the reatocation of goodwil with the reslocated Aoodhail
being calouiated based on relathve values (f & dinect allocation 15 not possible),
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Goodwill

€ millions

Historical cost

v1e0n 28,200
‘w - ‘ .“ﬂ;&.‘;. — .l. -:m;n
Muup;:* ! 2
12312030 27,635
Foreign aumency exchange differences 1838
additions from busiress combin ations e
Retrementaldiipoats -9
121302021 3L
Aecisnulated ansorieaton

L2020 ok
Foreign aumency exchange differences 3
12012020 "
Ecerign cuntoncy exchange diflerences 3
1231201 w1
Carrgirig amonk

1302030 27,538
12N IL090

For more information about our segments and the changes in 2021, see Ao (2 14

Trroughout 2021 {perticularly in Gght of the COVID-19 pandemic and its development), we have -
through a qualitative and quantitalive analysis = Deen contnuously monitoning whether iriggering
VRN eRish,

Based on our anelysis, which we updated in the fourth guarter and which served as the Dasis for our
regular goocwill Impesment est, we assume that the COVID-19 siuston will continue to improve as
VECCing programs continue to taie effect globally, leading to & growing demand anvionment n 2022,
For more information, see Alose VL

Fae impairment SINE pLfposes, The ﬁﬂl'f':.-';l'u.l. armount of pooduill s Sloceied to the opéraling
segments expected o benelit from goodwil as lollows:

Goodwill by Operating Segment
At o, Business
€ millions Techrology & Services Conas Cuslirics Emarys Process Tatsl
Slappert Enleience
O
121312020 20844 385 3307 2037 195 o] ??.!M
1302031 26,074 387 HA 1,848 195 a08 1,090

Aporvon (€23 million] of the Roodwill in the Aoplicanons, Technology & SUDpor Segment wias moved
1o e redidy formed Business Process Ilelligence segment Based on the cxpecled synerges, the
goodwil added through the acguisition of Siﬂ."'ﬂ'-ﬂb (ET56 million) was provisionally ellocated w the
Applcatons, Technology & Support segment (383 million} and the Business Pracess intelligence
segment (E383 million), As the initial sccountng for the Signavio business combination 5 incomplete
{for more informaton, see Mare (2 1)), e alocation of goadwil is provisonal The alocaton of the
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,gmdwi.l N}S’Ji!i!'lg Troemt thve C'-f{lfabﬁﬂg{* acquisition (by i},.ﬂ:.lr‘-{‘.&:l LER uﬂefﬂﬁﬂg SeEMants Gepencs
an Fow our operating segments dclually benalit from the synergies of the Clarabridge busness
combington, As we hive 001 yal completed e identificaion of thase benelits 4nd the imtal
actountng for he business combinalion is praliminary [for more information, see Node (02 1), the
entire poodwill (£924 million) was provisionally allocated to the Quallrics segrment.

Due 1o tha dissalution of the Concuwr segrment in 2021 (for more informaton, see Note (O 1], the
Conour poocwill (£3.307 million) was moved to the Applications, Technology & Suppont segment
Given the close prosimity to the 2020 annual goodwil imparmment st and the significant headroom,
o foemal Impairment west wes performed on he reallocation date of the Concur segment.

In conjunction with the creation of the SAP Foneer [oint venture (for mone information, see
Nere (0 14, we dispased €20 milllon of goodwill (fhereaf £9 million from the Applications, Technology
& Support segment and €11 milion from the Senices segment),

Goodwill Impairment Test

The ey assuriplions on which menagement based its cash flow projections Tor the period coverad by
the underdying business plans are as follows:

Ky Asiumption

Bl for Daterenining Values Assigned to Key Assumption

Budgeted revorae growth

Aeverue groewih rate schieved in the current yoar, sdusted for on expected increase in SAPR° pddeessable Cloud and dalstine
maroets; expected growdh in the established software applications and analytics markels. Volues assigned reflec] ow past
experience and owr expectntiens reganding an inoease in the addressable morkets.

Busipetod aperaling madin Opovating margin budgeted for & ghen budget period equals the operating nangn achirsed in the curenl year, increesed by
wupecied effcency gaing. Velues sasigried nellec] pest mxperienice, excepl for elficency pains

Eecouril Faled O estimated cash fow projections are discounted 10 present value using discount rates (after-las rales). Disoount rates are
barsed on the weighted sverage cost of capital (WACC) approach.

Terminal growth rabe O extimated cath Mow peojciions bor perocy bepond the business plan were extopoloied Ung sepment-apeclc Lemmnal

grrath rabis. Thede fnosvith fales di nod exceed the Long-lofm aversde @owth dales lof the madets in which suf Segmenls
operale

Key Assumptions and Detailed Planning Period

appbcations. Tednology . Bunaess Process
Peicont, ueis & Suppon St Cugliricy Ermariyy Intelligence
ifenaive tied
Tor1 2020 01 2000 Tzt 2020 2021 i 021 2020
T T — T i T
Budgted revorume
o {average of the ad 54 04 34 MA 206 15.3 A 37 M
Eumgn i pmlact) P
aflor-god i coun eale L L] L1 ] .9 i M T 10,0 i 1% Mk
Tiamanal grosweh racs B X a0 o0 kR & i an A 30 HA
Detaded planning
5 | ] 5 5 1Y 11 12 LT 14 L]
[peticed (i years)
1y wop e g Level 1 inpits for Guaiines, in 7021, ne inlonmation on assuss piion . and e delsilod plansing panicd i presented.
¥ idea Tl Lol wist perloeresed e 3020 80 the soquiation wink N e snnusd leving delie. Howrsed, w peifoimed & quantitslive and
ULt MGk 1 Sonitor whihe UigRing sl el
On October 1, 2021, we performed a goodwill impaimment test for the segments mentoned above,
Appleamns Teehmnolagy & Supmpert Segmant and Sentoes Segment
For more information about our 2021 segment changes, see Mafe (0.7
The recoverable amount of these segments was determined based on Tair value less costs of disposal
caloulaton, The far value messunement was calegonized a5 o Level 3 tair value based an the inputs
2168338
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wsed in the valuation, The cash flow I.'H'Uil':l:.'t'ﬁ"lﬁ wire based on Bctual aperating msulbs and specific
eslimates covering a detailed planning period and the terminal growth rate therealter. The peajeched
results ware determined Dased On managements esimates and ane Consisient wWith the assum prions
a makel paticipant would make (larget operating margns of 33.1% (Applcations, Tedhnology &
Sunport) (A0 32.458) and 5.1% (Sendces) (2020 2.4%8) were used in the valuation).

We believe thal no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assuemations would cause the
carmying amount of our Applcations, Techrology & Support segment 1o excead the secoverabile
amaunt,

For gur Senvices segment, the recowersbie amount exceaded the caming amownt by €1,377 million
(2020: €1, 416 rmillion),

Tre foliowing table shows the amounts by which te key assumplions would need o change
ingividuglly (Hat is, withoul changing (e oher key sssumptions) for the recoveraple amount (o be
st 1 e camying Bmount, For BUIZeted evEnUue Zrowin Sensitivily, he Cost STUCTURe Was not
adjusted, hence leading to a modified tarminal operating megn:

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Sarvices
2031 o]
BisdFeled fovenue o
ichange npp) _ o
Tarpel operating margn at the end of the budgeied period - 5
b
LQualtncs Segment

Quaiirics Internatonal ke, completed s nitsl public oMering (IPOT) on January 28, 2021 The
recoverable amount was determined based on fak value less costs of gisposal calculation, The fair
valle measurement Was categonized &5 a Lewvel 1 fair value based on the market cepitalization
denved from publicly Usted shares of Qualtrics. We believe that no ressonably foreseeable change in
the share price of Qualtics would cause the camying amownt of our Oualtrics segment to exceed its
recoverable amount

Emarsys Segment

The recoversble amounl was determined based on far value less cosis of disposal colculation, The
it Wl PEASURRITYGNT WaS cantgonzid &5 a8 Lewvel 3 fair value BESed of the inpULS used in the
wvarLation. The cash low prajections wene based on actual operating resulls and specific estimates
covenng & detalled plenning period and the terminsl growth rate thereafier, The projecied resulls ware
determined based on managements esimalas and are SonsistEnD with e assumplions a market
participant would make (a target operating margn of 24.6% was used in the valuation).

Given the fact that the Emarsys segment is expected to show disproportionate growsh in the coming
years and has not yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer and more detailed planring
period tan one would spply @ & mone matune segment

The recoverable amount exceaeded the camying amount by €547 million,

True: following table shaws the amounts by which Mekay assumplions would mied o change
Individuglly {that is, without changing the other key essumptions) for the recoveradle amount to be
£qual 1o he camydng amount. For budgeted revenue growth sensitivity, 1he Cost STUCTUNe Was not
adjusted, hence leading 1o & moditied termngl operatng masgn!

21733
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Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Emarsys
IWITL 2020¢
Busifeled reverue gowh =17 119
ichange in pp)
Tarfel Dperating margn ot the end of the budgeted penod - A
fchange i pp)
& M loemmal, best s peil b 000 a5 the sogqa was alier the anvaal testing dase,
Hivweevea, v pafi d a1 and dqualicathve anatysh b meonkor whether IgReng
evenls et

Busness Process ipiigenee Sagmeant

The recoverable amount was determined based on fair value less costs of disposal caloulation, The
fair value measurement was categonzed as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
valration. The cash flow projections were based on actual operating results and specific estimates
covering a detailed planning period and the terminal growth rate therealier, The projecied results were
determined based on managements esimates and ane consistent with the essumplions & market
perticipant would make (8 terget operavng margn of 24,894 was used in the valuation)

Given the Fact fal e Busingss Procass InTellgence segrment is expaciod W show disproporionaie
growtn in the coming years &nd has nol yet reached & steady state, we have used a longer g mone
detailed planning period than one would apply in a mone mature segment

The recoverable amount exceeded the Camdng amount by €1.225 million,

The foliowing table shows the amounts by wihich the key assumptions would need to change
individuatly {that is, without changng the other key assumplions) lor the recoverdle amount to be
equal o the camying amount. For budgeted revenue growth sensithvity, the cost structure was not
adjusted, hence leading 10 & madified eaving operalag muargn

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

FLTRY
Budpeued frvers ghowh 25
fehange i pp) '
Terpet operating margn s the end of the budgeted persd 20
{change in pp)
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(D.3) Intangible Assets

Z) Recognition of Intangibles

Wheneas in genersl, expenses for intemally genersted intengibles ane expensed s incumed,

development expenses incumed on standand-related customer development projects {for which the

1A% 38 criteria are met cumulatively) ere capitalized on a Umited scale with those amounts being

emortized over the estmated useful lfe for the maodty of the projects of eight years

Deterrnining whether intemeily generated intangdle sssets from development qualily for recogrition

requifes significant judgmient, parfeutaty in the fellowing areas:

= Determining whether activities should be corsidered reseanch activiies or development activites

= Determining whether the conditions for recognizing an intangible asset are met requines
assumptions about future merket conditions, customer demand, and other developments,

= The term “techmicel feasibility” is not dafined in IFRS. end thenefons determining whather the
completion of an asset s lechnically feasible reguines udgment &nd 8 company-specfic spproach,

= Determining the fulre ability to use o sell the intangble asset ansing from the develooment and
the determination of the probability of fulure benefits from sele or use

= Determining whether a cost is directly or indirectly attributable to an intanginle asset and whether &
COSLES necessany for complotag 8 development

Thess judgments impact the total smount of iIntangible assels that we present in ol balénoe sheet as

well as the timing of recogmizing development expenses in profit or loss,

) Measurement of Intangibles

All gur purchased intanglble assets other than gopdwill have Bnite usefu bves. They ane initiatly

measuned at acguisition cost and subsequently amortized based on the expected consumpton of

aconeenic benefits over their estimated useful lves rangng from two 1o 20 years,

Judgment is required in determining the foiowing

= The useful life of an intangible asset, as this is based on our esimates regarding the perdod over
which the intangible asset is expected 10 generale economic benefits 1o us

~ The amorization method, &5 IFRS reguires the stralghtline method to be wsed unless we can
reliably determing the paitem in which the assels future economic benefits sne expected to be
consumed by us

Both the smortization petod and the amorizaion method hawe sn impact on He snorizason

expense hat is recorded in each persod.

(£} Classification of Intangibles

W classity intangible assets acoonding to el natune &nd Use in our operatons. Softwane and

databese Uoenses consist primarily of technology for internal use, whereas acquired technology

consists primaniy of purchesed softwarne to be incorporated inbo our product offerings, Customer

relationshin and other mtangioles consist primarily of custoemer relationships and acguired rademark

Leensas,

Amortization expenses of intangibde assals ane classihed as cost of coud, cost of senices, reseanch

arvd develppment, sales and marketing, end peneral and administration, depending on the use of the

respective intangble assats.
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Softwan: ond Lequired Clebmot

Smllirs Ot Licsooes Techeciogy RS e Toun
Histerical cast ) _
L2020 9z 2,752 6,415 10,098
Foute kg cuftendcy mm Stferences -14 ~224 —4a7 -705
Addigions from business combsnations 1 5% 154 244
Other additions 10 o ] i ]
Retremeniudapoialy 148 22 142 -312
Trandler 15 o 12 3
L UI0E0 T 2,565 6,098 'l.‘l‘.lﬁ
Fore b currendy exchan e diflerences 1z 05 A7 a4
AckdEions from business eomisinations o 233 30 537
Oiher additions i o 66 85
Retremenisidaposals =7 ] 1 11 ST
Tranaler -4 ] 1] o] a
h¥eipl Teh L hE] 2,996 6,775 10,564
Acgumulated amostization
L2020 S 2,031 2078 5605
Foreign curfency exchange diferences 13 180 -] a1z
Addiions smortiraton 85 214 A i U]
Retr emeniudnpoals 147 -22 -13 -300
I VHED 523 2,043 046 5612
Formign curmency eachan g dillerences 11 17l Fa b ama
Ackiitions amonizaton k) ] L) o7e
Mumﬁlu'ﬂpmdh -84 -11 -1 -i%
1Al -y a092 LS9 500
Carrying amvount
bR T 0 ] 2,892 T8
12RuIel ZBG B 2076 PG
2200338
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Significant intangible Assets
Caarying Amount Fmaining
£ milliore, unilews olhersine siabed e Uil Life
L 2020 (L% e]
Anbsy — Curs ormeer relabonsheps 174 3 ERLE
Conow - Cusiomer rolafonships ™S TEL S0 13
€ olickit - Cuntine relatonatips 20 202 a1l
Crsnleics — Acguived bechmoliges 20 e a
sl — Customer reluBaThgs e v 1 18
Emarsys — Customer relalorships 153 174 G l3
m‘ﬂ'\llﬂ — Cusaomer relatsoreshigs 124 s 15
Total slgrdfcant intargible & sets 2788 2776

(D.4) Property, Plant, and Equipment

& Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment ane typécally deprediated using the straight-line method. Judgment is
requined in estimatng the useful e of the assets. In this assessment we consider, among others, our
history with similar assets and curment and fulure changes in technology.

Usetul Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Brilddinzs Peedaminahtly 28 16 30 yebf
Leased msets and leasehold inpeovemenls Based on the term ol the lease conmot
information techrology equipment 2 bo & years
Office lumiture o bo 20 years
Auipmobdey 2wy S yvars

Property, Plant, and Equipmant

& mitioers Land and Buldings -0 *™ m Dm:ﬁ?.& nuwp,:‘:ﬂ::u mm Total
Equgewrd  Equigenteil Leased Pregiiii

1530020 LasT Lad 1838 41 o LT

127l L0 Ladl LAS0 an n 4977

Additions

2020 o5 404 424 = a7 1006

021 144 213 s18 2 & 1067

The gddiions fomher then from business comblnations) retate primanly 10 e replacerment and
purchase of information Wwdnnology equipment and the construction and leasing of Buildings and data
eEnters, For mose informatfon sbout the impairment of data centers, see Aot (5 5], Foe mose
information about leases, see Aofe (00 5E

221338
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(D.5) Leases

) Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Under IFRS 16, & confract i or containg & lease If the contract Comvays e -"ig"l[ o conirol the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. As a lessee, SAP recognizes a
right-of-use asset representing its right (o use the underying asset and a lease Uabdity representing its
abligation to make lease payments. The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
arnd interest expense (s recognized on the lease Labllities. The vast majorty of our leases consist of
facility and data center leases. Payments for short-term and low-value leases ane expensed over the
lease terrn. Extension opgons are inclutded [n the lease tarm if their exercise is reasonably cerain,

Leases in the Balance Sheet

£ miltiores 1213102021 133403030
Right-al-use avets

Right-ol uie saets — Levd ond il dings 1800 1818

Hlal;ldwnwh other property, plant. and equipmeenil 41} 41
Total right-of-use assets L840 1,857
F Property. plari, and equipment 4917 50418
Right-oluse osiets a3 % of 3 Propety. plant, and cquipment 3?; T
L liabilities
Cumert ease lsbilides a7 0
F cument Finan ool Lskslives 4528 2,38
Curentlease Uabiliies o % o 1B Current fraaraal liobiises 0 18
Han-turment leate lshildine 10
% nion-cunent Anancial lsbbities ihse
.N«:-wnwlomllnb.ﬁdﬁﬁi; ol F bon-curreni linancisl Rekdiues 13

SAP & commitied o fute minimum lesse payments in the amount of €172 millen for facility leases
that had not yet commenced as &t December 31 2021 For data centers, we have fulure
commitments 1o spend €226 milon on sendces and IFRS L6-related assets, Beciuse this sgreement
does not specly the required split, the entine amaunt has been included in the purchas e obligations
reported in Aofe (051

Leases in the Income Statemeant

. miliai 2021 2030

Leass expenses within opsrating profit
Eepeedation of Aght-ofuse asdets e o

For more information about Aght-of-use asset sddifons, see Mone (2 4], and for & maturity analysis of
legse lebiites, see Aare (5 1) For more Information about the cash flow related o lease labiites,
st thie “Reconciliagon of Liabilites Arising from Finenceng AcTvities” tele within Mo (€3

222m5m
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(D.8) Equity Investments

) Accounting Palicies, Judgments, and Estimates

As we do not designate financial assels a5 st lair value through profit or loss." we generally classify
financisl assets into the following categaories: at amortized cost {AC), at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCH), and at fair value through profit or Loss (FVTPL), depending on the
contraciual cash flows of and our business model for holding the respective asset

For equity securities, 83 the cash flow charactenistics ane bypicelly other then solely princpel and
inerest, we Lake an investment-by-investrent decision whether o dassifty a2 FYTPL or FVOCH

The valuation of equity securities of private companies reguines judgment, since It is typically based
on Sgrilicant unobservable Inpuls &8s no market prices & avalable and here 5 an inhement lack of
liguidity.

We take the most recent giialitative and guantitative information aspects into consideration to
determine thie fair value estimates of these equity secunties,

Considerabie judgment and assumpiions are imvalved with regard w the selection of spproprate
Ccomperable compeny data, the assessment of cash requirerments of the business, the acceptence of
the technology o products in the addressable markets, the actual and forecasted performance, the
milestone achlevements, the adeguacy of price ponts from finsncing rounds, the Fensaction of simiter
securities of the same company, the rights amnd preferences of the underlying securities, the selection
of adequete equity allocation parameters, and the possible exit scenarios and associated weightings.
Because all of these assumptions could chanpe significanty and because of the inherent uncertainky
of valuation, our estmated fair values may differ significantly from the valiees that would have been
used had market prices for the investments existed and that will ulfmately be realized, and fhose
dilterences could e materal

Gainsdosses on equity securides st FVTPL include geinsiosses from lair value uciustions, from
disposals a5 well as dividends, while gainsdosses on equily secunities a1 PVOCH anly include
dividends, all of which are shown in Finandal income, net. Regular wiay purchases and sales are
recorded as at the rade date.

Equity Investments

WL frarkyt]

£ milioeres 2

Han: Han-

Cismanl c Tetal Cairenl C 1 Toral
Equity e ounitds a ST 5,709 1] 3113 3113
Investments in assoctates a 155 155 o 14 14
Equety investments o X2 5,054 o 317 2137
F ther Tnanionl iiisets 278 [ 9,033 1535 3512 5,147
;l.lt:.l Irvesdmenits a5 e ol i o ey o - -
223133
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Investments in Associates

SAP aiso has mterests in a number of individually immaterial associates. We own more than 208 of
the equity interests or have at least 2% of the voting rights. Based on these facs and the nature of
the relatipnships, S0P has determined that i has significent influence,

The foliowing table shows, i aggregate, the camying amount and shade of profit of these assocates.

£ il W1 2020
Cofrying afmount ol el m aigodales 155 14
Share of profi and losses from confirasing operations. o L

SAP contripued certain sofiware solutions spedfic o the financial services industry 1 SAP Fioneer
{with SAP emplovees also trensferring over on a voluntary basls) in exchange for a minodty share In
the new entity. The ransaction closed on Seplember 1, 2021, The associated accounting for this
transaction is preliminary and the accouning alignment is ongoing As such, the proportionate share
ol eamings is provisonal

Tre propoctionale share ol eamings of SAP Foneer is included in 5APS Consotdated Fingncisl
Staterments with a time lag of one month. The figunes for the eguity result relate to the period from
Septernber 1, 2021, to November 30, 2021

For a lst of the names of other eguity Investments, see More 5. 9)

Financial Commitments in Venture Capital Funds

£ millions FLE ) 2
L _______________________ _J
Irreesimerits in veniune copilsd funds 55 237

SAP invests and holds interests in unrelated parties that manage investments in venture capital. On
Decemier 31, 2021, total commitments to make swch investments amounted to €757 mitlion

{2020 €607 milion), of which €502 milion had been drawn (2000 €370 million). By nwesting in such
wenture capital funds, we ane exposed 1o the risks inherent in the business anreas in which the entities
operate. Our macmum exposure 1o Loss is the ameunt invested plus confractually committed future
capital connmlions

Maturities
131021
€ milllons: f .
Venture Caphal Funids
Due 2022 55
Totsl 255

224i33m

303/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Group Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Addiional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstalnabdity Indomation

{D.7) MNon-Current Assets by Region

Tre table below shows non-curent assels excluding finandal instruments, deferred Lax assels, post
employment benefit assels, and rights ansing under insurance conlracts

Non-Current Assets by Region

© millior 021 2020
GErmany 5305 4,750
Rexl ol EMIES 8927 TR
E.Iﬁl.l . I..l:ﬁ! 1.!.1-!.!
Urated Statii 443 FLN P
Rt ol Amnerions a1 379
inericas 084 27,208
apd LI63 LZ16
BAP Group 43078 mETE
For & breatdown of our employes headoount by regoan, see Aohe (8 1), and Tor a breakdawn af

FEVERLE Dy Tegpon, See Al A 1

(D.8) Purchase Obligations

o, mrilicn 2021 2020
Contrachisl obligasions lor soquisition of property, pland, and equipmaont and o 108
Intangible ausets

DOither parchose ol igstions 4820 3685
Purchase obligations 4,779 3,791

The contrachuel obligatons for acquisiion of propeny, plent, and equipment and intangible assets
relate primenly to the purchase of hardwene, software, patents, office equipment, and vehides. The
remaining oblgetions relate manly to markeling consulling. maintenance, license agreements, coud
services, and other third-party agreements. The increase is mainly due to new purchase ooligations
ritated 10 cloud senices. Historcally, e mbjodny of such purthase oblgations hisve Daen realized

Maturities
12312024
£ millliedd
Purchase OBligations
Oue 2022 1190
Dt 2023 1o 205 248
D thercalter 634
Totsl 4,770
225338
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Section E - Capital Structure,
Financing, and Liquidity

This section descripes now SAPF manapes its capital sTuchine. Our capital management is based on a
Regh equity retio, modest financial leverage, & well-balanced mawsty profile, and deep debt cepacity

(E.1) Capital Structure Management

Tre pramary oDjecive of our Capilal structune MEanagem el is 0 Mmentan 8 strong fingndial profile for
Irvestor, creditorn, and customer confidence, &nd 10 Suppoel he growth of our Dusiness, We seek o
eralnnain & capltal structuee that will allow us to eontinuausly eover our funging requirements thralgh
T Capital misrkels O reasonaDle erms and, in S0 dong, ensurg a high level of independence,
confidence, and financial fexbiliny,

SAP SEs lomg-term cradit rating is "AZ° by Moody's and “A7 by Stindard & Poor’s. both with stable

outlook

1231703 12312000
el 5ol & in

Cmillbana  Total Equity £ mdlong Tatal Equily

ared Liablijes v Wiabditees
E Ecuaity AL52Y ] 20,027 51 0
F curent lisbdities 165104 i | 12842 2 20
T by -cummens Liabilities 13580 1% 15,694 7 14
F Linhfites zi!.u-m.s -'iz 28537 £ q
Theereed linenciol debt 13084 1 13,263 P -1
Thereod leace Bablies 2111 3 2120 1 i
P Total equity and llabilitkes TL,16% 1] SH464 108 23

I 2021, Wi drew D short-teem logns of €950 millon and €500 million with the tener of one yeer and
& Newible repayment schedule, as weil as €150 mibon in issued commercial paper (CP). AL maturity,
wie repald €500 million in Euroborids, as wel as €150 million in CP Makdng use of the flexible
struciune, we furtner rapald €1.250 million in soguisiton Loan for Qualtrics peior U its Bnal maturnity
date in 2022, T rato of totsl nominal velume of financisl et 1o wial eguity and Usbiltes
cecreased 4 pp.

{E.2) Total Equity

&} Accounting for Interests in Subsidiaries

Changes in 5AP interest in a subsidiany that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
agaity ransactions. When SAP inses control over the subsidiany it derecognizes the asses and
Labelives of the subsidiary and any related non-conlradling interests (NCH) and oher componants of
equity. Any resulting gain or Lass is recogrized in profit or loss.

Issued Capital

SAP SE has issued no-per value bearer shares with a calculated nominal value of €1 per share. All of
the shares issued are fully pald

226338
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Number of Shares

Mooy tsued Copital Tresdury Shated
VUz019 LIRS =349
12/30201% LI8S =349
Purchaie of 1neaisy shares ] -14.1
12302030 LIRS ~48.9
1IR30l 1,rr85 —48.9

On January 13, 2022, 5AP announced a new share repunchase program 1o senvice lulete share-based
COMPENGaion swands. Thi program, wih & volume of up o E1 bilion, is planned [0 De execuled in
the period between February 1, 2022, and December 31, 2002,

Authorized Shares
The Articles of Incorporation authorze the Executive Board to increase the issued capital as follows:

— By up to a total amount of €250 milion by issung new ro-par value bearer shanes aganst
confributions in cash untll May 19, 200% (Authorized Capital 1), The issuance is subxect to the
stabutory subscription rights of existing shamholders,

By up to & totel amount.al €250 mikion by msLing new ro-par velue Dearer shams aganst
contributions i cash or in kind wntl Mey 19, 20005 (wihorzed Caplital Iy, Sublect to the consent of
the: Supervisory Boerd, the Executive Boand is authonaed 1o exclude the shareholders' statutony
Subsepion AghLs i Eerman o508,

Contingent Shares

SAP 5Es share capital is subject to a contingent capital increase, which may be effecied only to the
extent that the rolders or creditors of convertible bonds o stock options Sswed or guaranieed by
SAP S5E or any of its drectly or indirectly controlled subsidiaries under certain share-based payments
axnercise heir conversion o subsoiption rights, and no other methads for senicing these rights ane
used. As at December 31, 20218, €100 millon, representing 100 million shares, was stll available for
issuance {2030 €100 million)

Other Components of Equity
Cash Flow
£ miliors Bt bheckpes/Cost of Tatal
e
Hedging
IR T=I0E ] LI¥ -5 Ly
Other compirehensive incomse for fems has wil be redassified o proft orloss, nel of tax 537 = § 530
123519 LT =6 1770
Ot com@rehendive mcome bl ilenms thal will be mrclassilied 1o profl of koss, netof L -2, 792 10 -2. 7683
1230z i 4 ez
Otheer comprehensive ivcome bor items that wil be redawsiied o profit or ko, nel ol tax 2,848 26 2210
1rFAUIDT] 1,850 -2 1,608
Treasury Shares

By resolution of SAP 5Es Annual General Meeting of Shameholders held on May 17, 2018, the
authorzation granted by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders an Jume 4, 2013, reganding the
acguisition of reasury shanes was revolced [0 e extent il had not been exercised at that time, and
replaced by a new authorization of the Executive Board of SAP 5E o acguine, on or belore

May 18, 2023, shares of SAP SE represenling a pro rala smeunt of cegital stock of up ta €120 millivn
in aggregate, provided that the shares purchased under the authorization, ogether with any other
shgnes in the Company préviously scoumed and held by, o atiributable to, 5AP S5E do not account far

2273
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mong than 10% of SAP S5E'S issued shane capital Al.u'wgr! ey shanes ang LEE,EI:'.}' consderad
oulstanding, theve ane no dividend or valing rights associated with them. Wha may receam of resell
EEnes Beld 0 Ireasury, OF We misy use Deasury shans for the purpose of Sendcing oplion or
convarsion rights under e Company's share-based payment plans. Also, we may use sharas held in
treasury a5 consideralion in connection with mergers with, or acguisitions of, ather companies.

Distribution Paolicy and Dividends
Owr gerversl intenton is o remain in & positon 1o retum Iguidiy 1o our shearenolders by disTiouting

annual dividends tataling 409 or mone of our profit alter tax and by potentially repurchasing treasury
shares in future.

I 20071, woe distributed €2,182 million (€£1.85 per share) in dividends for 2020 compared o
£1.864 millon (€158 per shame) paid in 2020 for 2019 and €1, 790 million (£1.50 per share) pad in
2019 for 2018

The wonal dividend availande for distibution o SAP SE snarenolders is besed on the profits of SAP SE
&5 reported in its stalulony financisl staterments prepantd under the acoounting rules in the German
Commercial Code (Handelsgeselzbuch) For the year enced December 31, 2021, the Executive
Bodrd intends 1o propose that a dividend of £2.45 per share (that is, an estimatéd sl dividend of
€2 590 million), be paid from the profits of SAP SE, which includes an extreondinany dividend
compaonent of €0,50 per share 0 celelbrate SAP's 505 anniversany in 2022,

Mon-Controlling Interests

On January 28, 2021, Quslrics successfully issued 129% of its shases on the Nasdag Swok Market
(NASDWD). The BPO-ralated cash inflow amounted to €1,847 million and the initfal value of non-
conirolling intenests in nel assels was €909 milon,

O Dctober 1, 2021, Qualtics completed i acguisition of Clersbridge in the foerm of Qualrics shares
and cash. Following the issuance of new Qualtics shares, SAPs ownership lurther deoreased to 7T8%,
resulting in & additions value of non-controlling interasts of €261 million in net assets o be
reCognized

O Movember 11, 2021, Qualtrics announced the closing of its public offering and issued an
additonal 4% of its shares, which reduced SAPSs ownership in Guailics o Td4%. The offering-related
cash inflow emounted to €381 milion and the comesponding value of non-controlling interests in net
assets wes EZ50 million,

(E-3) Liquidity
@ncmurrﬂng for Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Classification and Measurement of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

Cur non-dervative financal debt investments compeise cash ot banks and cash eguivalents (highly
Lguid imvestments with orignal matudties of tree months or less, such as tme deposits end money-
miarket funds), loans and other finandial receivables, ard acquired debt securities,

As we do not designate finandal assels s "at fair value through profit or toss,” we generally classify
financial assets as:at smortized cost (AC), &t fair value through other comprehensive income (PVOCT),
oF ok fair value through profit or loss (PYTPL), depending on the conractisl cash fows of, and our
business model for, holding the respective assel Fnancial assels having casn flow characienissics
otfver than solely princpal snd MRSt SUch 55 money market and sirmiar lurds an generally
classified a5 FVTPL: Generally, all other financial assets with cash flows consisting solely of principal
and [nterest ane classified as AC because we Tollow 8 conservative invesiment appeoach, safeguanding
aur Byuidity by ensuring the safety of prinopal investment amounts.

GainsAosses on non-dervative financal debt imvestments at PYTPL are reported in Rnandal income,
net and show intersst income/expenses separately from ather gains/losses which include gainsfiosses
from fair value Ructuations and disposals. Galnsflosses on non-denvative financial debt investments
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&t AC are reportid i Financial income, net and show intersst income/expinses Sﬂﬂﬁﬂ'ﬁ[ﬁ{? from ather
gainsfiiosses which include gainsflosses dispasals and changes in expected and incurmed credit
losses. Gainsdosses from lomsgn curmency exchange rate uciuations ane included in Ofher non
aperating incomefexpense, net Regular way punchases and sales are recorded as at the rade date.

Impairment of Non-Derlvative Financial Debt investments

For these financial assets, we spply consiierable judpment by emploving the general mpairment
approach as follows:

~ Forcash atbanks, tme depasits, and debt securiies such as acquind Donds and acguired
commercial paper, we spply the low credit risk exception; as itis our policy to invest only in high-
Guality assets of issuers with & minimum rating of &t least fmvestment grade to minimize the sk of
credit losses, Thus, these assets are aiways allocated to stage 1 of the three-stape credit Loss
midel. snd we recond a Loss sllowsnce 81 an amount equs 1o 12-month expected credit losses.
This toss allowsnce is calculsted based om our exposure 81 the respective repdrting date, the loss
gven default for this exposure. and the credit default swep spread &5 & measune for the probabiliy
of default. Even though we invest only In assets of at least investment-grade, we also closely
obsene the devilopment of credit delault swap spreads a5 8 measure of market participants’
assessments of the creditworthiness of a debtor to evaluate probable significant increases in credit
risk 1o Tmely react 10 changes should these manifest. Among odhers. we consider cash at benks,
time geposits, and debt securites o be in default when the counterparty is uniikely to pay 5
obligations iy full, when there is information about & counterpanys financial difficulies or [ there is
& drastc Increase in 8 counterparty’s credit default swep spread for a prolonged tme period while
the overgll merket environment remains. generally stable. Such financial assets are witten off either
partially or in full if tve lkethood of recovery i5 considered remote, which might be evidenced, for
exzmple, by the bankrupicy of a counterparty of such financial assets.

= Logns gnvd otver financisl receivables e monitontd based on Dorrower-specfic intemal and
external information to detgrmine whether there has been & significant increase in credt risk since
Initial recognition, We consider sudh assels to be in default if Fey are significantly beyond their due
date or il the bomower is unlikely 1o pay its obEgation. Awrite-olf occurs when the Lkelihood of
recovery is considerad remaote, for example when bankruptcy proceedings have been finalized or
when all enforcement efforts have bean exhausted.

Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

Hon-dervative finandal labilities inciude benk loans, issued Donds, privete placements, and other

financie ligbilites. incleded in other financial Bebiftes are customer funding Uabilites which are funds

we dran from and make payments on behalf of our customers for customers” emplovee expense

reimbursements, related credit card payments, and vendor payments, We present these funds in cash

and cash eguivalents and recond our obligation to make these expense reimbursements and

payments on behall of our customers as customer funding Habilities.

As we do not designate financial Usbilities as PYTPL, we generally classily non-dedvative inancia

Labiities as AC,

Expenses and gains or losses on lnandal labdites at AC mainly consist of inlerest expense, which is

shown in Fnancial income, net. Gansfosses from lonign curency exchange rate fluctuatons ane

included in Other non-operating incomelexpense, met

Group Liguidity, Financial Debt, and Met Debt

Group liguidity consists of cash st banks, money market and other furgs, as well a5 tme deposits snd
debt securities (both with remaining maturities of less than ane year). Fnancial debt is defined as the
rominal volume of bank loans, issued commencial paper, private placements, and bonds. Net debt is
group liguidity less financial debt

229338
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Group Liquidity and Net Debt

€ millions. 201 g &
T £aih and covh equivalents 8808 5311 3EAT
Current e deposits and detil secutis 2632 1470 1,162
Group Bgubdity 10530 [&11% 4,750
Currend lirancisl detl 3755 -1ABZ -2.273
Pacn-curtent linanciol debil . LR 11800 2403
Financial debt ~13,054 ~13,209 ns
Hot debt {-) ~1,563 -6,503 4939

Wiile we continuously monilor the ratios presented in the capital stnecture table, we actively mandge
our Bouidity and structure of our fimandal indebtedness based on the ratios group liquidity and net

debt.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
2021 2020
£ milliorn
Curment Mon-Current Total Cummenit Kon-Cunrent Total
Carsh ol banks 1148 a 3140 2732 [ 2732
Tirtee: depasits 1420 a 1420 027 a 027
h‘-mqg: rraricr] ared odher lanch um Q -128]. 1ges Q 1555
Debl securides 5a 0 5 o 0 I
Expected oredn boss allosvan: e - ] [i] -5 - | 1] -3
P caih and cavh equival ants .0 L] LG %311 L] 5311
Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments
T nihwr Izl 2020
Cumerd  Mon-Curent Total Current  Mon-Curtent Toasd
Tirme depails 2,605 =} 2.605 1448 Q 1a4s
Debi wecurites 0 o 0 2 o 4
.Fi'umcl.'l-l.ln.shlmﬂls related f0 employes benefi plans |; aui zm I;I :us; 162
Lo nnad otk e Tevana ol ucthnﬁl;-q.. . 'J;I m? l.;ﬁ a3 107 -]
Expected oredi loss allowans e -3 =] 3 3 ] 3
Nen-dertvative financlal debs investmerts 2m 08 3,019 L5582 269 a2z
F osher lnancial miet 2,758 8275 %033 1,635 354z 5,147
Hon-deshaltive finandal detil imvestments o 8 oy i 5 o

s % of F Other Inandal osiets

Time deposits with original meunity of three montihs or less are presented as cash gnd casn
equivalents, and those with original maturites of greater than three months {nvestments consicened
i grougs lguidity) are presented &5 otrer financial assets. Debt securiies consist of acquired CP and
acguired bonds of manly fnancal and non financial conporatons and Mumcpalites

For more information aboul Bnancial risik nd the nature of risk, see Mot (F 1)
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Financial Debt
2021 2020
£ il Hominal Velume Cornyirg Amounl Marminal Vol Cring Amount
Mo Heo Foor
Current ¢ Currend  Mon-Curent Todal Canrenl c . LT Current Toksl,
Boruds. D00 L 0 #8851 arsL SO0 0844 S00 /868 10369
Privale plocement
vt n3 EFE ] 3 k] o il Q e Tz
Commerdal paper 230 a B3 o 931 Ban L] 31 o 831
Bank loani 1533 a 1533 L] 1533 2 1350 2 1.250 1302
Finansial debe A.TEE 130 1760 9,245 11,005 1482 11801 Lasd 11,048 13,344
F Finan-ial lablites 4528 11,042 15570 2348 13808 15053
Fnancial debd a5 % of 5 & di & g &

T Farandcisl lsbdities

Financial labilites ane unsecwned, except for the retention of titte and smilar Aghts customarny in our
imcustry, Efective interest rates on owr inancisl debl (ncluding the effects o intens st rale swaps)
were 0835 in 2021, QAT in 2030, and 10094 in 2019,

Far more information about the risk assodated with our financial abilities, see Nore (F 1) For more
information abowt fair values, see Nare (.20

Bonds
021 2020
[o—
Moty ke Cownban 0 g St Smorioen
“"’m {in € millsans)
Eurclspnad B - 2034 023 L 1.129% {fe) L2 £1.000 e oo
Eurcinon § — 2004 027 o0 2845 1. 750 {fix] 18T £1,000 085 1,008
Eurcbond 12 - 1015 Facka] A% 1.000% {f) 11X CH00 597 s67
Eurclond 14 - 2018 Facka) 1005160 0000 (vt -0.05% 500 a S00
Eurchond 15 - 2018 ] 5T 1,000% [lix) b Do €500 1W. 498
Ewrcibond 16 - 2018 Fak] 8,007 1.375% (i) 1.50% €500 apl 510
Curchand 18 - 2018 Fasks] 6540 0.290% () % - LR00 0 L]
Evrclteaned 12 — Jﬂl-ﬂ Rﬂi-d IH.E'-"'.-“' 0, 750% (fix) l}.ﬁ‘;“t ﬁ‘ﬂ 'B-ﬂ' ﬂ-“i
Eurckrond 20 - 2018 oze 98,8715 1.250% {fix) L £1.000 82 1,009
Lurcteond 21 - 2018 mn 0,382 1.02%% {fix) LT £1.250 1223 im0
Emu 33 - 0 FL=kr] ﬂ:?lhh ﬂ.ﬂﬁﬂv Iil'rl!J oo L4500 m 5#'
Eurchond 23 - 2020 026 o0.200% 01255 {fo) [ . €600 e sos
Eurobond 24 - 2020 0 8,787 0.375% {fix) 0.81% €800 o8 Tae
Ereee] it i iz i F = g
UISD band - 2018 025 100.000% DUFEL% (var DB USE300 204 s
Bonds . 781 10,355
All of our Eurobonds are Fsted for rading on the Luxemibourng, Stock Excnange.
231s3m
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Private Placements
2091 200
[Noarmbnad Wil i ¢
EMpctive iitarest  (in respective L g AL
Maburity Coupon Rate R in . :‘H}Hﬂ {ir £ millions)
millions) 1 & Mtlens]
U5, private placements
Tewnchee T = 2012 o2z 1E® Lh} 3.3 USS444 5 I 3Ty
Teanche 8 — 2012 2004 1.0 () 137 [T hrd ] g ] i
Tearrchee 5 - 2012 2027 35 e ) EE ] uEEing B L]
Pitati placemeils T 74F

Tre LS. private placentent notes wene ssued by one of our subsceanies 1hat has the ULS. dollar a5 its
functional cumency

Commercial Paper

e net proceeds from our commencial paper program (Commercial Paper, or CP) are being used for
peneral corporate purpdses, including dividends end share repurchases. As al Decembar 31, 2021, we
hrad €330 milion of issued commercial paper outstanding with maturities generally less than six
manths and the carrying amount 'was €931 milion (Decermber 31, 2020 €931 milion). The weightad
averape intenest rete of our CPwes -0.48% 83 at December 31, 2021 (Decemper 31, 2000; ~0.4006)
Loans

i 2021, peiow £0 it5 origined marity date, SAP repaid the remamng €1.250 millkon from. the term loen
crEwn In 2005 for e acuucsiion of Quslings

I March 2021, SAP drew twio short-term back Loans of €950 million and €500 million with teruars of
one year, In Novernber 2021, tu tenors were exlended 1o Seplembaer 30, 2022, The loans cén be
repaid fexibly over ime, and currently bear intenest at 0.55% and 0.52%, respectively,

Reconciliation af Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

The chenges in our financial debs amre reconciled to the cash fiows from bomowings incleded in the cash flow from financng

activitias.

£ i b T T | Cah Flows. cmm ;::g F?h;:‘"ﬁ Odher 13021

Current financial debt 1,482 GBO 1 1 o 1,201 ﬁl
Hon-curent financial deby 11801 -1.052 2 TE ] -L.2%1 0,330

Financlal debt {nomnal volume) 13,283 =272 3 79 [ o u.ﬁeu

Basm adusimend 126 o L] 3 -183 o -3

Trantaction sosis ) 0 '3 o o 1 s
Financlal debt {carrying ameunt} 1238 272 1 0 13 n 13,008
Azerued inleredl a1 Qa a L] 1] -1 60
INbenEEl fa%e Twvaps 114 Qa a 1 157 o az

Lot 2120 ma a 104 -] o) 2,143
Tetal liabilite s from nanding activiges 15411 -E46 7 147 -& FL 15,250

b Oty nCludes nesw Dense Gobeliies
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€ mistiors VUMD Cath Rows Sy Fottgn Fal\akah ome  1MILZONG
Combsnations Cumency Changes

Current financial debl 2820 2202 2 17 o e
Hon-urrent fnancial debs 11138 2000 1 o o 1251 11800
Financlal debl {nominal volume) 13,660 ~zn2 2 -10% o 0 12,203
Batiz schumiment T P a P 117 o 128
Trafdbstion ol -84 18 o a -] 14 ]
Finaneisl debt (carrying smourd) 19,615 -298 2 109 17 14 13,344
Accrved intgrest &7 0 0 a o " 61
T —— ? 0 o 2 423 o 114
Lease! 204 _378 15 175 o 404 2,120
Total liabilises from fnancing actyies 15,895 675 17 733 -5 413 15,411
Oty e ludies |||:w-ltf.'nr- [ TN

2331338

312/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Mianagement R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstadnablity Indomation

Section F - Management of
Financial Risk Factors

This section discusses financial nsk factors and risk management regarding foresgn currency exchange
rata rigk, intenest rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk, and Uguidity risk. Further, it contains information
about indnciad nstruments

(F.1) Financial Risk Factors and Risk Management
&) Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments

We use derivatives to hedge foreign currency risk or interest rate risk and designate them as cash flow
o fair value hedges il they qualify for hedpe acoounting under IFRS 9, wiich involves judgment

Derivatives Mot Designated as Hedging Instruments

Many transactons constitlute aconomic hedges, and therefore contrioute effectively to the secunng of
financial risks but do not qualify for hedge accounting under |FRS 9. To hedge cummancy risks inherent
in foresgn-currency denominated and recognized monetary assets and labdiies, we do not designate
awr held-for-trading dedvative inancial mstriments as accounting hedges, bacause the prafits and
losses from the underdying ransactions are recognized in profit or loss in the same periods as the
profits or losses from the dervatives.

In addition, we occasionally have contracts that contain foreign cumency embedded denvatves that
are required 1o be accounted for separately

[Fair valuwe fuctuations in the spot component of such derivatives at FYTPL are included in Other non-
aperating incomefexpense, net while the forward elerment is shown in Financal income, net

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
a) Cash Flow Hedge

In general, we apply cash flow hedge accountng to the: foreign curmency risk of highly probeble
forecasted transactons. With regand to forelgn cummency risk. hedge accounting relates to the spot
peica and the intrinsic values of the derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges.
Accordingly, the effective portion of these components determined on a present value basis is
recorded in other comprehensive income. The forwand elemeant and time value as well as foraign
currency basis spreads excluced from the hedgng relationship are recorded as cost of hedgingin a
separate position in other comprehensive income, As the amounts ane not materal, they are
presented ogether with the effective portion of the cash flow hedges in our consolidated statements
of comprehensive income and consolidated statements af changes in equity, All other components
including counterparty credit risk adjustments of the dervative and the ineffactive portion are
immediately recognized in Finandial lncome, net in profit o loss. Amounts accumulated in ather
comprehensive income are réclassifed to profit or loss to Other non-operating incem efexpense, net
and Fnancial income, net in the same perod when the hedped item affects profit or Loss.

b) Fair Value Hedge

Wi appty fair value hedge accounting for oertain of our fixed-rate financial Usblities and show the fair
wale luchuations in Bnsncisl income, nel

<) Valuation and Testing of Efectiveness

Arinception of a designated hedging relationship, we document our risk management stralegy and
the economic relationship besween hedged iem gnvd hedging instrument. The existence of an
CConemic relationship is demonsirated a5 will a5 the effectiveness of the hedging relationship tested

234338
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prospectvely by applying the erftical terms match for our lorsign curency hedges., sinoe curendes,
maturites, and the amoents e dosely alignad for the forecasted ransactions and for the spat
aement of the forwand exchange rate contract or intinsic value of the Cufrancy oplians, respeclively,
For interest rate swaps, effectivenass is lested prospectively using statistical methods in the form of a
regres sion analysis, by which the validiey and extent of the selationship between the change in value
of the hedged items as the independent vardable and the fair value change of the derivatives as the
dependent vasiable is determined. The main sources of ineflectiveness are:

= The effect of the counterparty and our own credit sk on the falr value of the fonyerd exchange
contracts and intenest rate swans, which is not reflected in the respectve hadged iem, and

- [fferenices in the gming of nedged item and hedged ransacton in our cash Row hedges

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 16, IFRS 4, and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The 1458 issued amendments to IFRS 9, A5 39, IFRS 16, IFRS 4, and [FRS 7 on August 26, 2020,
completing Phase 2 of the Intesest Rate Banchmark Reform (IBOR reform) prosect This was
miscassary Decause major interest rate benchmarks were reformed of even replaced,

We are exposed to interest rate bendhmanics due to our investing, financing, and hedgng activities.
The impact of te interast rate benchmark refom, however, is very limited either because e interest
rate benchmarks we ate mainly using wil stay s place (that is, Eurbor, USD Fed Funds Rate), the
instrumants will mature well befona the respective banchrmark rate is discontinued, or because the
instruments have fixed interest rates.

We are Impacted by the IBOR reform with regard t0:

= Derivatives held in 8 hedgng relationstin; We héve sieady replaced the old interest rate
benchman: with the new risk-free rate Tor our EUR intevest rate swaps designated in hedging
relationships for which we fransitioned from EOMNLA (o Euro Short-Term Rete (€378) + 8.5bps in the
first guarter of 2071, or

- Mos-derivative inancal instuments: We are in he process of reviewing and amending the
reEspective contracis well befone the respectve IBOR will no longer be guoded, which i the case for
our USD bond of US5300 million referencing to three-maonth USD LIBOR.

We conginue to moniter the [BOR reform project. assess any impect, manage our ransition o
alternative benchmark rates, and provide respective disclosures. Apart from that, the IBOR reform had
N0 IMpEect on Our fsk management srategy.

We are exposed 1o verious finemcial rsks, such as market risks (that s, forelgn currency exchan ge rate
sk interest rate risk, and equity price risk), credit risk, and Uguidity risk

We manage markel risks, credit risk, and Uguidity ngk on a Group-wide basss through our @obal
treasury department, global risk management, and gobal eredit management. Risk management
polices ane establishad 1o identily rigks, 10 Sel approprate risk Hmis, and 10 monioe risks. Risk
management policies and hedging strategies ane Laid out in our intermal guidelnes for example,
Trirgsury puideling &nd other intemal godelings), and are subject 1o continuous intemal rdaw,
analysis, and updgte to reflect chenges in merket cond iors snd our business.

We oniy punchase derivative financial iInstuments. o reduce risks and not for speculstion, which is
cefined as entering into derivative instruments without a comesponding underlying ransection

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Factors

A5 we are active worldwide, our ordinary operations gre sulbrect to risks associated with fluctuations n
lorsign currencias. Since the Group's enlities manly conduct their operating business in heir own
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funeton bl curmencies, owr risk of exchange rate Rucuations from ongornp andindry Opirations s nol
considered significant Howaver, SAP occasionally generates loreign currency-denominated
receivables, payables, and other monelary ilems by Farsacting in & curmency olver than the functions)
currency. To miligate the extent of the associated forign curmency exchange rate riske tha majosity ol
these ransactions are hedged as described below.

In rére crcumstanoes, Iransacting in a curmency ofher than the functional currency also leads 1o
embedded foreign currency dervaltives being separated &nd measured at fair value through profit o
Loss.

I egdition, the mtelleciual property (IP] nolders in the SAP Group ane exposed bo rsks assoliated
with forecasted intercompany cash flows in foreign currencies. These cash flows arise out of royally
pevments from subsidiaries 1o the respective IP holder, The ropelties are Unked to the subsidierles’
external revernue, This arangement leads o a concentration of the forelgn currency exchange rate risk
Wwith the IP hiolgers, as the royelties sne mosily denominated in the subsidiaries locel currencies. while
the functional currency of the P holders with the kighest royally volume is the euro. The highest
foreign currency exchange rate exposure of this kingd relates o the currencies of subsidiares with
significant operations, for example the U5, dollar, the pound sterling, the Japanese yen, the Swiss
franc, #nd the Australian dollar

Generally, we ane not exposed sy signifcent forelgn currency exchange rabe risk with regard (o gur
investng and financing activities, & such activities are normally conducted In the funcBonal curmency
of the investing or bofrowing entity.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Management

W continuously monitor our exposune to cumency fluctuation risks based on monetany items and
forecasted transactions and pursue a Group-wide strategy to manage fonelgn currency exchange rate
sk, using derivative financial instruments, primanily foreign exchange forward contracts, as
aporopriate, with the primary aim of reducing proft or loss volatility. Most of the hedging Instruments
ane not designated &5 being in 8 hedge ecoounting relatonship

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments (Cash Flow Hedges)

W enter into derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward confracts, o hedge
significant forecastind cash flows (royallies) from honegn subsdiates denommated in forign
curencies with & hedge ratio of LIt end a hedge horzon of up o L2 months, which is glso the
manimium maturity of the foreign exchange dedvatives we use.

For all years presented, no previously highly probable ransaction designated as a hedged item in a
‘m:-ig-! currancy casn low hedge relatonship coased 10 be probable. Therelane, Wwa did not
gsconlinue any of our cash flow hedge relationships. Also, ineffectiveness was either not matenal o
non-exstent in el vears reported. Generally, the cash flows of the hedged forecasted ransactions ane
expected (o aoocur and 10 be recognized in profit or loss monthly within a time frame of 12 months
from the date of the sta2ement of financial position.

Trie amounts &5 8t December 31, 2021, slating 1o ierms designated as redged items were as follows:
Designated Hedged Items in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Forecasted Licerse Paymonts

£ millins 2021
Chargge in valise Lsed for caloulntng hedge ireBleciveness -3
Cadh Now hedge ~I8
mtdm =2

m- mlﬂl'ﬂ. -.":m l:!!h H.wmdmmuminnﬂ ﬂdh';ﬂ_lﬂmﬁl E'BH-I'HIL;'HH
apphicd
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The amounts as at December 31, 2021, designated as hedging instruments were as follows:

Designated Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Fovecasted Licerse Payments

£ miillions 2001
Fiomenal amour 1023
Carnying aneon
" Oer fnanciol assets 1
Duhed linanciol Babdites -3
Chargge i valise recopgrred n OC1 -2
Hedde imﬂethmn.r.rmﬁimthmr gome . nel | [
ot of hedging recognized in OCI 2
Amount s classified from cash e hedge in OC! 02 Other pon operaing income, net. =
amouni rediavilied from oot of hedging in Q01 1o Finanoe noome, net I o

On December 31, 2021, we hewd the followéng instrements 1o hed e exposunes 1o changes in forelgn
CUTBNCY:

Details on Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Matity
2021
1=6 Manths 7= 12 Months

Forward exchangs contrects
Ml exposse in € millians e 253
Average EURTGEP forward rase ' 087 088
Airage EURPY Rotward tate 13052 13632
hvirage EUR.CHE lonwerd rate 10w e
A ragpe ELSR AL Forward rake . 158 161
acrrage EUR LG D forward rale 119 1.14

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure
Ohur riske exposure is based on the following assumptions

- The SAP Group's entites generally operate in their functional cumrencies, In exceptional cases and
lmited economic environments, operating transactions are denominated in comenches other than
the functional currency, leading to a forelgn cumency exchange rate risk for the related monetary
Instruments. Where material, this foreign currency excnange rate risk s hedged. Therefore,
fluctuations i foreign curmency exchange rates do not have a significant impact on eithér profit or
ottver comprenensive income with regand to our ron-derivative mometary financial instruments and
related income of exXpenses

- Qur free-standing derivatives designed for hedgng forelgn cumency exchange rate risks almost
completely belance the changes in the tair values of the hecged item atributable 1o exchange rete
maowvements in the Consolidated Income Statements in the same period, As & conseguence, e
redged iems and te edging instrumenis ane not sxposed to foreign curency exchange rate
figkes. and thereby have ro effect on profl

Consecuenty, we are only exposed 10 Sgeificent foreign curency exchange rate fuchsations with
regard to the following:
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Thiz spot component of derivatves held within g designated cash low hedge relationship affecing
other comprenensive inoema

Forelgn curmency embedded derivatves affecting other nom-operatdng expense, net

Trus, our foreign curmency exposure (8nd our averageigh/low exposure) as at December 31, 2021,
wils a5 follows!

Foreign Currency Exposure

€ bitthons 021 2020
Wenr-erwd exporsire drannd ol CL Magor CUTEnCees 14 Lk
PI—— ' 11 09
Hipghest exposuny 148 140
Liovwmsil copirure 10 LIk

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We calculate our sensitivity on an upward/dowmwand shift of «/-1096 of the foreign cumrency exchange
rate between the ewo and &l maor currencies {020 +/-1084 of the foredgn curmency exchange rate
bepasen the eunp and all other major cumencies; 2009 «/-10846 of the foreign curmency exchange rate
betwesn the euro and &l other major cumencies). if, on December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the
foreign currency exchange rates had been higherflower as described above, this would hawve had the
following effects on other non-ooerating expense, net and oiver comprenensive ncome

Foreign Currency Sensitivity
Efexts on Otfer Hon-Operating Experae, el Elfects on Other Comparhonabee Ingome

£ i
i 2hze 20 2021 fan 2me

D isrativi-s held within o designated cosh Row hedge felbtion hip

All Fsgor cusensied — 109 (200 all major curtehog - 10%: A &3 53
2019 oll major cutfendos -10%)

A1l magor cumenches + 109 (2020; l mafor cumencies +L0%: 104 i3 53
B010: sl major currences «10%)

Embedded derfvatees
Al cunrenoees - L0 o 40 53

Al cuntendes +10% =4 A% 53

Interest Rale Risk
Interest Rate Risk Factors

We are exposed to interest rate rsk as a result of our investing and financing activities mainly in euros
arvd U5, dollars, since a large part of our investments are based on variable rates andfor shoe
maturites (2021 676 20200 67%) &nd most of our financing ransactions ane based on fived retes
and long maturities (2021 879 2020; 85%),

Imterest Rate Risk Managemant

e aim of our interest rate risk management is to reduce prafit or loss volallty and optimize our
interest resull by creating a balanced structurg of fixed and variable cash flows, We therafare manage
inTeresl FEt0 Asks Dy dding interesi-rate nelated derivalive inslruments to .8 g portfolo of
investments and debl inancing. The desined Med-flosting mix of our net debtis set by the Treasury
Committee.
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Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments (Fair Value Hedges)

To matck the Fterest rate fsk from our fnencing ransacfions o our investiments, we use meceiver
Interest rate swaps to comvert certain foed-rate financial labilities to floating. and by this means
sicure the far vaiue of the swapped financing ransactions on a 11 ratio. lhcluding intesest rate
swaps, 509 (2020 48%) of our otal interest-bearng financial labilites outstanding as at
Pecemier 31, X1, had a fixed interest rate,

The amounts as at December 31, 2021, relating to iterms designated as hedged items were as follows:

Designated Hedged items in Interest Rate Hedges

FLER Y
£ ikl Fiznd-Rate Bﬂm FI&HIHMm
Fiobional amounl 4550 285
Cayirg smounl A S0 Fa 7]
Accumidabed for value odu s bn Orther financial liabilites = 24
Chiarsge: in low volue used for measunng nelfectivencss =3 -3
Mudmtﬂﬁrm hedige nﬁ.rﬁwuhe o 18
Fdged iterm eeased 1o be adqusied lor hediting geintdouies
Trie amaownts & &t December 31, 2021, desgrated 85 hedgng instrements were &5 follows:
Designated Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges
2021
£ million. Intwroal Rale Swap for Irtureat Rate Swaps for
EUR Borrewing LD Borrowing
Blational ool 4550 o
Calndng H'HDLI';[ -
Dhes financinl pasets 0 7
it [inanciol Babiite: 4% a
Charge in ol volue used for me ssuring ine(fectiveness A% 7
As @t Decermner 31, 2021 we reld the Tollowing msruments o bedge exposunes 1o changes
Intere st Fatas:
Details on Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges
201
Waturity
£ millioen 1027 2004 027 bl ] blivs ] 2030 2031
EUR bniberest rafe vwaps
MaervEnal aFOLI 1000 1,000 o] S00 1250
Svetnge wonable nloresl rate 1.460% =1k L] 0.33%% OBl L031%
USD interest rate swaps
Haonvinal EMOLS 108 B8
Aoverape vanable inwest rasg 1.081% DLEDW

Hore of the fair value adjustment from the receiver swaps, the basls adjustment on the underlying
hedged items held in fair velue hedge relationships. and the difference between the bwo recognized in
Firancial incorne, net, is matenal inany of e years presenind

239

318/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP  sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstadnakslity Irsbpermma thosn
Interest Rate Exposure

Orsr interest rate exposure (and our average/igh/fow exposure) as at December 31 was as follows:

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

01 2020
£ Bdlnne
Levad

¥easEnd Average High Lew  vearEnd Evernpe High

Falr walue intered rabe riik
Froem irniestmenis (1IE ] 003 0.03 ooz o0z Qo Likik] 002
Cath Bow interesl rate ek
From irestments fincluding cah) | i Fs 6.25 172 48T 458 T.14 577 458
Froen Tinancing, 1711 207 285 170 1539 318 Rk 199
Froen mledesd by saags 483 482 483 A8 481 478 510 4,30

Interest Rate Sensitivity

A sensitivity anglysis is provided 1o show the mpact of our interest rale S5k exposune o profil of [oss
arnd eguily in accondance with IFRS 7, considening the following:

Changes in interest rats only affect the sceouniting for non-dermasivie fved-rate fnancial
instruments if hey arg recogrized &1 fair value, Thenefore, swch interest rate changes do not
change the canmdng amounts of our ron-dervatve fiedrate finsncisl labiifes, a5 we account for
them &t amorized cost Investments in fived-rate Bnancal assets classified as fair velue through
rgli oF Loss wene ol materal at each year and reported, Thus, we do nol consider any fxed-rafe
Instiements in the equity-selated sensilivity caloulation,

- Income or expenses recorded in connection with non-derivative financial instruments with variable
Interest retes are subject to interest rate risk if they are not hedged itlems in an effective hedge
relationship. Thus, we tEke into consideraton interest rate changes relating to our varable-rate
financing end our investments in money matdet instruments in e profit-related sensitivity
calculatan
T Cesignation of intanest rate riceiver Swaps i g fair value hedge relationsin Wrads 0 renest
rete changes affecting Financial income, net. The falr value movements related 1o the interest rate
swaps e not reflected in the sen Si0vily caltulation, as they offsel the Moed INTEnest reoe peyments
for iz bonds and peivate placements & hedped items, Howewer, changes in marker intengst rates
affect thie smount of intemst payments from the ienest rate Swan, AS 8 conspquence, wWe mcude
those effects of marke? interest rates on Interest payments in the profit-related sensitviyy
caloulation

Due 1 Mo diferent interest rate expectations for the U.S. dollér and the euro ared, we base our
sensivity analyses on a vield curve upwand shift of +75/+20 basis points (ops) for the U.S. dolieriewno
argd (20200 +504+ 10003 tor the LS, dollarfeuro anea; 2015 +50/+ 100ps for the LS. dollarfeuro area),
and 8 yeld curve dowmwand shift of -255-200ps for the LS. detlar‘euro ama (20200 -50/-200ps for
the LS, dollarfeuro area; 2019 S0/~ Hoos for the US. dollar/euro anea)).

Il, on December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, interest rates had been higherlower than as described
above, this would not have had a material effect on Fnancial income, net, for our variable interest rate
investments end would have had the following effects on Fnancigl income, net

2401338

319/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Addiional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statemants IFRS Sarstadnabity Indomation

Interest Rate Sensitivity
EMests on F-rn-wu_ IFgore, m:

£ millin —
ratrad 020 2018
Crerivatives held within a didignated Lein valise hedge rlationship
Ieerisd fabis « PEbps lor WS, dollal areals 206ps bof ourd s (2000) ~500- 10bps bt 70 at Zaa
5. dollarieuro area; 2006 +500+10bps for LS. dollanewro anea)
Imierest rakes - 250ps for WS, dollr orea'-20bps for euro orea (2020; -'500-20kgs for P ™ 1
ULS, dollreuro anea; 20090 -50 J-20bps Tor US. dollan' o anes)
Warlable-rate financing
Ireresd rabis = TEbpd lof 5, dollar areal 20bpt bof ound arpa (30207 500 10bp bor 1 & 8
U5, dollerfeuro anea; 2005 500+ 10bps for LS. dollaneuro anea)
Irdeeesd robes -2%0ps lor WS, dolle areal-20bps tor cuno oeen (2020; -500-200ps for T & @

W15, dollarniewrn area; 2009: ~50/-20bps for U S, dollarieurg area)

Equity Price Risk

Equity Price Risk Factars

W ane maposed 10 equity price fisk with regand 1 our inVesIMEnTs in egualy secusies and our shang
besed payments plans

Equity Price Risk Management

Our listed equity invesmments are monitored based on the current merket value that is affected by the
fluctuations in the volatle stock markets worldwide. Unlisted equity invesiments are monitored based
on detailed financial information provided by the investees, Tha fair value of our lsted equity
investments depends on the equity prices, while the fair value of the unlisted eguity mvestments is
influenced by various unobservable inpul factors.

We also moniter the exposure with regénd to our share-based payment plans, To reduce resulting
profit or loss volaulizy, we hisioncaly hedged cenain cash flow exposures associsted Wwith these plans
by purchasmg dervative instruments, but we did nat apoly hedge accounting. This praclice oeased n
June 2021

Equity Price Exposure

O Decermber 31, 2021, our exposure from our imvestments in equity securiies was €5, 799 million
{2030 £3.113 million; 2019 €1,996 millon)

For information about the exposune from our shame-based payments plans, see Ao (8.3

Equity Price Sensitivity
O sensitivity towards & Ruciuation in egquity prices is as follows!
Equity Price Sensitivity

€ millions. 20 020 Pl

Envesiments in equity seouities

|I'H'..H':H;' In equity prices and respective
urscbrienvalbie inputs of 10% - indreae of 515 50 5
financigl income, rat

Decrease in cquity prices ond respecie
urobsenvabie nputs of 10% - decresse of ~515 250 L7
financial mcome, met
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Credit Risk

Credit Risk Factors

To reduce e credit gk in imvestments, we ArfEnge 10 recEve fif!“lm 1w collaters! for comain FWEEING
ectivites in the full smount of the imvestment velume, which we would be allowed 1 meke use of only
in the case of default of the counterparty to the investment In the absence of other significant
Egrecments 1o reduce our credit risk exposune, the totel Bmoents ecognized as casn and cash
equivalents, current investments, loans, and ather finandal receiveies, rede receivables, and
cervative financiel assets represent our mEximurn exposure to credit risks, ecept for the agreements
mentonss SHowe.

Credit Risk Management
Cash at Banks, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

To mitigate the credit sisk fram our investing activiies and derivative financal assess, we conduct all
our sctivities only with spproved maior fimancial insiiutions gnd issuers that carry high extermal
raungs, as reguired by our interma easury gadeting. Among its stipulatons, the guideline reguines
that we nvest only in assets from issuers with & mimimurm rating of 8t least "BEB flai” We only vest
i is5Lers With & Lower rating in exceplonsl cases. Such invwesiments wen rol mateied in 2021 and
20020, Tre weighted sverage rating of our firancial assels is A We pursue a policy of cautous
investments charactenzed by prodominantly Cument iFEsnents, S1andand INvastment NSruments, as
well as a wide portfolio diversification by daing busness wih a varely of counterparties,

Tor furthtir reducd OUF Erecil fak, wie reduine eollatensl for certain imvestments i the full smoust of the
imvestment wolurme, which we would be #lowed o make use of in the case of default of the
coUnterpaty o e investment AS such colateral, we only accept bonds weth at least I EstTEn L
grade rating level

In addition, the concentration of oredit risk that exists when counterparbes are ivolved in similar
activites by instrument, sector, or geographic area is further mitigated by diversification of
counterpertes Mroughout the world and adherence to 8 intemat Umit sysem for each counerpey
Tis imternal limit system stipulates that the business volume with indhvidua! counterparties is
restricted to a defined imit that depends on the lowest official long-term credit ratdng svailele by 8t
lesst one of the maor reting agendes, e Ter 1 capital of the respective financlal institution, or
participation in the German Depositors’ Guarantee Fund or smiar protection schemes, We
continuously monitor strict compliance with these counterparty mits. As the premium for credit
default swaps mainly depends on markel participants’ assessments of the creditwortvness of 8
debtor, we also closely observe the development of credit default swap spreads in the market to
evaluate prodable rish developments and react in & Umely manner 1o changes should these manilest

Foe cash 81 Danks, the JRpOSTSs, &vd debl securiies such a5 scguited Dons Of COmmins sl paper,
wi 2nply the general impairment spproach. As it is our policy 1o ondy invest in high-guastity Bssets of
issuers with a minimum rating of 81 least investment grade so 85 1o minimize the nsk of credit Llosses,
we use e low eredit rislc excention. Trug, these assets ar alweays sllocated 1o stage L of the three-
STage Credl oss model and wa record 8 Woss slowance for an amount egual o L2-month expecied
credit losses, This loss allowance Is caloulated Dased on our exposure 8s &7 the respective reporting
date, the Loss gven defeult for this exposure, and e oredit defeult Swap spresd & & measure for the
probability of defedl, To ensure thet during thelr fetme our investments always Tfill the reguirement
of being Saestment-grace, We momtor chingos in credit sk by racking published extermal cnedit
ra-'.;ngs.mmg ater E‘IE!‘IHS_ we consider cash at banks, ime ﬂepﬂ.ﬁ:ﬁ_ and dedt Sl‘.'EIJI"iI'_'E'S o bein
cefault when the counterparty is uniikely to pay i obligations in full, when there i information spout
& counterparty’s financial difficuldes, or in case of a drastic increase i the credit default swap spread
of & counterperty for & protonged tme period wiile the overall market envinonmaenT rMmans ralner
stable, Such Bnancel assets gre written off elther partially or In full if the lkelinood of recovery is
consicened remote, which might be evicenced, for example; by the benkruptcy of & counterpemy of
such financiel assets,

24238
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The default risk of our trade recevvables is managed separately. mainly based on assessing the
creditworthiness of customers through extemal ratings and on our past experdence with the cusiomens
concemed. Based on this assessment, individuat coedit limits are established for edch customer and
ceviations from swch credit imits need o De approved Dy Management

We apply the smplfied Impairment epproach using a provision matriy Tor all rade receivables and
contract a55ets 1o t@ke into account any bfetime expected credit losses slready at inillel recogriton
For the purpose of the provision matrix, customers ane dustered into different risk classes, mainly
besed on market infprmetion such as the country risk assessment of teir country of orign, Lass reles
used to reflect lfeime expected credit losses are determined using a roll-rate method based on the
probenilty of & receivable pragressing tinough ditferent stages of being overdue and on our SCtusl
credit loss expenence over the past years. These (oss rates are enkanced by forwerd-looking
inforrmadon to reflec differences between economic condifions durng the perdod over which the
restorical data has been collected, current conditions, and the expectad changes in the economic
congitions over the expected Life of the recelvebles, Forwand-looking information is based on changes
i country risk ratings, or Ructuations [n credit default swaps of countries of the customers we do

sy

eSS W, We contnuousty mordtoe outstandng receivables locally 1o assess whether there 5

objective evidence that our rade recevabies and ocontract assets are credit-impaired, Evidence that
trade receivables and contract assets e credl-impaired indude, among te rade receivabies being
past due, information about significant financial difficulty of the customer or non-adherence to a
peyment plan, We consider recelivables to e in default when the counterparty is unb&ely to pay its
obligations i full, However, a delay of payments (for exemple, more than 90 days past due) in the
rormil course of business glone does not necessarly indicate @ customer defzull, We write off
account balances either partially or in full IF we judge that the likelinood of recovery is remote, which
might be evidenced, for example, when bankrupicy proceedings for & customer are finglized or when

all enforcement effons nave been exausied

T irnpact of delfaudt on our rade recivables Irom individual customers is mitgated by our Large
customer base and its distribution across many different industries. company sizes, and countries
winldwide, For more information about aur trade receivables, see Mods (4.7)

Credit Risk Exposure
Cash, Time Deposits, and Debt Secuwities

As ot December 31, 2021 our exposue to credit risk from cash, ime deposits, and debt securities

was as follows!

Credit Risk Exposure from Cash, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

£ o, Lnless olth

Feink clamy, 1 - low risk
e class 2 - high risk
Rink claas. ¥ - unested

€ millinen, st olhersier Wabed

(e clams 1 - bow rislc
Rink clans. 2 - high mk
Pl chass 3 - unratcd

Todal

2021
e — ™ | oS Carrying Gross Carmying

R bid Weighoed Aieiade it Mot € rodit- Amaurt Cradit- ECL Allswancn
Rating Loss Rate i . o

A8 10 BEB- = 0P & Bha o 3

BB oD Ll 37 1] L]

o ~10.7% F 0 -1

~01% 6530 0 -5

2020

Equivalent 1o Extemal  Weighted Average Loss  Geoss Camying Amount  Grmss Camying Amcunt _—

Rate Mot Creditimpained Credit-irpusined e

454 o BEB- —0.X% 4 2486 (1] -3

BB 160 0.0% E) o o

BA =11 3% 23 o =3

-0.4% 4,838 0 -6
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As at December 31, 2021, the major part of our other loans and other inancial receivables was
concentrated in Germany. There weare no laans, or ather finandial recaivablas past due but not
impaired arnd we had fo indications of impairments of such sssels thatl wene nol past due and rnal

impaired as at that date

Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

A5 al Decermber 31, 2001 our exposune to credif fsk from rade eotvoblis wis 25 follows:

Credit Risk Exposure from Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

€ millions, undess othorate Rated

AR el dhue el dhue

AR pverdue 110 30 days

AR orverdue 30 1o B0 days

AR pverdue more than 90 doys
T;:ﬂ'-ll.

E milliors, unless othervise stated

AR necit due and due
AR pvtndoe 10 30 dayi

AR peepdue 30 10 B0 days

AR ot e :rmwﬂ.m
TOTAL

244338

L |

Weighted Average Lass  Gross Carming Amount  Grows Camying Amaunt TR
Rate ot Credit-Smpalred Cradit-dmpadred

—3.5% 4,106 & 19

10 611 57 -7

L% 514 4= -10

-19.%% 42 240 138

-5."““ l\?‘.ﬂ“ 1 -l?‘l

020

Weighted Averape Loss Rate h;:mm oot cmm ECL Aliowance

-0.2% 4,426 o 10

-0.5% 541 n =5

LB £ 61 -8

-‘i‘ﬂ-“ 95 273 -l.l-i

~29% 6,012 405 -106

For 2021, the mavermentin the ECL sllowance for rade receivables and contract assels 5 as follows!

Movement in ECL Allowance for Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

£ millioins

Bolenoe &% ol L1

et crocht bosies tecogiied
Amaunis wnkien ofl
Bolance as ol 12731

Liguidity Risk

Liquidity Risk Factors

ELE]

~186
-#7
58
~175

We are exposed 10 liguidity risk from our obligations towands suppiers, employeas. and financial

institutions.

Liquidity Risk Managemeant

Dwr Lguidity is managed by our global treasury deparment with the primary aim of maintaining
Lguidity &t & level that is adeguate 1o meal our inancal oblightons.

Generally, our primany sounce of

liguidity is funds generated from our busness operations. Our glonal

redsury depariment manages bguidiny centrally for all subsidiaries. Where possible. we pool ther
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cash surplus so that we can use liguidiny centrally for our business operations, for subsidiades’ funding
requinements, or 1o invesT any net surplus in the markel With this sirategy we seek 1o oplimize yelds,
while ersuing Eguicity, by investing anly wih counterparties and isswers of high credi quality, a
explained before. Hence, high levels of liquid assets and mardoatable securities provide 4 strategic
reserve, helping keep SAP flexible, sound, and independent.

Apart from elfective working capital and cash managament, we Rave feduced the liguidity risk
infenent in managing our day-io-dey operations and meeting our financing responsiilities by
arrangrg an adequate volume of avalable chedit facilities with vanous financial iInstiutions on wiich
we can draw if necessany

In orgder to retain high financial Rexdpiling 0 2017, SAP SE entered into a €2.5 oillion syndicated credit
faciliny agreament with a term untl 2024, The use of the fecilioy is not restricied by any financial
covenants. Bomowings under the faclity bear interest of EURIBOR or LIBOR for the respective
currency plus & margn of 170ps, We gre also regured 1o pay & commirnent fee of 595008 per
anmurm on e unused available credit We havwe not deawn on the faciing

In September 2019, we initigied a commercisl peper program (Commercial Paper, or CP), As at
December 31, 2021, we Pad €930 milion of CP outstending with maturites genersily less than s
mgeiths [2020: €930 million),

Additionally. a5 a1 December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group had svailanle imes of credit osing
£346 million and €372 million, respectively. There were immatens bormwings oulstandng wader
these lines of craci in all years presented.

Liquidity Risk Exposure

The table below is an analysis of the remaining contraciual maturities of all our fnancial abiites held
a5 &t December 31, 2021, Finencial labilites for which repayment can be raquested Dy e coniract
partner at any time ae assigned bo the eariest possible period. Vardable inberest payments were
caloulated using the latest relevant interest rate fixed as at December 31, 2021 As we generaly settle
our dervative contracts gEross, we show tree pay and receive legs separately for &l our curency and
Interest rata derivatives, whether or not the fair value of the derivative is negative. The cash outilows
far e curfency defvalives af trangiated using the applcable spol rate

Contractual Maturities of Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

— m Corracsis Cath Fliws
LI 022 w023 2024 s 026 Thereaur

Hon-deriyatiee inancial Babilites
Trade payabiles _1pE _1ped 0 o o o o
PIR— 2143 4l o 283 ~zon -184 g
" Other financist labiitcs iz _ape 108 122w g3 1188 4773
Total of nor-derivative Bnancial llabiises 1es17 Caan ~2.09 “Lam 114 “1.340 5707
n—— m Controciusl Cash Flres
- 12303030 0zl 2022 2023 I0Z4 2025 Tl'h!.l'cﬂ.flf

Hen-derivatiee inancial Rabilites
Trade payables 1014 1004 b [ o a o
[P———— ' zam _azs 359 mz 218 1 P
D‘ﬂ'l!'l"llﬂldﬂ Labdites -l!.:f'ul;ﬂ -1 982 =840 1,704 -1.711 -gl:ﬂ -5933
Total of nor-derivative Anancial llabHites 16904 ~3A2E 2009 1962 LA 1881 6064

245/338

324/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

To Our Combined Gioup Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on Additional
Stakeholders Management R eport Statements IFRS Sarstadnabdity Indomation

Contractual Maturities of Derivative Financial Liabilities and Financial Assets

— m Eontractust Cash Flows m Contrachiat Cah Flows
:.m:.i'im e : -ﬂi.mﬂll:\' I-E:'ﬁ:l.JEH-'Q 202t : .Mii'w
Dertvatrye Anancial labilites and assets
Doerivatie Rnancial Habilites
'.‘ipln-;rdmw.uvmmdrmﬁllrd nhﬁnmmwh &2 &1
Carsh outfiows ~z3m1 -1z 2,002 -7
Cash infmws 2327 o 242 ]
im!ﬁdmﬁ\'ﬂ desinated s Bedging ndthaments =31 . 1 o
Carsh outflows - - -819 -141
Cash infows Caem 139
Ired il Fale dfvalived diqiignated ol Fad g il 1] &
Cuth outfiras . =] ~ATH
Carsh inforws 50 Azl
Tedal of derbvative financial liabilities =142 =Té -&7 -6¥ =63 -7
Dierivatioe Ananclal assets
Curreny defivalives not designied m hedgng rruenment a5 £l
= e -I:T-"ﬁ —2452
Cash nfoes 2..1‘?! 2,4?‘:!3
Currensy destvalives desinated as hod@ng inatumenits 1 7
e Bept2 . 2 il e =
Cash inflows 1!'.I' T
Ireviest fabe dedratives desipnated os Bedging mstnaenis. T 114
Eash outhows ' o ' -4 A an 58
Cash inMws 2 s &0 495
Tedal of derbvative inancisl azset 53 51 2 158 11 a7
Todal of derivative financial llabilities and ety =9 =I% &% 9% G a0

(F.2) Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments
@ Level Transfers

It is our policy that ransfers betweesn the cfferent levels of the falr velue hieranchy are deemed o
kavve occurred at the beginning of the pefiod of the event or change in crcumstances that caused the
transfer

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We use various types of finendal instruments in the ordinary course of business, which are classified
a5 pither emortized cost {MC) or fair value through profit o foss (FYTPL). For those finencial
instruments measured at fafr value or for which fair vaiue must be disclosed, we have categorized the
financiel instnuments o & three-tevel fair value hierardhy depending on the inpuls used to determing
fair value and the'r significance for the valustion echniques

246338
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hierarchy

1IN0
Misasiuremant Cabsfories Fair Wl e
il Cabegory Camying -
ARDUNE  pensrtzed FEET Levell Level? Leveld  Towl
Cosi
ARty
Carsh H‘lﬂ‘ cash couavaleris 8,508
Cash 88 banks*® AT 3140 1149
Time deposis’ L1 1467 14857
Mhoney: market and similar hinds AR 2201 a1 a4 e
Trade and athor recehvabbes .40
Teti deerabiles? AC 5 888 58
Oriher recefvabdes’ = 11
Other finandlal assets 9033
. Dhebd s counbies . AT B 3y 30 | ] 30
Equity secunities FVTRL 5,790 LT s 155 4871 5700
Irrestmenils in ayvociabes’ 1=
Timar oty PP 2802 2802 2802 2802
qu'u:l.nl Frsinumenits relsied o erployes benelii plors! - ol ;
Lieans ared oither Snarcial receivables &C 1% 184 180 183
rervalive asaely
Designated oy hedgag matument
FX borevard conirecis = i 1 i 1
InGerest rote Dasps - 1 ] 7 7
ot Sesignated 4 hedging muumen: . .
Fk.‘lﬂbrﬂ‘mu‘;lﬂ. FTFL Al 41 41 ‘i
L‘Ham:inml'ar shere based poyminia l-"u'l"Fr. ﬂ - EI- a ﬂ
Coll EDIJOIﬂ oy ety shares FVTRL jiv] 1 10 1o
Llabaiis
anmm.ﬂu. 1702
bedl’."‘j!b'.'ﬂri' F AT -1..1:.;9 ~1,08%
Other payubles’ _g13 '
Firsancial lighiities 15,571
Hionr-defivative fnandil lisbiiber
“Loons - ac 150 181 189 159
Bt A 10682 10882 L a7
Prisile placements AC -780 700 801 01
Direes meoen: EHNHN‘IW;EHU‘MS-‘ AT -2.‘“‘1"‘ z.ﬂﬂ ~ZB1 281
Crerrvatives -
Designaled as hedging instument
FX borwvard conbracts 3l 3l al 3|
InBeresl fale Swaps £ ] AG an AR
Mot desamnated m hodgirg iainement
P foerwviid Codiracts FWTFL ~&2 -2 A2 -BZ
Todal financis] insbrumenits, net T..I..“ =3,194 8357 -’!\.1554 B ] 4. 581 =378
2471338
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hierarchy

L3I0y
- i c Meavuremaent Categories Falr value
mi i Oy m - i
Mnortized Valus Level 1 Level 2 Leveld Total
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification
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Determination of Fair Values

Adescripion of the valuaton echniques &nd the inputs used in e fair value MeasuneMantis gven
SO

24933

328/382



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP  sAP Integrated Report 2021

To Our
Stakitoiders

Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
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Determination of Fair Value'yaluation
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Fuirvalor  Detemiviaton of Pok Valsehaluation  ShyaicaniUnobaervable '7oTeagori Benween
Type wchy  Toches Sigrificant Unobsorvable inguts
and Fair Value Megiusemenl

Dereianted cath Niny, Expecied fulide
cinh Bovws ane estmated baved on
fonwaed nteresi rates from obasrvable

Inserest tate swaps  Lovel 2 et curves and contract interest rates, A WA
dincounied ak o rae Sl refledts the
crechil sk ol the counberparty:
Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value
Typa Fair Yolue Hierarchy Dedemmin ation ol Far Vslue® sluation Techrique
Fnancial linbiities
Fred-tute boreds (Erandial GabEtes) v 1 Crssded peic s in N acthae markel
Pragowrned cash Roas
Foopd-fute priva e plocemon i base {finandial Level 2 Future cority oufoes tor liwed inderoal and principal ane
LisbiEies) discouniled over the e ol the respective conlrscts using

the market méenes] rabes aa al the reporing dase.

For ather non-derivative financial assetsfliavlities and varigole rate finenciel debt, it is assumed that
their carmydng vsiue reasondoly aporoximates ther fair values,
Transfers Between Levels 1and 2

Transfers of equity securities from Level 2 to Level L, which occurred because disposal restrictions
lepsed and geducting a discount for such mestriction was no longer necessany, were €1,030 millan i
021 (2000 €91 million), while ransfers from Level 1 to Level 2 did not oocur at ail.

Level 3 Fair Value Disclosures
The following table shows the reconcliation of fair values from the opening o the closing belances for
our unbsted equity secunties end el oplions on equity shares cdassfied a5 Level 3 lair velues,

Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Values

& milliona. 2021 2020
LEL 2508 1808
Teaniferi
Inka Level 3 | 1]- 0
CunalLewvel 3 fi —lS\.’: -201
Purchaset 10748 EF i
Soles w52 m
.mm ;
Inctuded in Bransial income, nil 2340 o
.Irhduélednmu.g.edl:lrmemesmum-‘er Dmpn;u-n;wcnmw. 25& . 133.
1231 : : 4 881 2508
Charge I unneslized panuloses in profil of kg for edquily Fvesiments held o1 the 1780 -

wred Gl the fepoitng pood

Transters out of Level 3 are due o inital public offerings of the respective investees. Changng the
unobeenvable inpats 1o reflect ressonably possible altemative assumplions would Nnot hive a matens
impact on the far values of our unlisted equity securites held as FWTIPL as &t the reporting date.
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Consolidabed Fimanchal  Furiher Informaion on
Surstadnabdity

To Our Coamianed Gaoup

Management R eport Statements IFRS

Section G - Other Disclosures

This section provides addition al disclosures on miscellaneous topics, incuding information pert
o e Executive Boadd, the Supervisosy Board, related party ransactions, &nd other corporate
EOVEMAance JHrcs

(G.1) Prepaid Expenses and Other Tax Assets

2031 2000

Curent [P — Totsl ra—" P Totsl
e 242 P a6 187 gu2
219 P e 209 52 P
[ 8% L1ez T4 ] 43
1,833 2828 o A1 1321 1,935 3247
-] 11 20 53 12 28

Prepaid expenses primaniy consist of prepayments for hyperscalers, support services, and software

royalties. Other tax assets primarily consist of value-added tax (VAT)

(G.2) ©Other Tax Liabilities

Izl kil

Curmenl Man-Curing Total el don - Cuhtonl Total
E4E (1] BAE 63T [} 63X
5102 850 L 4543 TTO 5413

{ -4 1] 11 14 ] 1z

Oitver L3 Habilities prirmarily congisl of VAT, payroll T, sales Tax, 2nd withholding ra

(G.2) Other Litigation, Claims, and Legal Contingencies

This Mote discloses mlormation about ntelecius progey-related LEgatdn and claims, terelated
ltigatian ather than income tax-related Uigation (sea Mofe (0 5), and anti-bribeny and export caniriol
matters.

E’Un:lrl‘.linty in Context of Legal Matters

The polices outlined in Nane (A4 for customer-related provisions, which indude provisions for
customer-relaied LDgation cases and clams, equaly apply 10 our other hﬂg.ﬂlibr'-. clairns, ang legal
contingencies disclosed in this Mote,

The outcome of [tigation &nd claims is infrinsically sublect to considerable uncertainty, Management's
wigw of these rmathers may also change in he luture, Actual oubcomes of Ltigation and dams may
aiffer from the assessments made by managerment in proe periods, which could resull in a material
impact on our business, inancad position, profit. cash fows, or reputation. Most of the lawsuits and
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claims ane of & very individusl nature and claims are either not quantified by the claimants or the
claim amounts guantified are, based on histonical evidence, not expecied 1o be & good proxy for e
expenditune that would be reguined 1o resolve the case concemed, The specfics of he jurisdictons
whera most of the claims are located further impair the predictability of the outcome of the cases,
Trenetors, it is ypically not pracuicabie o reliably estimate the finencial effect that these lawsuits and
claims weuld have [ SAP were to incur expenditure for these cases.,

Further, the expected timeng of any resulting outfiows of economic benefits from these Lewsuits and
claims is Wypically uncertain and not estimable, a5 it depends ganerally on the duration of the legal
proceedings and settement negodations requined to fesolve them,

Wie are suDject 1o & verely of cems and Lawsuits that srise from ime to e in the ondinary cowrse of
Our business, incleding proceedings and dems hat relate [0 companies we have acdured, We will
continue to vigorously defend agednst &l clems ardd Lawsuits against us, The prowisions rechrded for
these claims and lawsuis o5 ol December 31, 2021, &ne neither individually nor in he aggregate
matens o SAP

Among the claims and lawsuits disclosed in this Note ae the following classes:

Intellectual Property-Related Litigation and Claims

Intelieciual property-related Uigation and clams are cases in which third paries have thwestened or
initiated Litgaton claiming that SAP violates one or maone intellectual property rights that they possess.
Such intellectusl property Aghts may include patents, copyights, and other similar rights.

Contingent labiites exist from intellectual property-related Figation and dalms for which no provision
ras peen recognized. Generally, it s not practcable 1o estimate the finencial impact of these
contingent labilites due to the uncertainties around the litgation and claims, as outlned above, The
total amounts cleimed by plaintffs in those intellectusl property-related (ewsults or claims in which a
claim has been quantified were nol materdal 1o us 85 at December 31, 2021 ang 2020, Based on our
piast expenience, mash of the intelleciusl propery-related Uigaton and claims wend 10 be either
gismissed n court or seted oul of court for amounis significantdy below the orlgnally demed
Srmaunts. We curently believe 1hat resolving e inteleciusl property-retabind claims and Lawsuits
pending a5 at December 31, 2021, will neither individually nor in the sggregate have & materal
adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, or cash flows,

Individual cases of intellectual property-related Uigation and claims include the following

In June X318, Teradata Corporation, Teradata LS, knc. and Teradata Operations, Inc. {collectively
*Terad&ta™) filed a civil lawsult against 5AP SE, SAP America, Inc., and SAP Labs, LLC in US, federal
court in California. Teradata alleged that SAP miseporopriated rade secrets of Teradata, infringed
Teradate’s copyrights {this claim was subsequently withdraan by Teradata), and violated U5, antitrust
lawws, Teradata sought unspecilied monatary damages and injunctive relief. In 2049, SAP asserted
patent infrinpement countenclaims against Teradata seeddng monetany damages and injunctive relief.
I 20020, Teradata initiated & second ovil lawsuit aganst SAP asserting patent infingement, seeling
monetary demages and injunctive relef; in February 2001, SAP filed patent infingemeant
counterclaims against Teradata in this second ULS. lawsuit as well as a ovil lewsuit against Teraedata in
Germany asserting patent infringement. secking monetany demages and injunciive relief. Cumently, all
claims beébween the parties have been dismissed. Teradata has appealed the dismissal of its trade
secrel and anlitrust clems this spoeal 15 expected o be completed by laie 2023

Tax-Related Litigation

Wie ane sUDjeCE [0 ONGONE BUCTS by comestic and foreign tax suthorities, In respect of nonHncome
e s, we ane involved in various proceedings with anly a few foreign tax suthorities regarding
assaessments and [iigation matters on intercompany royalty payments and intercompany senvices. The
tofal potentel amawnt in dispute related (o these maters for all appliceble years is approdmately
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£195 million (2020: €154 milion), We have nat recorded & provision for these matiers, & we believe
that we will prevall.

For more information about owr income tex-related Ubgaton, see Aote (5

Anti-Bribery and Expon Control Matters

SAP has recelved communications and whistleblower infarmation slleging conduct that may violate
anti-bribvery laws in the United States (induding the U5 Foreign Corrupt Practices Act {FCPA)). and
other countries, The Office of Ethics and Compliance (DEC) of SAP s conducting investigations with
the assistance of an external law firm and woluntanily advised the U S Securites and Exchanpe
Commission (U5, S3EC) and the U5, Depertment of Justice (U5, DOJ), &5 well & local suthorities
whera potential violations ane being investigated. The investigations and dialogue betwean SAP and
th locsl suthofities and the LS, SEC snd U5, DOJ dfe ongosg

Tre alieged conduct may resull mﬁ"llﬁ'l«ﬂf"fﬁll."ﬂ-ﬂl‘iiﬂ’-\'- o oher sanctions under the FCPA angdfor other
anti-bribery laws, In additon, SAPs ability o conduct business in certain jusisdictions could be
negaively impecied, The comprehensive and exnaustive investigatons and the comesponding
remediation actvides ane stll ongoing. In South Africa, SAP s seeking resolution of pending civil
claims felatng o ongeng investpations, Considering the complexity of individusl faciors and the Large
rumber of gpen guestons, itis not entrely possible 81 Mis peint in dme 0 assess the sk ol a
financial impact

For the reasons oullined above, it 5 impossiole at |is point n dme o determme whether he potental
anti-bribery law violations represent present obligetons of SAP and, if so. 1o reliably estimate the
armaunt of hese obligatons. W recognized no rratedsl provisions for hese polental violalions in our
consolidamed finenciel stemements 2021, L5 also not practceile to esimate the finencial effect of any
contingent liabilites that may resull from these potential viclations,

Furthermane, SAP veluntanily sell-disclosed potential export control and econemic sanclions violabons
o the U5 D0OJ and the LS. Department of the Treasuny's Office of Forelgn Assets Control (OFAC) in
Septermnber 2017, AL the same time, SAP provided notfication to the US. SEC and responded bo a
U.5. SEC comment letter on export restricion maters it OCiaber 2017, SAP 850 provided disclosure
o the U.%. Depariment of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Secunty (BIS) based on the same
alleged facts,

Foellowing comprehansive investigatons, SAP entered inlo & non-profeculion agresm enl wilh the
.5, DOy end mutuel setiement agreements with the BIS and OFAC in Apr 2021, Among other
things, he setlement agreements seguing SAP 1o conduct internal audits of its compliance with

U.5. export control laws snd regulations end produce. sudit reports for g period of thhee vears., In
addition, SAP paid non-material monetary penaltes in May 2021

254338
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(G.4) Board of Directors
Executive Board

Memberships on supenisory boards and other comparable govemning bodies of enenprises, ofher
than sulbsidiaries of 5AF, on December 31, 2021

Christian Klein
Chief Evecutive Oficer
Corporate Development and Strategy, Security and Secrecy, Compliance

Supendsory Board, adidas AG, Herzogenaurach, Germany

Sabine Bendiek {from January 1, 2021)
Chief People & Operating Officer, Labor Relations (mector
HR Sirategy, Busingess Translormaton, Lesdership Development, Talent Development

Supervisory Board, Schaeffler AG, Herzogenaurach, Germiany

Luka Mucic

Chief Fnancial Officer

Global Fnanoe and Administration Including Investor Relatiens, Intemal Audit, Data Protection &
Privacy, Business Process intelligance, Sustainability

Supervisory Board, HeldelbergCernant AG. Heideberg, Germany

Jduergen Mueller
Chief Technology Officer
Technolegy & Innovation

Technology and innovation Strategy, SAP HAMNA Detabase, SAP Business Techrology Plathorm
Analytics, Cloud nfrastructone

Superisony Board, DFKI GmbH, Kasersiauiem, Garmany

Scott Russell (from February 1, 2021)
Customer Success

Global Feld Crgamization including Sales, Senvices, Partner Ecosystem, and Customer Engagement

Thomas Saueressig

SAP Product Engineering

Globsl Responsbility for &l 5AP Busness Solowade Applications, Cloud Operations and Suppost,
Cross-Development Functions, SAP Enterprise Adoption Organization

Julia White (from March 1, 2021)

Chief Marketing and Solutions Officer
Global Mérketing, Corporate Communications, Government Alfars

255/33m
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Executive Board Members Who Left During 2021

Acfaine Fox-Martin (untl Jume 30, 2021, member of the Executive Boand unil Januany 31, 2021)

Supernvisony Board
\emberships on supenisony boards and other comparable governing bodies of enterprises, otner
than subbsidiaries of 5AP. on December 31, 2021

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattnerti8
Chairperson

Lars Lamadé!. =48
Deputy Chairperson (fram January 1, 20248
Head of Glohal Sponsorships

Supervisory Beard, Rhein-Mechsr Leewen GimbH, Krenau, Germany

Manuela Asche-Holsteln (from July B, 2021)°
Industry Advisor Expert
Member of the SAP Germary SE & Co. KG Waorks Council

Aicha Evans? 48!

Chief Executive Oficer and Member of the Board of Birectors, foox, Inc., Foster City, CA, United
States

Board of Direciors, Joby fadation LLC,. Santa Cruz, CA, United States

Prof. Dr. Gesche Joosth’
Professor for Design Research and Head of the Design Research Lab, Berin University of the Arts,
Bedin, Germany

Supervisory Board, Ottobock 5E & Co. KGad, Duderstads, Germany
Supendsery Board, ING-DIBe AG, Frankhurt, Germany

Margret Klein-Magars . 2.8
Degriny Crarperson (ool December 38, 2021)
Vice President, Head of SAP Alumni Relations

Chairperson of the Spokespersons’ Committea of Senior Managers of SAP 5E

Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova® =47
Chief Operations Expert
WMember of the SAP SE Works Councl (Eurooe)
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Peter Lengler (from August 10, 2021447
‘elue Advisor Expert

sember of the SAP Germany S5E & Co, KIG Works Coundl and Member of the SAP SE Works
Council (Europe)

Bernard Liautaud™*
Managing Partner Baldertion Capital, Landon, United Kingdom

Bodrd of Directars, niyte Software Ligd.. London, United Kingdom (until October 5, 2021}
Boad of Directors, Vestiaire Collective 54, Levallois-Perrat, France (until Apeil 2, 2021}
Boerd of Directors, Dashlane, Inc, Mew York, NY, United States

Boerd of Directors, Qublt Dighal Lid,. Longon, United Kingdem (untl October 10, 2021)
Bowd of Directoes, Arcallio, Mew York City, NY, United States

Boerd of Direciors, Vinuo Techaologes, Pads, Frence

Boerd of Direciors, Peakon Aps, Copentagen , Denmak (untl March 9, 2021)

Board of Directars, Tim Talent SAS, Pasis, France

Board of Directors, Citymapper Lid., London, United Kingdom

Boed of Directors, Toucen Toon SAS, Pars, France

Boerd of Directors, Traefik Labs SAS, Lyon, Frence

Board of Directors, Kill Technology SA%, Paris, France {from July 26, 2001}

Board of Directors, 2171 Awlier, bve., Brooklyn, NY, United States (from November 18, 2021)
Boerd of Directors, Swoep SAS, Paris, France (from December 14, 2021)

Dr. Qf Lu* ™*
CEQ, MiraclePius Ltd,, Being. China

Boérd of Directors, Pinduodun InG.. Shanghe, China
Chairperson of the Board of Directors, Pine Feld Holding Lisited, Cayman Blands
Chairperson of the Boerd of Directors, Pine Feld Holding Limited, Homg Kong, China

Chairperson of the Beerd of Directors, Pine Feld Lid., Beijing, China

Gerhard Oswald™®
Managing Director of Cswald Consulting GmbH, Walldo, Germany

Advisory Boand, TSG 1898 Ho'fenieim Fuliball-Spielbetriebs GmbH, Sinsheim, Germany
Christine Regitzh 4% #
Vice President, User Experience

Vice President, Head of Women in Techi@Sap

Dr. Friederike Rotsch™ % "2
Group General Counsel and Head of Groug Legal & Compliance, Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
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Heike Steckt-4% ¢

Senior Operations Manager

sember of the SAP SE Works Coundl and Member of the SAP SE Works Counc (Europe)

Helmut Stengele (from October 29, 2021)
De Earty Ralnement

Dr. Rouven Westphal {from May 12, 2021 >*
Member of the Executive Board of the Hasso Platimer Foundation, Potsdam, Germany, and Managng
Ditesctor of the Gonerdl Parnes of HPC Gemany GrbH & Co. KG. Palsdam, Germany

Advisony Boend, Shanks Spors & Entertainment LLC, 5an José, CA, United States

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels'®
Chiaf Financial Offices, Discovery, Ine, New Yo MY Ukiled States

Board of Directors, Motor Trend Group, LLE, Bl Segundo, CA, United States {untl July 1, 2021}
Board of Directors, OWN LLE, West Hollywood, CA, United States

James Wright!-1-4%

Chairperson of the SAP SE Works Coungl] (Europe)

Supervisory Board Members Who Left During 2021
Pekka Ala-PieTll unul May 12, 2021)

Panagiotis Bissirisas fentl July 7, 2001)

Christa Verglen-Knop! (untd August, 2021}

Ralf Zeiger {until October 28, 2021)

1 isppointed by they SAP S Werks Council (Dusogse)
Tidemitsgr of e Com painy's Peiioniel il Goveinanes Commilloe
¥ itermtser of The Company's faxdil ond Complisnce Commiies

A phermbeer of the Company's Technology and Shategdy Commitlee

S Member of the Company's Finance and Inveitment Commillos

# Merndser of U Coin pay's Nomireition © inie

T gttt of T Compamy's People and Culbung Commines

* Abpmmitegt of the Compainy's Chivg Staligy Comminese
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(G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board Compensation

@ Accounting Policy

The shamse-based payment Emounts disclosed below in the tabie “Executive Board Compsersalion® ahe
based oft the grant date faie value of the shane urits in e respecive vear. In 2021 and 2000, shang
WIS were issued o the Executivie Bognd members under the LTI 2020 and in 2019 under the:

LTI 2016 Plan.

In the table *Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members,” the share-based payment expense
Is the amount recorded in profit or loss under IFRS 2 (Share-Based Payment) in the respective penod,

The el compensation of the Executive Board members for each of e years 2021, 2020, and 2019
was as follows;

Executive Board Compensation

€ thossands 2021 2020 2010
Shorttorm emplayoe berelis 25015 5004 17978
Share-bosed payment 25,095 23095 32,393
Subtotal 50,110 P anm
Poal-employment berefits Add A58 2825

Thereot dafinedbenei ant as7 2050

m el d-Conarbabon i b | TER
Totat - so574 87T 52,506

Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members

2021 2030 2009
Fueniber of thane urets gronted 258428 201,890 344,047
Tolal expense in £ thousends 6350 11,173 44,447

The defined berelit obligation {DBO) for pensions o Executive Boerd members and the annual
pension entfement of the members of the Executive Board on reaching age 62 based on
entidements from perdformance-based and salany-lnked plens were as follows,

Retirement Pension Plan for Executive Board Members

€ thourasnids 021 2020 2018
a0 1291 3AYE 1520 5807
Anndisl ponukon entiement 108 i) 14

The tatal annual compensation of the Supenisory Board members is as Tollows:

Supervisory Board Compensation

E thessands 021 00 2015
Totsl compersation 3Bs8 3,755 3,770
Theewal Meond compermiaton ame 3149 3218
Therial commitlen riwsmitation L] 2] 5

Trhe Supenisory Boand members do not receve any shane-based payment far her senices. As far &%
members who are employes representalives on the Supervisory Board receive share-based payment,
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such compensation is for ther services a5 emplovees only and is unreisted o their status 85
members of the Supervisory Board

Payments to/DBO for Former Executive Board Members

A thisrianidy 2021 2030 e
Payrerits i L] 3010 2081
Ce0 1231 42,313 44,043 44,303

SAP did rot grant eny compensation sdvance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the
benelitof, any member of the Executive Board o Supenisory Board i 2021, 2020, or 2019,

Detaided information about the different elements of the compensation is disdosed in the
Compensation Report and in the Annual Repor on Form 20-F, Dot of which are avellatle on SAPS
Wb si1e.

{G.6) Related Party Transactions Other Than Board
Compensation

Cortain Suptrvisory Boand members of SAP SE currently hotdl, of hald within the Last yaar, posiions of
sgnificant responsibility with olher enities. We have relationships with certén of these antities in the
orefingry course of business, wheneDy we buy ard Sell products, assels, énd senices 8l proes
believed to be consisient with those negotiabed at amm's length between unrelated parties

Companies controlled by Hasso Platiner, Chaimperson of the Supenisory Board of SAP 5E and Chief
Softwane Advisor of SAP, engaged in the following transactions with SAP: providing consulting serfvicas
o SAP recening spoft sponsorng from SAP, end making purchases of SAP products and services

Qecasionaly, membsrs of e Executve Bodnd of SAP SE obtan senices from SAP for wiich they pay
& considefation consistent with those nagatisted at atm’s length bebaeen Lnndlated parties

All armounts relaed 1o he sbovenmentioned Fansactions woen immateral i SAP in sl periods
presented,

In total, we sold prodwcts and services bo companies controded by members of the Supendsory Board
in the emount of €2 millon (2020 €3 milion), we bought products and services fram such companies
in the amount of €4 milkon (2020 €2 millon), and we provided sponsoring and other financial support
o such companies in the amount of €3 milion (2020; €4 million). Outstanding balances &t year end
from transactions with such comparnies were €0 million {2020 €0 million) for amounts owed to such
companies and €0 millon (2020 €0 millon) for emounts owed by such companies. All of these
belances ane unsecured and inberast-free and settlement is expected to oocur in cash. Commitrments
{the lonpest of which is for 2 years) made by us to purchase further goods or sendces from these
companies and to provide further sponsonng and other financial support amount to €6 milllon as at
December 31, 2021 (2000 €10 milion)

I total, we sold sendoes 1o members of the Executive Boand and the Supendsory Board in the
amaunt of €0 millen (203 €0 milion), and we seceived services fram members of the Supervisony
Bogrd (ncluding services rom emplovee represerdatives on e Supenvisory Board in their canacity
as employees of SAP) in the amount of €2 millon (2020; €2 millen). Amounts owed, but not yet pald,
o Supenvisory Boand members from these ransactions were £0 million as &t December 31, 2021
{2020 €0 miliion), All of these balances are unsecured end interest-free and sefilement is expected (o
QCCUr i Cash

For informaton sboul e compensatiion of our Executive Board and Supervisory Boerd members, see

MNode (5.5)

Further, we have relationships o associated entities. In otal we sold products and senvices 1o these
entifes in the amownt of €6 million (2020 €2 million), we Dought products and senices rom such
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companies in the amount of €37 milion (2020 €0 milion) D..-E‘.ﬁﬂﬂ"'lgﬂﬂ.{ﬂ‘!ces a1y e from
transactions with such companies wede €15 milion (2020 €0 milion) f'or amounts owed o such
companies gnd €4 millon (20200 €0 millan) for amduents owed by Such companies. All of these
balances are unsecured and imterest-free, and setilement is expected to ooour in cash,

For more information about the 5AP Foneer divestment [SAP Foneer is an assodiated entity of SAP
and thus treated as a related party), see Nofe (2 1) and Nare (216

(G.7) Principal Accountant Fees and Services

AL the Annual Genersl Meeting of Shareholders feld on May 12, 2021, our shareholders elected
KPMG AG Winschatisprifungsgesellschaft (KPMG) 85 5AP's independent suditor for 2021, KPMG has
been the Company's principel auditer since the fiscal vear 2002 Bodo Reckowtz has signed as auditor
responsibie for audit of the ingnciel reporting and the group rmming of SAP SE since the fiscal i
018, KPMG and other firms in the global KPMG network charged the following fees to SAP for sudit
arnd other professional services related to 2021 and the pravious years:

E1 2020 201

€ migicm KPMG AG Fartgn Toul KPMG AG Foreign ol TPWEAG FaslE b Toul
[Germany)  KPMG Firms (Getrmany)  KPWG Firma (Garmarny]  KPASG Firms

A s 3 8 12 3 ® 12 3 7 1
Al velnbed fees 2 5 1] 1 Z o 1 1
Tchoez e o o 0 o 0 o o o
e —— ® i o 0 o 0 P e o
Tetl " TR 3 w 1 1 8 0

Audit Tees are the aggregate fees charged by KPMG for auditing owr consolidated financial statements
and the statutory financial statements of SAP 5E and its subsidiaries. Audit-related fees are fees
charged by KPMG for assurance and related senvices that are reasonably rélated o the performance
af the audit for service organization attestaton procedures, and fees charged by KPMG Tor services
regarding the initial public offering of Qualtrics,

(G.8) Events After the Reporting Period

O January 27, 2022, SAP announced (15 intent 10 aoguire & majodty stake of Teulle, 8 leading
provider of wabong Capetal mendgement solutons, The Soquisition i opected 1o lurther expand
SAPs Business Nenwork capabiliies and strengtinen SAPS solutions for the CFO office, The
SCOUISTON 5 expected o cose in Masgh 2022, Tellowing completon of customany Closing conditons
and regulatons apomvals.

Qrher tian that, no events have occurmed since December 31, 2021, that have a maenal impact on
the Company'’s Consolidated Financial Staterments.
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(G.9) Scope of Consolidation, Subsidiaries and Other Equity
Investments

Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements

Total
pEL L 284
Additions 17
Déspotals -1z
L2200 263
AL £
Emipotats 1]
12312021 290

The additions relate o legal eniues sdéed in connection With acquistions and loundations. The

262338
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Subsidiaries
Major Subsidiaries
- R ProfitLoss Tobl Equity Humber ol
Maeno mnd Location of Company ship Tou in 20217 i) Ader Tax ool Empleyees a% al ‘::Ilr
Tor 2021° R 132021
L fthoinendy € houends  § Shouianch
Arba Technologes India Private Limiled, Bangalore. India 100 0. 780 2.481 34,185 1381
Apba, bnc., Pato Allo, CA, Urited States 100 1LrsETe 409,785 TZT6 A48 1772
Concue Technologhes, ing., Bellevue, Wa, Uniled Swes 100 1828002 188 0845 TEMRELE 348S
Qualiricy, LLC, Wilmingfion, DE, Linited Statex L] B QL 1440757 2278081 3,220
S&P (Ching) Co., Lid., Shanghai, Chine L] 1.0064.711 -1.577 -213,0680 6,147 L]
SAP (Schveir) AG, Birl. Swaweriand 100 1oz esT 1274 264,283 ALk
SEP (L) Limited, Feltham, United Kingdom 1 LI35400 GO AGE 45239 Le9?
SEP Ametics, inc., Mewiown Squane, PA, United States 100 8215 788 ~309,232 19,337,747 2731
SAP Argenting 5.4 . Busncr Alres, Argenting 10 152 %3S 3,120 7,250 1132 1]
SAPF Ll Pie. Lid. Singapade, Singoapore 1] R0 7457 4,71 1110 -]
SAP Australia Pry Lid, Sydney, Ausrolla 100 THETL 44,741 7,725 1,205
SAF Brasl Lida, Sdo Pmido, Braril ] 45TELZ -2 445 44,080 23M L]
SAP Canada Ire . Todonta, Canads 1nd Loheaer 136627 To0.008 LT-HH]
SAP Deutscilerd SE & Co. KG, Walldar!, Germsry L] 4928 857 48574 1912583 4453 7.2
SAP Expaia - Swiemas, Aplicackenes y Producios en la Informatics,
%4 Wodrd, Spak (Lr] S10802 29,557 341 508 )|
SAP Franee 5.4, Levallon-Perel, Frande 10 1005071 100617 1704013 1508
SEP Mungary Rendscerek, alkabmasiook és Temkok ar
clsrileichgsd ahor st B, Buadigpeit, (1e] FEL IS ] 4503 L3017 1181
SAP Irdia Private Limited. Bangalane. Inda o) X180 103453 o140 2128
SAP Inchisiries, Inc., Mewtown Squaee, PA, United Siales oo SER E0R 105,770 1,122 920 276
SAP |inba Sesiemn Applicarion Prodol in Datn Processing S pa -
e, |ty 1e] S15.004 TS 265,012 S
SAP Japan Co. Lud,, Tokyo, Japan 100 L5108 130,785 &50.701 1318
S&F Labs Bufgara EQCD, Sofia, Bakgara 100 TESTL 3,321 21,544 1125
SAP Lobs india Private Lissted, Bargalore, india 100 SIE 0T G0.BES 205, 586 e
SAP Labe, LG, Palo Ao, CA, Uniled Saiey 1] STRALE 159051 S0B,787 1893
SAP Mixicn 54, de CV_ Mo City, kedos (Le] 419005 28087 111.26% L2 "%
T ot o L P e 1600 #5877 127178 51095 636
SAP Medorlond BV, 's-Herogentosch, the Metheronds 100 TR 2T 208699 443,700 a1 11
SAP Service and Suppori Cenire (Irelsnd) Liorsbed, Dublim, reland 10G R EIY 14088 50,703 1,705
&P Services £.0., Prague, Crech Republic 100 LEE T ] 2074 15,205 1191
2633z
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Other Subsidiaries?

Mrﬂlﬁmﬂtm

13|
g |

"SAP Korobrastan” m.mm.m&mm
udﬂﬁ- ez, Nn-w Soaare, PA_ United States

Abakus Llu'ah:' erm:dumty Company, Kies, Ukraine

Ariban Prope e Propistdy Limited, Johannesbor [, South Alnes
A Expot Sohitans LLC, Changlly, V&, Uniled Stales
AppGyseer Inc., Indanapolis, 1N, Urited States

Wfﬂl‘ Helsanky, ‘Hﬂﬂﬂ

-Nlu Crech a0, Prm cumnm

Auiba Indin Private Limited, Gueugram,, india

.Ml;a |nmmmw |n.; wnnu-rpm ng L.m.u.:s.um
m lnmm-wmgnpw Fur Lid. -s-r-gnpw mae
Ariba Intemational, inc., Whrlm_l.lm CE, United Slales

i

Ariba ﬂu&ﬁﬂ.ﬁc 1.0, Kolioe, Slovakia

b Solware Technology mqupcn L., Shanghai, China
Ariba Tcd'l'ml.ndﬂﬂchrh'ids BV Eﬂniuﬂrrbcr:-m U'H'! mhﬂm
Business Objecis Holding B ., s Heropenbosch, the Nethernnds
Business Objects Option, LLE, Wikmingeon, DE. Urited States

Buminrss Objects Saltwaer Limited (Trading! a1 5S4 Solutions), Dulbdin, Ineland
Callichrs Softwaee Inc., San Ramon, CA, Uniipd Staies

Gallickr Saltwaer Lid, FE“i‘\lﬂ'l. Uriked Kingdom

Callichrs Software Piy, Lid., Sydney, susiralia

%CM MF_I Pmrm Limibed, Hyderaed, lhdl!
cﬂmmﬂ:mwﬁm Bhd., Kusla Lumpur, Malaysia
CallidusCloud Moldings Pry. Lod., Sydney, Ausiralia
cﬂmc.lmn.f.m.ﬁ;am.m;w-h o

Chrntie Parners l-uﬂum V. s-Hm.nq_ed:-o-sd'l dhe Metherlonds
Clirabeidge Hethertands BN Amtterdam, the Hetheriands
Clarabeide LI L, London, Uniled Rngdam

Clarsbeidge, inc., Besbon, VA, United States

- Leaming Pry. Lid., Sydney. Ausiralis

ClearTeip ine, (Mauritius], Ebone, Mauritis

1
n

i

EEEEEE§.§:§§§§§§§§§§-§EE-EEEEEEEEEE;;

w
b

ClearTrip Inc., Geonge Town, Coymon Blands
Clickpeods mluif.Fll:ﬂm.Lmd.len ID.
CHOR Dperations Medco 5, de, RL. g, © V., Mexico City, Modto
chmmj I-'N.' m ‘t—l‘lﬁh

Concur (Crech) .10, Prague, Crech Repuﬂ.lc

Concur (France) 545, Levallom Perrel, France
fmfﬁerrnrrrfl Grrle I'-cmkﬁ.rlrni\.lun Gmrm-.r

Concur {JapanyLid,, 'r-o&-,o Jupan

Caiur (M Deolond]) Limited. Wellgien. New 2 eatand

Concur (PRlippines) Inc.. Makal City. Philippines

Comncur (Svstrerland) GandH, Zunich, Swirendand

Contur Holdings (France] 58,5 Levolloi-Pemet, France

LR

E|B|B|g|8|8|E|EIBIE

13

g
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i arwd Loation of Comgury
c«mmp|mu-= ds) BV, "s-Hertog ch, the B s

z
i

-
=]

Concur Techaologies {fustralia) Piy. Lmited, Sydney, ustralla
WTWMMM Kangl) Limited , Heng Kong, Ching
EOFH.:LI' TEd'H'ﬁDdH 1.1nc.ia'| F'I'h'-MI' LITI1-E'E. E:I.m,ﬁor!. Iy
Concur Technodogies (Singapare] Pie. Lid. . Singapore, Singapore
Contur Tichialogieg (LK) Livited, Feltham, Unilid Fingdom
ConTpo Consulling Linited, Feltham, United Kingdom

ConTpa Limited, Feltham, Unaed Kingdom

¢rg-|.u;d Dtﬁiml (UK} Lisnited, Feitham. United Kingdom
mlmllnd Dublin, Iretand

1%

]
i
iz
Dlliml.ﬂf. LLE. 'u‘\ﬂ.l'l'i"lglm_DE. Uritid Stares

Emarsys ﬁl-‘wl'lﬂilrl'hﬂﬂ ﬂqﬂﬂ Chana

Emariys ehardeting Systems {-mhhl. Wienra, lmina

El'ﬂl‘iyi.".thﬁﬂ'l Shtemlen Tic, Lid $rl . I:.whl. 'r'l.thq-
Emuiy:lmrr.uﬁu: Senvioe Gn'u-i Ben.n ﬁcmwv,.-

tmu’w:-l.rnllnd Hong Kon. chnn

Emarsys Horth America, Bnc., Indisnapelis, B, Unlied States

Emursys Pty Lid., Sinapore, Srgepode

Emarsys Pty Lid, Sydoay., dusirslis

Emarsys SAS Levalloi Permel, Frunce

Emeriyn Schweoir G, Zusich, Switierand

Irnaryys WK LI, kendon, Uniled Kingdam

EMARSYS Ticknalaghis inli kol Srolgiied Ki, Budapest, Hungary
Engagos HY ., Ghend, Belgium

Enagos, Inc., Wikmingion, OE, United States

E55 Culwed Procusemment Hﬂpﬂﬂﬂy Lirnited, Johonnesbung, South Africs
mndedimms Im: 'S-I'IFlm [ '.HIm‘.I:SI.uI.EI.

l'-l'lu'll:l:ll Fushon, Inc., 'S-IrlFlarrum CA, Urabed Stabes

Frechubets Lida,, Sdo Pola, Bracd

Mpmunk_ Inc., San Franciseo, CA, Uniled States

Py (LIS | Comporaton, Wirsngten, DE, United Stales
Fiykets Gt H, Murich, Garmony

Irighl Federal Sysems Group, nc . Wilminglon, O, Uiniled S1ates
1P Assen Holdings, LLC, Prava, UT, United States

B.Q

LendFormi, ine,, Duiblin, CA, Uniti-d Sates
llzan'm: Peroey Lid, Ftl.l‘mn wwdxmm
Leamring Seat Barrowings Py, Lbd., Sydney, Aussiralia
Leaming Seat Group Py, Lod., Sydney, Australia
Leaming Seal Holdings Py, Lid., Sydney. aniralia
Leaming Seat Piy. Lid., Sydney, Ausralla

LLC "Emarsys”, Moscow, Russhs

LLC “Sap Lsba™. Moioow, Buiiis

i

LLC "SAP Uicrasne", Ko, Ukrasine 1
Livpaliys GoanliH, Viehna, A

Loyadsy Technologhes o Lid., Tel dvie, hrael

EEEEEEZEEE:EEEEEEEEE.E'EE_EEEEEEEEE_EEEE;EEEEEEEEEEEE
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z
g

P el Loation l}”:m

mﬂh!e-"lrncihna 5-1. Barcelona, Span

Market Metrix Singapore Pbe. Ltd, Singapore, snppm-

Barknt WA, ltld#dgtmw I.M: Wl.mrw DE l.mdsmn
Hewn:-tmraergumluc Witningfion, DE, United Slates

PBihon Ariba K K., Toloro, Japan

Oiin DB Limited, Feltharm, Lo Kagdem

Cuterjor, bnc., San Ramon, C&, Unied Sistes

DutleakSol Deutsehland GmisH, Walldod,

PLuLOnst e, Mirwacean Squane, PR, Liniled Sasaes

FlaLOnee Lo 5.rl Givvoa, fsy

PT SAF Irrﬂutm.-l.ll_ .lﬂc.l'm Irh‘.l.'n"rrh.l

.Q.iniﬁ:l‘iih'w 'f:".m-l'lmm IJE. Lnited 5-I-ﬂl-ﬁ

QAL Ted'u'mlnﬂrsh..-ud sydn-_-y Amraua
Dﬂ.‘rmﬂnﬂuLw Tercnio, Canada
{:n.‘red-rﬂnﬁﬂﬁnmﬂ Wunich, c.ernwr,-
-uh.'red-rmduSARL Pum.r-rm

OHL Technelogies Limdted, Dublin, | reland

OPL Technologes 5. 7 0.0, Krakdw, Poland

Q5L Technologes Ple. L. Singapase, Sintie
Ouadrem Africa Pry. Lid., Johannesbung, South Africn
Cuadnerm Bra Leda., Rio de Janeine, Brael
Suadnem Chile Lida .5mﬁmdr¢tix.cii-r
St Iremational Lid.. Harlion. Bemuda
DQuadrem Metherdonds 8.V, s-Meriogenbosch, the Netherlands

Dusdrem Overseas Cooporabel LA - Her chy, e Me

th?ﬁmiﬂc..lhso}m
mmmmm 'Mrrrm DEmbIdEL:II.ﬂ
Duatincs Hong Keongt Limited. mm-nmg chn:
Dindirics bewdin Privaoy Lisnited, Mumbal, indin

EE.E'EE_EEEEEEEEE_EEEE;SEEEEEEEEEEE

g
e

St cs nlemadional Inc.. Wilmingion, DE. Uniled Siates
DS freland Lirmsted, Dublin, Im

Duntiics Japen LLC, Taloys, o

Cualtics Koeea, LLE, Seoul. Smuth Konra

Duliics Mesico, 5. DERL, DE CV, Mexico City, Mexdioo

&=

Dualirics Hetherlands BV, Amstordam, the Netherlands
Sualirics Prove HO, LLE, Wikmingllon, DE, Uniled States
Qustiics Sweden 4B, Siockhelm, Sweden

Dualirics Switreriand AG, Zurich, Switreriand

Oudhr_'l. Tt'd‘ﬂd-uﬁn l-ml I.Hu Sh Pul.i-n !:h.l‘il.
Dualiics Technologies Spain, 5 L UL, Madrd, Spen
DL Technologies Limlied, London, Unissd Kingdom
LA epih Solewaie Syitem Ca. Lid., Beipngg. Ching
SAP fChina) Holding Co., Lid., Beigng, Chins R

DA Andiry v Gl Canttse CA. Carstins. Veneruels

SAR AT LLC. Baly, s aljan

E|8 EE B EEBEEBIEE

g8
=
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z
i

Wi ded Lcition l:-l' Comgany

SAP Bolgum - Sysiems, Applcations and Produces SA., Bmsels, Hﬂp_im

SAP Beleligungs GrbH, — Grrmany

w Biulu#u- Eﬂﬂﬁ Sola, Biulg-'ll
wm.umus:rd:uc-mwrmdemuv “s-Heriogenbosch, the Netherdands 1
SAP Chite Limitada, Sanbago de Chile, Chite
SAP CIS, LLE. Modeow, Rutin

SAP Colombia 58,5, Beggoth, Colombin 15
SaF Couts Rice, 5.4, San Josk, Corita Rica
SaF CR, spol. 500, Prague, Crech Regaiblic
SAP Cypius Limited , ioosia, Cypeus

pL

AP 0.0, Tagred, Croes
wnmmms c-:pm-nem Dmmﬁ‘k

SAP Dritte Beteiligungs- L Viermbgersvenwaliungs G, Walldor!, Germany
AP Easl Alrica Limiaed, Nabob, Kerya

b1

1]
'S.I.P‘EmlLLL' r_'amsn-p: 1]
S-IPEMtAIm'dEHMEL Madid. Spain

WEHEB:EW Lnd'.len'wd:gefmﬂdu.rﬁﬁmbﬁ Wioldo, Germuany

AP ESinma ﬂl). 'I'al.l.r-n ELtodin

B9

SaP Finurwciol, Inc.. Tomnilo, Consdo

SAP Firlard Oy, Espoo, Fintard

SAR Forcign Foldings GernbiF, Walldor!, Geremirny

SAP France Holdng 54, I.l!'ul.h;h ool Francoe

BAP Global Moot e, Mare' Yoork. MY, Linited Sl
SAF Hellms Single Member 5.4, Athens, Gieece
wmﬁmim mngrcmg;crm

Sap MB#WWW S Leon-Rol, Germoery
S-IPIrqu [I-luh:lnﬂl’h LM 'Snmm- 'SWE

Wlnl.nmaboml Panama. 5.4, Fanama City. Panama

L]
-8

Wlnmwﬂ.kw M, FL, United Sttes

SAP Investmeenits. Ind., Wikmirglon, DE. Urited States

SAP Irelamd Limited, Dubdin, iretand

SAP Inelard LS - Firamssl Serszes Desigrated Activity Company, Dublin, iretang
SaF luroel Led . Ra‘anana, 1smel

1z

1t
SAP Koo Lid, Seoul, South Kodea

SAF Lobs Frence SAS,, Mouging, France

S-I-PLlhI:mllLH‘! Rim lerael

SAP Labs Korea, Bnc., Seoul, South Korco

SAP Latia 524 Rige, Latdn

wwm-:m lhd Mul.u'!wr hld.n“

SAP MEMA FIL.L.C., Dubal, Unsted Aroh Envdr aies

AP Waddle East and Morth Aldca L L C., Dubal, United Arab Emimies
LA Mededand Holding BV -Herlogeabasch, the Nethedands
WFHIEML‘I‘rI‘:‘Id.m-d. Mew Zealond

DA Mefo A5, Oile, Moty

SAF North Wil Adtica Lid, Cortalancs, Monsoon

EEEEZEEE:EEEEEEEEE.E§EEEEEEEEEE_EEEE;EEEEEEEEEEEE
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Mﬂnuaﬁmﬂcm Cvenenibip  Foolrsie
SAP Oslemech GmbH, Vienna, Samiria 100
'SJ.PPH'D-SAC.urm.Nm 100 1]
wmw In: 'rmgcrry P'.h#pp-m 100 e
wm:.nsc ¥ oo, Warssw, Poland :wu

SAP Porials Evrope GmbH, Walldodd. Gemany 100

SAP Pomals Holdey Bateligurgs GabH, Walldod, G many 100

SAP Partals ferael Lid . Ra'snans, farsel 100

SAP Porugsl - Shiemas. Aplicactos ¢ Prockiios Indomudsioo. Sotedads Uinipeisoal, Lda., 100

Porin Salvo, Portugal

SAP Projeitveradiungs. und Betelligungs GmbH, Wolldof, Gemany 100

SAP Publec Senvoes, Inc., Washington, DC, United Stales 100
wﬁmﬂiwwmwmﬁ.ﬁwm 00 BRIE
SAP Relall S-nlubmu. Betelgungspeselischalt GmibH, Walldord, Germany 100
s.l.PRmunsnL Bucharest, Romania 100
Wmﬂﬁlammwhﬂﬂlw ﬂ'l]rad‘- Wﬂmﬂh 100
wmuﬂa Sq:ilhnu Tmm;l.tu.nr,.um.nnp_mnnrsm Arzbila k] b 1]
SAP Sechaie Betedipung: wric s il altungs GmbH, 1, G v 100 8,9
W&rbwllmw w\rtmmivwﬂww '-'-'qﬂﬁrl Gn-rmn.' 150 [ 8]
AP sisfom, lplic.tqe nptmhzanb-clrl.rmpndrﬂwwdn.u I.h.H.Imu Sloveria 100

SAP Shevienako §0.5. Bratiliae, Slevakia 100

LaP Solwvere arvd Serdces LLC, Doha, Quter 49 518
BAF Syenaks Akiebolag. Stockholm, Sweden

SaF Syilem Applcation ond Products Asia Mysnmar Limited, Yangon, l.'h’&ﬂl'l'lﬂr

'SAP S‘nlm -lppl.lml.nm-rrd Products in Cats Procesing (Thadand) Lid ., Bangkok, Thadand
SAP Torwan Co., Lbd., Teipei, Tabwan

wnmmm Pﬂu-llkr l:.l l.iﬂrd‘imn

S-IvPTrIni'igund Dl:vﬂoprrmllml.rh.ll.! F!tﬁ. mmkd lub Emu'ul.u

SAF Tiriye Yazlim Drmue'r-r_u:'tﬁ$ Istanibul, Turoey

'S-IPI.I-I-I \'l-m.rt l.i-'mm

S-IP vmmwmm:-.‘-mbﬂ Wd:l.d::-r v.‘-m\‘lcrry

wuenz'“',,.,,mu' -_, i _Gn'l:HlF.'.ll.I.:lu'l‘Gﬂrnw

DA Vietrem Cofparny Limilid, Ha O Minh City. Viotnam

WWHthd.mt.h. Belprade, Swrbia )

LR

AP Zweltr Beleligungs - und Vermdgensvensaliungs GmibH, Walldoe, Gemmany
GARd0 Fund, LP, dustin, T United Stated

Sapphite Fund Irvestments I§ Moddings, LLC, Austin, T4, Unfied Sistes
Sapphire Fund Investments I, L P Austin, T, Uniled Stales

iwitF;r-cl Irreesments 11, P, Aussn, T, I.m-lqrd-swn
suppthwwmnr.dolﬁm LF_ fusin, TX, unludsum

N RN NE.

'Smpt“'i'mmsﬁ.l'ldl I..F ﬂuuslm TX, LH'I1H‘.| S-IIIH

> |

Sapphire Vonuees Fund I, LP,, Autn, T, United Staled

suppinl.'mm-s Fmdlu LP, lu.r!hT.'. Uniied States

(=2

Eapphire Vonnes andl'.- LR, .ﬂ.lnth TX Urdved Staves
meumwmuw.m.u_msm
Sapphire Vonlunes Fund VI, LP. Sustin, TX, Urited Slates

Elo|o|o|e|o|elolele|E|o|E|E|B|E|B|B/E|B|BIE|E|E|E

AP (Mauritue), Ebers, Mot
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z
i

P sl Logation of Comgany
Slgrawio ANZ Pty Lid, Melboume, Australia

-

wlﬂn!ﬁuﬂ B.'\.I'.Arru.'lﬂﬂun.lfw ke thee rlands
SgavoFrance SAS_Pas, Fraece
Sigravio GmbH, Berlin, Germany

Signavio Irvdia Private Linibed, Gunsgram, India
Sigravie ot Sl Ml ety
wbm\ﬂ. Tﬂ.‘p‘ﬂ.ﬁﬂ\

Signavia Pre. Lid., Singapore, Singapoie

Sigrasvi Schvweiz GebH, Zug, Swikremiand
wﬂ Gweden 4B, mmﬁ‘ﬂ
Sigravio UK Lid, Bimingham, United Kingdom
Sk, inc., Busingicn, VT, Uniied Staes
Statwing, LLC, Wimingion, OE, Urilied Stafes

SuscersFactars (Phlippines], Inc., Parsly Clty. Pliippines
SusccessRacioes Cayman, Lid, &muc;ymm caynunmu-n

-
Lr

e | e L -

1]
muhmlrl;mllnﬁmmgﬂl. umds'l.nn N
‘Suw-,."-'lnls.n'!.ﬂt.dl.rh:s c.m-pm,,- LLZ, Wilmingion, DE, Unlicd Staiey
s,uaum LOWA, s, Ar.gnl.-

smmm L. Madnid. sn-n

Sybase Inbematonal Holdngs Comporation, LLC, SanRamon, CA, United Siates

15

Svbarie, Inc. San Romon, CA, United Sloles

Bysser applicaons Products (Africa R eon] Prepdiclany Limited, Wm :‘-n.;ﬁl l-rrlé,l
Syeenyi Applicatond Praducts (Alrice) Prapnetary Limiled, Jehanneibor g, South Africa
Syitema .uppu;n-nm Froducts (Sowth Adrics) Proprictary Lim#ted, Johannesbung, South Alrica 1]
Systems Applicasones Froducts Nigeia Limted, Vicioria fstand, Nigeria 18
Ttml«'llﬂbgmmmﬂwnm Iz, thl'ﬂ-r WA, mﬂimﬂ
Tervkin Geoup, LLC, Wikmingion, DE, United States
mpmpmmuim LLE. Wilminglon, GE, United Stales
Totnomowti. Ife.. Bryan, T, United States

TR Eurcpe Lisited, Felthoen, United Kingdam

TR Tevhnologies indis Privale Limited, Bangalore, india

TR UK Limited, Feltham, United K ingdam m.
TMC Jm: ld.l.cme Wi, LInILedSluLu

mmund dn ] l-!-md : -Ed.gndr Slrbll

u-.-am Imw e, gehld-r.w-tmwd States

Lk Insemational, LTD, Brsbed, Wrated Eingom

- e e e

Uscmmind, Inc., Seatile, Wa, United Stales

E|B|E|E|8|B|E|B|E|B|8|BIB|B|2|8|B|E|B|8|E|E|R|E|EIB|E|B|S B|E|B(E|BIE|E S8 Eg

Wodume Inlegrabion, inc., Resion, VA, Unibed Siales

1 T ighuteey e Dasedd on ol sl BEAS T il wL e 1o clire rtialingd i Gornolidation ard s elene &5 not
peflect the condrsbution of these companess ncioded i the C didaled Fanarecial St L. Thee ranslofon of the gty noo Group
CUETEnCY I hated on pesiod-end cloung exchange rales, snd on swsage exchonge oes fon nevenise and rel noom ot

¥ s ok December 31, 2071, ncluding maraging diecion, i FTE

mnmmm:mwmlumpummm eolion 295 and sectien 313 are not dsclosed § they are of mino

of the profilab-ity, ogeidety, capital ressuroes, smd fnencias] posiion of 5AP 50, pursuant 1o WG,
m:lammﬁmhmm;ﬁmmiml

* Convolidated s e fiesl s in 2001

" Apeoempnts with the ot it ool et that $AP S0 iully contral th sty

S RAP ST B the foliowing structuned oottt 5AP. 5 Fund, LP,, Sapphine Fund inveaments 1| Holdieghi, LS, Sapphite Fund Irestments
I LIF, Sapphete Fund Iveatments ], L.P., Sapphire S0P HANA Fued o Funds, L P, Sappiilg Vindaes Fund |, L.P., Sapplns Wentured
Fund Il, LIP,, Sapphe Venlul et Fund 0, L P, Sapphite Vienes Furd IV, L P, Sapphire Yentwies Fund W, LP., Sappleie Vonar e Fund
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WL L SEP (Wit WFMI’WH g Eilies S MCIUdEd k5 S Condolilaled Mnendisl SlRsEHLE N Giotedinoe
with IFRS 10 T Lk Feaindial S

| Enfity whirse: petsanaly Bable panner s SAP SE

* Exdity with (peofit and) loss transies agreement

¥ P ursuant to HGE, section 281 (3 of section b, Se subrskiany b5 cosnpt om applying ceriain legal requirements io Bl safubory
mndmmmmmmmmmmmznm:m&mmmwu:wumm;me
requsement of b audit, and the regasemend of public dicl

B Prarpgnd b section 430 of the UK Companies Acl 2008, the entity i exempl Bom havieg i Snarcial disbements sudicd on the groumds
sl P ety 5 eeditled 1o the Bnefits I1m & deimant ently exomplisn i resped of 1 Inancial yea ended Docember 31, 2001,
 Prrsusind o articke 2403 of the Dusch Civil Code, T onlity B eosmpl Irem applying cemain begol requensmirds 10 Sl Sniubory siand
alone financiol siatements inCludng the fequtcment 10 (opane the: fnancal stalements, T requnemont of idependent s, and twe
eequinemend of public daclmune, on Mhe bats that SAP SE has provided a gearantce of e cnfity's atalties in respect of ks fnancil yoar
enided Decomber 31, 2021, of i respedt of i fnanciol year ended Scpbember 30, 2001, reypectvely,

1 Pursssnt b Irish Compankes Acl 3014, chapber 16 of Pod ©, sedion 385, Be enfity b cxsmpd from haeving ils financial stalements
aundibed on the groundi Bad the entily & entiled i Be borelits Bom 3 dormant endity cxemgpdon n resped of s Tnanclal year onded
Decome 31, M2L

Pt b afticle 1278, paragtaph 2 of thi: Swiss Code of Oblgatons, fe ooty is exempl fiom having is Inancial slaements sudited
b st of s Bnascial yea erded December 3, 2000, of inrespect of (s Snancial yea ended September 30, 7001, respectively.
 Prrasand b section 211 {3} of S Sew Zeoland Companses Acl 1993 and section 45 {7) of the Fnanckal Reportng Act 2013, She entity
il approved exclusions and i pol iequired (o lodge sedited inandal statements i espeot of its fnancial year ended

Seplember 30, 2021

B Puruzsnt b Angoks Tie Law and Presidenisl Decree no. 147713 of Ociober 1, 2013, S enfilty does nat qually as being a Lage
Tmﬂﬂhmdurhmwplllmmhwmmmdnrﬂpﬂtdlhhwnﬂwumdmmil}ﬂ?l
= Ensity with suppart lefer inued by SAP S0

1 Dinciobvied om Janudey ¥, 2002, by mergel into SAPF S0

Other Equity Investments

Hamee and Location of Compamy Camership
=

Joird Arrang: and ln .i.m:hnu

mbalncmtmmunlmd mﬂm 8

wlﬂtﬂﬁmilﬂhﬁ 5‘-'# F!llMlt Jar-r-w. Brasd l.:l'

SAP Floneer GmibH, Wialldor!, Germany 20

Maime s Liation of Comgpay

Erguity v esieoonts with Cwnarhip of ot Least 5%

E3hoth IV, L P, Herzalia, Bsel

-ll.uh-'l hr F!cdmmdthy t-l l#ﬂediunu

-Hl:hl:m1 -i.n:vhrnlm'l’-u'id TLLE. SmFrln-mw tl\.l.lﬂedﬁhlﬂ
Hloph Blgg SPY,LP., Grond Cayman, Coymen sdands

All Taw Pintform - Solucoes Tributsrien S A, S50 Paul, Bracl
Amplify Partners 1 L P, Menlo Park, C&, United Stales
Aamuh-rnmmi LP.. Menlo Park. G4, United Slales

Amplily Parmen IV, LP,, Monlo Park, ¢A. Wratod Sratey

dmplily Parnen Select Fund IV, LIP, Moo Park, C&, Unibed Stales
Amplily Parnen, LP. l-mul.nhrk_c! United States
na-s-ud-m ine., l-u!m 'rn: whud s»un
Bllm*TthBﬂlﬂ!l Irh: .H.atml.lkn Incin

Blus Yiard t-pllﬂ 1 alsriative GmbH & Co Hl.'..!d{n.ﬁ-mhw
Blue Yard Car.uld | Gk K Co, G, Beviin, Gemany

Blue Yard Cryipo 1, LP., Hol Springs village, AR, United States
Bolduan Venleres W, L. Bew York, NY, United Stte

Boldsian Vonres Vi, LP rim‘rud:m'w Sshen
Brighttiold Holdings, inc.. New Yok, MY, United States
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o v Liocabion of cmu-r,-

ﬂ'rcnpmzc.rru-m Co K, Bcrm. Gm-run,-

Carvas Yonbures 1LP,, Pdlcl.nl.u '.'d.l.w Ca, l..lrile-d Saairs
(Id'pnhl:S‘rll.Hm Inic., Mew York, MY, Unibed Stabes

LD 4G, 51 G:len Ewll:rorlu'h‘l

Chslien Venhsel Fund | L P59 Heled, Jorbey, Channel |ianch
Chalfen Venfuees Fund il LP., SUHeber, Jemay, Channel [slonds
CirdeCl, Inc., San Framciscn, CA, United States

Clari_ Ire, Surmevile, Gl United Sases

ComponcniLaly Inc., Seate, Wa, Unfted Siates

Conlnniiug W.W.GHM

mwmvwm ¢ip4|l. ] I.P Pah Alup, Ca, Uniled 51-#1!:'1
Costanoa Venilure Capétal 1l LP_, Palo Alio, TA, Unlied Stales
(-‘Mw 'n'mmi'-p-ul QI l.l.c l"phﬂm ¢-ﬁ l.hwd 'SHN'-S-
wmsw ™ [b] m*w Mﬂ

-m.tm Amg, Inc., San Francisoo, C4, mrdsu\rs

Duen Collacre ii L P, Poba Alus, CA, Unibed Siapes

Bata Sollocthve 11 L P, Pab Alls, 4. Uit Stales

Dty Collective IV, LP., Palo Allo, CA, United Slstey

DaasR ok, Ing., Bakion, WS, United Sinles

Cagginnd Hub Rehein decksr GmbH., Lushwigihaton, Queremn iy
Dremeo Couporabon, Sants Clars, Ca_ United ISIJII.H
F:tdInI'S-.A Lirdtstan, Pu'u.lﬂ.ﬂ.

F:lbl: thﬂ Fund [, London, United Kingdem

Felx ventures I, LP,, London, United Eingdom

Finca Serwons, inc. (dba Custent), New Yok, MY, United S1otes
Follow Analyics, Inc . San Franckscs, CA. Unied States.
c.ur-uuﬁan 5.\5 Parns, France . .

-:.douw Baoale: Copi thn-rmml LP., Graed Cm.m-ﬁ ¢-ymml-.l.nd;
IWWM.IE-:U LF. MU Yalley, CA, Uniled Siabes

DG Venures UISA N, L P, San Francisco, T, Undted States
TEX Gaoann, Irs. Morw Yok, MY, Linded Suabes

InflndDets. Inc . San Frndsos, A, United Stales

Iritiglizied CEH 5P LLC, Walnut, CA, United Ststr
Irerrationbal GmbH, Heidelorg, Gy

innciiiet Technologie- und Grindersmtum \'fnudurl'sil;um GnbH, Walldo, Germany
Ieiegrad Ad '.sw.'mi‘ th;irng Coep,, Mew York, MY, l.nu;-d Swmbes
Irrenbve i, e, Samas Monica, CA, Unated Siates

JProgg. Lid., Melanya, tsrael ) .

_t.pm-mlrh: ."l..h.mme.uc. Ui Stmbes

Ealira, i Bew Yok, By | Usibed Soles

LeanDiala, Inc.. Swrwwresle, S4, Urited Stakes

LGVP F ILLE, Dwver, DE, United States

Liscad Globe Oppomunizy Fund, L P, S Peled Par, Guemrsey, Chinne [ands
Locol Ghobe vl L P, 5L Peler Porl, Guerdey, Channel Isbands
Lol GRobe Vill, L, S0 Peber Porl, Gueemnsey, Channel 1slands
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mmtmamwcw
Local Gl X, P, St Peler Por, m.:meg.mmmm
lwdﬁwl:le X, I.P SL F‘:'Ichuﬂ Gisrrsey, Channe] Hlands
Margn Capitol 2008, L. Los sltos, CA, Uribed States
wc..qﬂnﬂ.m.L P., Los Albos, €4, Urited Siates
Mssllion L. Alirncharn. United Kirypdiorn

Medable e, Palo Alts, T4, Uniked States

MAcsas Pasrtners 11, LP., London, Urited Kinpdom

Malnbcn Copitsl (1 CRAC, LLC, Brocklyn, N, United S1otry
Molabion Copital 11, LP_, Brooidymn, WY, Uniled Statey

Heilibon Capial (0, .. Brockiyn. NY, Unfied Stcs
Fﬂw#tw I.F‘ Beocklyn, W.wnvdﬁmn
MOTATION | 5PV 5V OCT 2020, LLC, Brooklyn, NY, United States
M!—ﬂlﬂrﬂﬂ I.mitﬂ P-Irl-lﬂi-‘m Cﬂ- l.lh'ﬂrdil-llﬂ
owzw I, Smm A, w-ud'ﬁ:-m

Pendoa, inc. mlmn M. andsm:
Pheotbiorh Ewty Fund i, LP., Aherion, ©4 Urited Siates
Point Nine Areve GnkH B Co. K60, Belin, Gemany

Point Nine Copltol Fund 1| GmbM & Co. KG, Berlin, Genmany
Point Mine Cogatol Fund 11| GenbH B Ca, KG, Bedtin, Gemany
Point Ning Copitid Fund 1v GmbH & Co. KG. Berlin, Germany
I?n;'ILNht' Capitol Fund ¥ GmbH & Co. KG. Berin, Germany
Pregect 44, inc., Chicago, IL, United Stales

Pubtiub, e, San Francrsco, CA, United States

Reltio, Inc,, Redwood Shores, CA, United States

Fnl.lt'l-rrl. |r|-= lq.nﬂn TE, Uli'lﬁt!-mu

Ridie Soimlnmhmul LLE. San Franchico, C4, United States
Ridge Venaues Iv, L.P., San Franctsoo, ©A, Ueited Siotes
SaleGragh, ine., Derner, O, Unied States

Side, Inc . Son Franchco, CA, United States
‘Smat City Plaredng. Inc., Tokopo, tapan

Lploskasp, ine . Son Joie, CA, United Sintes

SportsTech Fund, LUP., Palo Alls, CA, United Stales
‘SporisTech Pasollol Fund, L P, Palo Ao, CA, Uninnd S0es
Spnng Mobile Soluton, ing . Soll Lake City, UT, Lined Siates
StackHwk, Inc., Demvver, C0, Unifed Siates

Soem Ventaes ¥, L P ,mﬁuﬁ,m_m@agum
Surmologie, Ing,, Redwoad Cicy, C&, United S1oles
Smu-ushe‘l.lnc..imFru.rmm. Ca, United States
5.w.nn;;¢|w.-|.p EmFru;'.-m;m-.E;lu..Lllil:e-d.E:u.ui

Tewuteda, ine,, Mipites, CA, Uried Soates

The SaaSt Fund Il LP., Palo Alto, CA. United Stales

Thi: Saasts Fund, L P, Pals Mis, 04, United Stales

Thiind Kinad Wentune Cagital i, L P, Few York, WY, United States
Thind Kind Ventune Capital 11, LP. Mew York, WY, Unibed Stabes
Tribe Copital LLC Senes 3, Redwood City, CA, United Stales
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Faame and Location of Company

Trie Copitsl LLC Series 3, Redwood Ciy, CA, United Stales
UMY inc_Son Fringiuco, CA United Suates
Uremind Lad., London, United Kingdom

Upland v, L ., Sants Manica, CA, Undied Sistes
Uplyes, Ine. Waltharn. M4, Unfled S1ates

ViedhiT, Ine., Hew York, Y, Unhed Staes
‘isbex, Inc., Hollman Extates, BL, United Sttes

Winlabou Venturet Fund 1 L2 Los Angeles, Ci, United Sates
Yaply Lid, London, Uniled Kingdom

Zuaty Tech L., Famas Gon, e

(G.10) German Code of Corporate Governance

The German federal government published the German Comporate Governance Code (the “Code®) in
Fabruany 2002 and intreduced a commission that amends the Code froem Bme 1o Bme. The Code
contains stafubtory reguirements and a numiber of recommendations and suggestions. Only the legal
requirements are binding for German companies, With regand 1o the recommendations, the Garman
Stock Corporation Act, section 161, reguires that every year, listed companies publicly state the extent
o which they have implemented them. Companies can deviate from the suggestions without having
o make any public statements,

I 2021 and 2020, the Executive Board and Supervisaory Board of 5AP 5E issued the reguired
declarations of implementation. The dedlaration for 2021 was issued at the end of October 2021
These statements are avalable on our Webs site;
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Independent Auditor®s Report

For the consolidated financial statements and Group Management Report we have issued an unqualified auditor®s report. The

English language text below is a translation of the independent auditor®s report.

To SAP SE, Walldorf

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021,
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the financial year from January 1 to
December 31, 2021 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In addition, we have audited the combined Group Management Report by the SAP Group and the Management
Report of SAP SE, Walldorf (* Group Management Report” ) for the financial year from January 1 to December
31, 2021. In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of those components
of the Group Management Report specified in the "Other Information" section of our auditor®s report.

In our opinion, on the bhasis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1)
HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], as well as the IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, and of its financial
performance for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and

the accompanying Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group's
position. In all material respects, this Group Management Report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the
opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the Group Management Report does not
cover the content of those components of the Group Management Report specified in the "Other
Information" section of the auditor®"s report.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations
relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management
Report.
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Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management Report in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation No. 537/2014 (referred to subsequently as “ EU
Audit Regulation” ) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriufer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) as
well as in supplementary compliance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and guidelines of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and standards are further described in the
“ Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group
Management Report” section of our auditor™s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance
with the requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our
other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in
accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided
non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the Group Management Report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2021.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Software license revenue recognition

Refer to note (A.1) — Revenue and Group Management Report, section Risk Management and Risks.
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

In the financial year 2021 SAP generated revenue of EUR 27,842 million, of which EUR 14,660 million relate
to revenues from sales of software licenses and support.

The evaluation of software licenses revenue recognition bears an inherent risk of errors as SAP's software
customer contracts are complex. SAP defined detailed policies, procedures and processes to manage the
accounting for its customer contracts, which are also described in the notes. Applying them often requires
significant judgments, in particular in the assessment of the following:

1. whether various contracts are economically interrelated,
2. whether products and services qualify as separate performance obligations, and

3. the allocation of the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the
contract based on standalone-selling prices.

There is the financial statement risk that the recognition cut-off of software license revenue as at the
balance sheet date is incorrect and that revenues are allocated incorrectly.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

On software revenue recognition, we evaluated the compliance of SAP"s accounting policies with the IFRS
Framework and IFRS 15.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the
revenue process including controls related to the identification of economically interrelated contracts,
separate performance obligations and allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract.

For a sample of customer contracts, which were selected using a statistical approach, we:

inspected the underlying contractual agreements and other related documents as well as inquired with
SAP*s accounting and/or sales representatives to evaluate SAP"s assessment of whether contracts were
economically interrelated as well as to evaluate the identified performance obligations and allocation
of transaction price,

obtained and inspected external confirmations of the key terms and conditions from the respective
customers to test whether contracts were economically interrelated, as well as to evaluate the
identified performance obligations,

evaluated the allocation of the transaction price for each of the deliverables that qualified as a
separate performance obligation by assessing the methodology applied and testing mathematical accuracy
of the underlying calculations.

For the majority of software support revenue, we compared the actual support revenue with the support
revenue that is expected based on last year®s support revenue, the loss rate of last year"s support
contracts and the current year software sales that trigger additional support revenue.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP has developed an adequate framework for determining the accounting treatment for its revenue. For the
vast majority of the software arrangements entered into during 2021, it was clear which of SAP"s revenue
recognition policies should be applied. Where there was room for interpretation, SAP"s judgment was
balanced and appropriate.

Assessment of the Group"s uncertain tax treatments

Refer to note (C.5) - Income Taxes, and Group Management Report section Risk Management and Risks.
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

SAP operates in multiple tax jurisdictions with complexities and uncertainties due to different
interpretations of tax laws, such as those involving transfer pricing and intercompany transactions between
SAP Group entities. The determination of provisions for tax uncertainties requires SAP to make judgments on
tax issues and develop estimates regarding SAP"s exposure to tax risks. SAP regularly engages external
experts to provide tax opinions to support their own risk assessment. The risk for the consolidated
financial statements relates to the completeness, measurement and disclosure of the provision for uncertain
tax treatments. As of December 31, 2021 SAP disclosed contingent liabilities relating to tax uncertainties
of EUR 1,283 million.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the tax
process including controls over the Group®s assessment of tax law and the process to estimate the related
exposures. We assessed the competency, skills and objectivity of the external experts and evaluated the
related expert opinions. We inquired of the Group®s tax department and inspected correspondence with the
relevant tax authorities. We involved tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted
in evaluating SAP*s conclusions over the estimate of tax uncertainties based on their knowledge and
experience regarding the application of relevant legislation by tax authorities and courts.

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the notes with respect to uncertain tax treatments are
complete and appropriate.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP"s judgments as to the amounts recognized as tax provisions for tax uncertainties as of December 31,
2021 are appropriate. The disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are complete
and appropriate.

Valuation of unlisted equity securities

Refer to note (D.6) — Equity Investments and note (F.2) - Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

As of December 31, 2021, the Company holds unlisted equity securities with a carrying amount of EUR 4,871
million. These financial instruments are classified as equity securities at fair value through profit and
loss and their valuations are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy).

The measurement of fair value of such investments is complex and, with regard to the assumptions made,
highly dependent on management®s estimates and judgments. This applies particularly to selection of the
appropriate valuation method and the determination of the significant unobservable inputs.

There is the risk for the consolidated financial statements that the valuations are not appropriate. There
is also the risk that the related disclosures in the notes are not appropriate.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and implementation and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls over the Company®s investments process. This included controls related to selection of the
valuation model and the relevance and reliability of the significant unobservable inputs. We also involved
financial instrument valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in testing
management®s ability to produce a fair value estimate compliant with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements for a
selection of investments by (1) testing the appropriateness of the valuation method selected by comparing
it to our expectation based on industry experience and knowledge of the investment, and (2) assessing the
reliability and relevance of the significant unobservable inputs by comparing them to historical and market
information.

Finally, we assessed whether the related disclosures in the notes regarding the determination of fair value
are appropriate.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

The valuation method used for the valuation of unlisted equity securities is appropriate and in line with
the accounting policies. The Company®*s underlying assumptions and data are appropriate. The related
disclosures in the notes are appropriate.
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Other Information

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, respectively, of SAP SE is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the following components of the Management Report, whose
content was not audited:

the combined non-financial statement, included in section *“ Non-Financial Statement Including
Information on Sustainable Activities” of the Group Management Report,

the corporate governance statement, included in section “ Corporate Governance Fundamentals” of the
Group Management Report, and

Information extraneous to the Group Management Report and marked as unaudited.

The other information also includes the annual report on Form 20-F and remaining parts of the annual
report.

The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements, group management report
information and our auditor®s report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Management Report do not cover the
other information and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to
consider whether the other information

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group Management Report
information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In addition, we were engaged to perform an independent assurance engagement on selected qualitative and
quantitative sustainability disclosures of the integrated report 2021. In regard to the nature, extent and
conclusions of this independent assurance engagement we refer to our Independence Assurance Report dated on
February 23, 2022.

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report

The Executive Board of SAP SE is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of
German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB as well as IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these
requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial
performance of the Group. In addition, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as the
Executive Board has determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing the
Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. The Executive Board also has the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, the Executive Board is
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the Group Management Report that, as
a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group®s position and is, in all material respects, consistent
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the Executive Board is responsible
for such arrangements and measures (systems) as the Executive Board has considered necessary to enable the
preparation of the Group Management Report that 1is 1in accordance with the applicable German legal
requirements, the German Accounting Standards number 17 and 20 (GAS 17, GAS 20) and the IFRS Practice
Statement Management Commentary and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the
assertions in the Group Management Report.

The Supervisory Board 1is responsible for overseeing the Group®"s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management Report.

Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements and of the Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the Group Management
Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group®s position and, in all material respects, is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies
with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future
development, as well as to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the Group Management Report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW)
as well as in supplementary compliance with ISAs and guidelines of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements
and this Group Management Report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of
the Group Management Report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group Management
Report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Executive Board and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the Executive Board and related disclosures.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Board"s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor™s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the Group Management Report
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor"s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in
compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as well as with IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section
315e (1) HGB.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and
on the Group Management Report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

Evaluate the consistency of the Group Management Report with the consolidated financial statements, its
conformity with German law, and the view of the Group®s position it provides.

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the Executive Board in the Group
Management Report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular,
the significant assumptions used by the Executive Board as a basis for the prospective information, and
evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express
a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a
substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective
information.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant independence
requirements and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor"s report, unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements pursuant to PCAOB

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements of
SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries in place as at December 31, 2021. This control system is based on
criteria set out in the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0SO).

In our opinion, SAP maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2021 based on the criteria set out in
the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Executive Board"s and Supervisory Board®"s Responsibility for the Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial Statements

SAP SE"s Executive Board is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
in the consolidated financial statements and assessing its effectiveness, which is included in the
Executive Board"s report on the internal control over consolidated financial reporting.

A company®s internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company®s internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements includes policies and procedures to (1) ensure an
accounting system that 1in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflects the transactions and
dispositions of the company®s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the company"s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
material misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group®s internal control over financial reporting
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor®s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting in
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk of material
deficiencies in internal control, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on this assessment, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Group Management Report Prepared for Publication
Purposes in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB

We have performed assurance work in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report
(hereinafter the “ ESEF documents” ) contained in the electronic file ,sap-2021-12-31AR.zip" (SHA256 hash
value: 3121ble38e2abffbffc947h3749%e

19f70e106b19b514fedebc79853c98601bd2) made available and prepared for publication purposes complies in all
material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format (“ ESEF
format” ). In accordance with German legal requirements, this assurance work extends only to the conversion
of the information contained in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report into
the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the information contained in these renderings nor to any
other information contained in the file identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report
contained in the electronic file made available, identified above and prepared for publication purposes
complies in all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting
format. Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying group management report for the financial year from January 1, 2021 to
December 31, 2021 contained in the “ Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Group Management Report” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained
within these renderings or on the other information contained in the file identified above.

We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report contained in the file made available and identified above in accordance with Section 317
(3a) HGB and the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic Rendering of Financial Statements
and Management Reports Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS
410 (10.2021)). Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further described below. Our audit firm
applies the IDW Standard on Quality Management 1: Requirements for Quality Management in Audit Firms (IDW

QS 1).

The company®s management is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents including the electronic
rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with
Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 2 HGB.
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In addition, the company®s management is responsible for such internal control that they have considered
necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material intentional or
unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting
format.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing the ESEF documents as part of
the financial reporting process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB. We exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the assurance work. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance
opinion.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in order to
design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the file made available containing
the ESEF documents meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, as amended as at
the reporting date, on the technical specification for this electronic file.

Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the audited
consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report.

Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance
with the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, as amended as at
the reporting date, enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML
rendering.

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as group auditor at the annual general meeting on May 12, 2021. We were engaged by the
Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory Board of SAP SE on May 20, 2021, and this
engagement was confirmed on October 6, 2021. We have been the group auditor of SAP SE without interruption
since the financial year 2002.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor®s report are consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

In addition to the financial statement audit, we have provided to group entities the following services
that are not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or in the Group Management Report:

We audited the financial statements of SAP SE and performed various financial statement audits at
subsidiaries. Furthermore, other assurance services required by law or on a contractual basis were
performed, including an assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability
disclosures of the Integrated Report 2021 and an EMIR assurance service pursuant to section 20 of German
Securities Trading Act [WpHG] and service organization attestation procedures.
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Other matter - Use of the Auditor"s Report

Our auditor®s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and
the audited group management report as well as the examined ESEF documents. The consolidated financial
statements and group management report converted to the ESEF format — including the versions to be
published in the German Federal Gazette [Bundesanzeiger] — are merely electronic renderings of the audited
consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report and do not take their place. In
particular, the ESEF report and our assurance opinion contained therein are to be used solely together with
the examined ESEF documents made available in electronic form.

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Bodo Rackwitz.
Mannheim, February 23, 2022

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesel Ischaft

[signature] Rackwitz [signature] Conrad
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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